CHALLENGING THE GIFTED LEARNER VIRTUALLY: A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY

by

Amanda Jeane Price

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University

2023

CHALLENGING THE GIFTED LEARNER VIRTUALLY: A PHEMONOLOGICAL STUDY

by Amanda Jeane Price

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA

2023

APPROVED BY:

Dr. Grania Gothard Holman, Ed.D., Committee Chair

Dr. Justin Necessary, Ph.D., Committee Member

Abstract

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of core academic middle school teachers with differentiating instruction and assessment for gifted and talented students in rural southern Maryland. Two theories providing the theoretical framework for this study include Bandura's self-efficacy theory and McClelland's achievementmotivation theory These two theories explain learning experiences and interactions between the learner and the instructor while addressing the educator's efficacy in challenging gifted learners within the virtual classroom. The central research question that guided this research was, "What are the shared lived experiences among select middle school, core academic, teachers when differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners in southern Maryland during virtual instruction?" The instrumentation for this study was a set of open-ended questions conducted in a face-to-face interview, archival data in the form of document analysis and journal prompts. Data were analyzed by the researcher using MAXQDA qualitative data analysis software. Three themes emerged, including efficacy dependent on available supports and strategies, the challenge of teaching virtually, and positive attitudes and beliefs toward differentiation. The themes that developed revealed that the participants experienced conflicting attitudes toward differentiating for gifted students and felt ill-equipped differentiating instruction for this group of students. The results of this study may inform the body of knowledge regarding the education of gifted learners and address acceleration practices to improve challenging this population in the classroom and achieve academic success.

Keywords: giftedness, virtual instruction, differentiation, middle school, rigor

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation first to God, my creator, from whom all good things flow, and through Him all things are possible (James 1:17; Matthew 19:26). Next, I dedicate this dissertation to my family and friends who believe in me even when I didn't believe in myself. Thank-you for the love and support you bestow upon me even when I am not deserving. Erric, you have been my rock through this process. You knew this was God's plan for my life before I did. You encouraged me every step of the way and you always believe in my abilities. Mom and Dad, you always told me I can do anything and told me I would be a doctor one day. You saw God's call on my life even at a young age. Thank you for your prayers, encouragement, and unconditional love. Sarah and Rebekah, may you pursue God and his call on your life. May you seek knowledge and truth throughout your lives. I see so much of myself in you both and you are destined to do great things. To my grandmother, Lila Lee and her sister Willene Yates, you both taught me what it means to be a great teacher and encouraged me through my first-year teaching. You taught me through your selfless actions and compassion you had for all your students. Finally, to my Great Aunt Willene Yates who pursued her Ph.D., but did complete it with the fear she would have to leave the classroom. I finished the journey you began, and I know that you are proud of all my accomplishments. I know that you are smiling down on me from heaven and share in my joy.

Acknowledgments

First, I would like to acknowledge my Chair, Dr. Holman, you have been the guiding light every step of the way as I prepared this dissertation. Your encouragement, prayers, and investment has me pushed me to be a better scholar, researcher, and Christian. You have had such an impact on my life. I will continue to fight the good fight of faith, see it completion, and rejoice in the Lord for He holds my future. I know it is beyond what I can comprehend. Secondly, I would like to acknowledge the support of Dr. Necessary. Your encouragement has made me a better researcher through your direct and honest feedback. You have truly motivated and encouraged me throughout this process. This research would not have been possible without their support.

To my supervisors, principals, and colleagues, thank you for your support and friendship throughout this process. To Kristin Skiados, Elizabeth Wagner, and Dr. Maureen Lueke for being friends and colleagues throughout this journey. You truly have been my cheerleaders and I am forever grateful. Your friendship encourages me to strive for the stars and continue to change the lives of our students.

Table of Contents

Abstract
Dedication4
Acknowledgments
Table of Contents
List of Tables11
List of Figures12
List of Abbreviations13
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION14
Overview14
Background15
Historical Context16
Social Context19
Theoretical Context
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Significance of the Study27
Empirical Significance27
Theoretical Significance
Practical Significance
Research Questions
Central Research Question
Sub-Question One

Sub-Question Two	
Definitions	
Summary	35
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	
Overview	
Theoretical Framework	
Related Literature	44
Teacher Sense of Self-Efficacy	51
Summary	67
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	70
Overview	70
Research Design	70
Research Questions	73
Central Research Question	73
Sub-Question One	73
Sub-Question Two	73
Setting and Participants	73
Site	74
Participants	76
Researcher Positionality	78
Interpretive Framework	80
Philosophical Assumptions	81
Researcher's Role	

Procedures	
Permissions	
Recruitment Plan	
Data Collection Plan	
Individual Interviews Data Collection Approach	
Document Analysis Data Collection Approach	94
Journal Prompts Data Collection Approach	95
In addition to individual interviews, electronic	95
Data Synthesis	
Trustworthiness	
Credibility	
Transferability	
Dependability	
Confirmability	
Ethical Considerations	
Summary	
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	
Overview	
Participants	
Results	110
Giftedness in the Classroom	111
The Challenge of Teaching Virtually	113
Attitudes Toward Differentiation	116

Outlier Data and Findings	
Research Question Responses	121
Central Research Question	121
Sub-Question One	122
Sub-Question Two	127
Summary	
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION	
Overview	
Discussion	
Interpretation of Findings	
Implications for Practice	
Theoretical and Empirical Implications	
Theoretical Discussion	
Empirical Discussion	142
Limitations	143
Recommendations for Future Research	145
Conclusion	146
References	
Appendix A	175
Appendix B	176
Appendix C	179
Appendix E	
Appendix F	

endix G

List of Tables

Table 1: Site Demographics	7 <u>5</u>
Table 2: Participant Demographics	76
Table 3. Open-Ended Interview Questions	
Table 4. Open-Ended Journal Prompt Questions	96
Table 5. Participant Teaching Experience.	109
Table 4. Theme Development	192
Table 5. Research Questions and Themes	131

List of Figures

Figure 1. Code Configurations	194
Figure 2. Code Percentages	194
Figure 3. Code Intersections	195
Figure 4. Code Co-occurrence Model	195
Figure 5. Key Word Frequencies	196

List of Abbreviations

Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP)

Cognitive Abilities Test (CogAT)

Code of Maryland Administration Regulations (COMAR)

Every Student Succeeds Act 2015 (ESSA)

Gifted and Talented Education (GATE)

Individual Disability Education Act (IDEA)

Individualized Education Program (IEP)

The Measures of Academic Progress (MAP)

National Association for Gifted Children (NAGC)

National Defense Education Act (NDEA)

No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 (NCLB)

Professional Learning Community (PLC)

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of core academic middle school teachers with differentiating instruction and challenging the gifted learner in rural southern Maryland. This study was important as Maryland state law governing the instructional services for gifted and talented students has recently changed. Consideration of this phenomenon included the virtual instruction received during the pandemic of 2020 (Velichová et al., 2020). The Covid-19 virus introduced a shift in education that opened virtual classrooms. However, the virtual environment posed a problem in the field of education as educators were inexperienced in providing a challenging curriculum for high achieving students thus placing them at a greater risk to underachieve (Adelodun, 2017; Pots & Pots, 2017; Sawchuk & Sparks, 2020). Additionally, a high degree of diversity, wide range of skill and cognitive levels integrated into modern classrooms makes it merely impossible for educators to meet the unique needs of individual students while promoting rigor and challenge (Eddles-Hirsch et al., 2010; Tomlinson, 2015; Tournaki, 2003). This issue alone has caused many gifted students to frequently receive the same instruction as their peers, and spend most of the instructional time not learning, disengaged, and underachieving (Rodriguez, 2016). This is an equity gap and a current issue in our schools today (Wolter, 2016). Lastly, many schools use online programs as accelerated programming for gifted and talented students (Cyr, 2004; LeBeau et al., 2020; Rotigel & Fello, 2004). Understanding what teachers experienced as they plan differentiated instruction and assessments for gifted learners may improve the quality of instruction in both these accelerated programs, as well as the integrated virtual classroom.

Additionally, the insight into their experiences may promote the advancement of programs to support educators who work with this unique population.

The purpose of Chapter One is to discuss the need to explore the phenomenon based on the historical, legal, social, and theoretical context. In addition to the background information, Chapter One will also provide the reader with the problem statement, purpose statement, significance of the study, guiding research questions, definitions of terms used. Chapter one will end with a summary of the topics covered.

Background

Education is at the core of American heritage and a canvas of U.S. history. Throughout the 17th and 18th centuries, small schoolhouses were at the core of the community. The end of the Civil War marked the beginning of a change in the United States. Society began to shift from a rural and agriculturally based economy to one of technology and industry (Gutek, 2011). It was during the industrial revolution that gifted education was born. The late nineteenth century reconstructed American schools and society through industrialization (Gutek, 2011). Science and technology were at the forefront of American culture and educational philosophy began to look more pragmatistic (Cohen & Crabtree, 2006).

Immigration began to rise in the 1800s (Library of Congress, n.d.), but due to "Americanization" immigrant groups tended to stay together and create communities and establish parochial schools (Gutek, 2011; Janak, 2019). It was during the American Revolution, that prominent leaders, such as Noah Webster and Thomas Jefferson, saw the connection between education and revolution (Janak, 2019). If the new republic was going to last, a common language must be established and the public education system was born (Gutek, 2011; Janak, 2019; Jolly, 2018). It is in the establishment of this early school system that the faltering attempts to accommodate the unique learning needs of gifted children can be traced (Jolly, 2018). Formal programming efforts to serve this population did not begin until the mid-nineteenth century (Janak, 2019; Jolly, 2018). Prior to the Immigration Act of 1917 ("Immigration Act of 1917 (Barred zone act)," 2020), immigrant children were not required to read and write. However, this one act led to over 11 million children infiltrating American Public schools (Janak, 2019; Jolly, 2018). This large influx of students increased both the diversity in learning abilities and readiness levels that teachers and school administrators had never encountered (Janak, 2019; Jolly, 2018). In turn, this led to a need for new educational philosophies in the fields of inquiry, educational psychology, and eventually gifted education.

At this time, John Dewey revolutionized education through his theories that emphasized the importance of the classroom environment. His teaching methods included a focus on handson activities, problem-solving, experimenting, projects, and collaboration (Janak, 2019; Cohen & Crabtree, 2006). According to Dewey, the curriculum should be integrated with the experimental properties of science, collaboration, and a democratic environment (Janak, 2019; Gutek, 2011). Inductive reasoning allowed for students to think critically, solve problems, and discover truth (Licht, 2014; Lynch, 2018). Inquiry-Based learning was first introduced by John Dewey, and he often advocated for learning through evidence-based inquiry, critical thinking, and extensive evaluation (English, 2019). This progressive movement was the beginning of gifted education in the United States (Jolly, 2018). However, it was not until 1950 (Jolly, 2018), a formal definition for giftedness was developed and accelerated and enrichment programs were established to challenge the gifted learner (Carman, 2013).

Historical Context

In 1958 (Jolly, 2018), the most brilliant minds were recruited to combat the Soviet Union as the space race was launched (VanTassel-Baska et al., 2021). It was at this time, the American school system began to embrace the idea of identifying and challenging capable students (Jolly, 2018). Schools across the nation launched advanced course offerings that gave gifted students options for condensing coursework and access to early college entrance programs (VanTassel-Baska et al., 2021). Additionally, the National Defense Education Act (NDEA), the first formal federal support of gifted education, was established to improve math, science, and foreign language competency among elementary and secondary students. This one act initiated the integration of these more complex subjects into the curriculum (Richmond et al., 2020; VanTassel-Baska et al., 2021). However, it was not until 1972 (Jolly & Robins, 2022) that a formal federal definition of a gifted child was established in the Marland Report to Congress, and it was modified to its current definition in the No Child Left Behind Act of 2001. The Marland Report (1972) was the first national report conducted by educational commissioner Sidney Marland under the orders of U.S. Congress to assess and make recommendations on the state of education for high-ability learners (Jolly & Robins, 2022). Although the report's recommendations were not enacted, it catalyzed improvements in state policies and plans in the 1970s for gifted education (Jolly & Robins, 2022; VanTassel-Baska et al., 2021). It took approximately twenty years later for both the federal government and state governments to have some form of legislation regarding gifted education (National Association for Gifted Children). However, there is no federal mandate regarding the identification or education of gifted and talented students but selected federal funding support for gifted education (VanTassel-Baska et al., 2021; Wrights Law, 2015).

Unfortunately, priority funding is provided to gifted programs that serve students who are traditionally underrepresented in gifted education, but also provided to improve services for all

gifted students (Jolly & Robins, 2022). However, due to the cost of gifted programming, funding is not enough, and schools depend on grants. In 1988 (Jolly & Robins, 2022), the Jacob Javits Gifted and Talented Students Education Act was established to provide schools with strategies to educate gifted children and conduct research. In 2002 (Jolly & Robins, 2022), the Javits Act was sanctioned under the No Child Left Behind Act (2001) and expanded to offer grants for gifted education (United States. Office of Education, 1966). However, the current number of schools with gifted programming is declining (Yaluma & Tyner, 2020), and recent educational reforms have shifted the focus of education to reach disadvantaged students (Every Student Succeeds Act, 2015; Race to the top, n.d). Yet, gifted program participation has increased faster in lowpoverty schools, and suburban schools are more likely to have gifted enrichment programs (Yaluma & Tyner, 2020). As of 2016 (Atkinson, 2016; van Manen, 2016), the African American and Hispanic populations continue to be statistically underrepresented in gifted education, and many other students have not been properly identified (Yaluma & Tyner, 2020).

Before 2019, in the state of Maryland, gifted students, except for twice gifted students who hold an IEP, do not receive services during the regular school day (Maryland State Department of Education, 2019). While many Maryland middle schools have math acceleration programs that allow students to move through the curriculum at a faster pace, these programs are not just reserved for the gifted and talented student population (Maryland State Department of Education, 2019, 2020). Most gifted programming is integrated in the common core standards for math and English Language Arts (Maryland State Department of Education, 2019, 2020). While acceleration is a form of intervention for gifted students, there is currently only afterschool enrichment programs offered outside the current curriculum (Maryland State Department of Education, 2019, 2020). Additionally, recent global events and the increase in distance learning provided a means to differentiate the curriculum and provided access to instruction that is customized for this exceptional group of students, but many teachers lack the proficiency to scaffold instruction to promote rigor and challenge (Adams & Cross, 1999-2000; Eddles-Hirsch et al., 2010; Mulrine, 2007; Sweetman, 2021).

Social Context

In addition to teacher proficiency, schools are not preparing students to be effective members of society. In 2008, ACT scores show that fewer than two in ten eighth graders are on target to be ready for college-level work by the time they graduate from high school (Cavanagh, 2009). 80% of eighth-grade students are not on track to be college and career-ready by their high school graduation (Cavanagh, 2009). In response to this issue, President George W. Bush passed the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) in 2001 (Parkay et al., 2014, p. 309). This act mandated state testing in reading and mathematics for students in grades 3-8, and student achievement data on the state test to determine if schools met their adequate yearly progress (AYP). If schools did not achieve AYP, they potentially lost federal funding (Parkay et al., 2014, p. 309). Although the Obama administration has made some changes to NCLB with Race to the Top legislation, schools are still required to test students in grades 1-8 in reading and mathematics.

However, with NCLB, the emphasis on test performance on high-stakes state testing has altered the implementation of curriculum and instruction in a manner that is not suitable for the learning of all students. High stake testing required by NCLB has had an immense impact on the methods of instruction and student learning (Parkay et al., 2014, p. 309). Many schools have cut out other subjects and enrichment programs to focus more on reading and mathematics (Parkay et al., 2014, p. 309). Consequently, the educational goal is to lower the percentage required to pass by teaching to the middle (Parkay et al., 2014). Delivering instruction in this manner does

not ensure that all students recieve the instruction necessary to be on target for college and career by high school. Not to mention, that legislation has neglected gifted students (Tomlinson, 2015).

In the classroom, gifted students show high self-efficacy and academic motivation, therefore are less carefully monitored in the inclusive classroom (Gehlbach & Roeser, 2002; Tomlinson, 2015). While gifted education varies widely across the United States, the National Association for Gifted Children states that these students account for roughly 6% of the schoolage population or 3.2 million students that are enrolled in gifted and talented programs nationwide (National Association for Gifted Children, 2020). However, this data does not account for the many students who qualify but have not yet to be identified (National Association for Gifted Children, 2020). Unfortunately, not all public schools have programs that enhance the learning for gifted and talented students, and they are not mandated to provide the necessary programs under federal law (National Association for Gifted Children, 2020; Wrights Law, 2015). Although federal law acknowledges that children with gifts and talents have unique needs that are not traditionally offered in regular school settings, it does not provide provisions, mandates, or requirements for serving these students during the regular school hours (National Association for Gifted Children, 2020; Wrights Law, 2015).

Currently, gifted education is a purely local responsibility and is heavily dependent on local leadership (National Association for Gifted Children, 2010). On the other hand, federal laws, such as the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), the civil rights act, Section 504, and the Americans with Disabilities Education Act ensure that students with special needs receive the required support and services to be successful in the classroom (Zirkel, 2009). Not providing gifted students with the necessary assistance increases variability in the quality of services and creates inequities of access for students in poverty, racial and ethnic minority groups, English-language learners, and those with disabilities (McCoach & Siegle, 2003; National Association for Gifted Children, 2010). These students are further at risk to achieve below their potential (Horak & Galluzzo, 2017; Peterson & Colangelo, 1996; Ridgley et al., 2020; Steenbergen-Hu et al., 2020). Therefore, these students must engage in a curriculum that is consistent with their abilities and meets their different pedagogical needs (Tomlinson, 2015).

Furthermore, the inclusive classroom contains a wide range of cognitive capabilities, and teachers do not always understand the importance of differentiation (Tomlinson, 2015). Consequently, gifted students usually receive the same instruction, assignments, and expectations as their peers and are not adequately challenged (Eddles-Hirsch et al., 2010; Rodriguez, 2016). Without being properly challenged, although having intrinsic motivation, gifted students do not achieve their full potential and can become mentally lazy, even though they do well in school (McCoach & Siegle, 2003; Tomlinson, 2015). Therefore, teachers must ensure high-quality, differentiated instruction that meets the pedagogical needs of gifted students without neglecting the range of abilities present in the classroom (Tomlinson, 2015, 2018; Tomlinson et al., 2003). While federal law does not mandate schools to provide the necessary programs or accommodations for gifted and talented students during the school day (Zirkel, 2009), educators must consider that students, classified as gifted, have different pedagogical needs and the curriculum must be consistent with their abilities (National Association for Gifted Children, 2020; Wrights Law, 2015). Consequently, these students are underserved, and their needs are not always met in the mainstream classroom (Zirkel, 2009). In addition, many general educators report that they do not know how to properly challenge gifted students while scaffolding instruction to meet the needs of struggling students simultaneously through instruction (Tomlinson, 2015).

The current literature explains how the lack of differentiation and challenge influences both student learning and academic performance in the inclusive classroom (Callahan et al., 2015; Eddles-Hirsch et al., 2010; NATIONAL ASSOCIATION FOR GIFTED CHILDREN, 2010; Purcell et al., 2002; Tomlinson, 2015, 2018). This struggle to implement inclusive education is a nationwide problem (Moberg et al., 2020). Furthermore, it is a disservice not to provide gifted students with a curriculum and instruction that meets their cognitive demands (Tomlinson, 2015, 2018). To prevent underachievement, gifted students require a level of challenge within the inclusive classroom that engages them and motivates them to achieve their capabilities without neglecting other students (Gehlbach & Roeser, 2002; Karantzas, 2019; McCoach & Siegle, 2003; Merritt, 2016; Taylor, 2016; Tomlinson, 2015). However, understanding the shared experiences among middle school teachers and how to increase rigor and challenge is important to the development of instructional practices to reach all students. Inclusive education is a practice of establishing equitable heterogeneous classrooms, and gifted students should not be neglected (Gehlbach & Roeser, 2002; Nagpal, 2018).

Theoretical Context

The lack of empirical evidence concerning the effects of quality curriculum and differentiated instruction is a limitation for serving gifted and talented students (Callahan et al., 2015). Currently, little qualitative research has been conducted surrounding middle school gifted and talented students and the shift of instruction due to the recent pandemic. While many studies support the necessity for teachers to challenge students in both the hybrid and virtual models, there are still many new stimuli and unanswered questions in the field of educational research (Adedoyin & Soykan, 2020; Velichová et al., 2020). One of the most studied and current topics in educational research is online learning. While both digital and distant learning has been

around for several years, the pandemic caused many teachers to change the method in which they deliver instruction, engage students, and enrich the learning experience (Adedoyin & Soykan, 2020; Richmond et al., 2020; Velichová et al., 2020). This shift caused many instructional challenges, but has ultimately changed the American school system (Adedoyin & Soykan, 2020; Richmond et al., 2020; Velichová et al., 2020). However, the need for differentiation, student motivation, and engagement has not changed although the mode of instruction has (Chasteen, 2017; Dawson & McGill, 2017). While teachers in the face-to-face environment found differentiating and challenging gifted and talented students to be difficult, online instruction has added to the demand (Tomlinson, 2015, 2018).

It is important for gifted students to have confidence in their abilities as well as be provided with opportunities that challenge them to stretch their capabilities within the inclusive classroom (O'Leary et al., 2020; Tomlinson, 2015, 2018). Even though gifted students often demonstrate higher self-efficacy and intrinsic motivation when compared to their peers, without the appropriate level of challenge, they are at a higher risk to achieve below their capabilities (Horak & Galluzzo, 2017; McCoach & Siegle, 2003; Peterson & Colangelo, 1996; Ridgley et al., 2020; Steenbergen-Hu et al., 2020). In the face-to-face environment, gifted and talented students will often execute the behaviors necessary to perform and assess well while demonstrating the ability to exert control over their motivation, behavior, and social environment (Bandura, 1986, 1997; Maryland State Department of Education & Maryland Advisory Council on Gifted and Talented Education, 2020; Ritchotte et al., 2014; Sternberg & Davidson, 2005; Tomlinson et al., 2003). Yet, when the format in receiving the instruction shifts to online, these students are at an increased risk for underachieving; even if they have historically demonstrated high self-efficacy and motivation in the face-to-face environment (Horak & Galluzzo, 2017; Peterson & Colangelo, 1996; Ridgley et al., 2020; Steenbergen-Hu et al., 2020). Teachers need to understand that to develop this motivation, gifted students need stability, support, and the appropriate level of challenge to meet their cognitive demands (Smedsrud, 2018). This requires teachers to have a higher self-efficacy. Current research on teacher efficacy shows that educators with a higher sense of efficacy exhibit behaviors associated with effective teaching toward a given population of learners and they are more likely to engage in differentiated instructional practices that are known to improve learning (Dixon et al., 2014). Additionally, students' self-efficacy and intrinsic motivation increase when students perceive their teachers' motivational behaviors positively, and they will improve their performance (Strati et al., 2017; You et al., 2016). Even though students do not always perceive increased challenge in the general classroom, if the teacher demonstrates a higher competency in teaching gifted students, students can increase their self-efficacy and achievement (Mofield & Parker Peters, 2018; Strati et al., 2017; You et al., 2016).

Given the fact that gifted and talented students demonstrate both the need to achieve and self-efficacy, the middle school years are a critical stage for the onset of underachievement (Horak & Galluzzo, 2017; McClelland, 1988; Peterson & Colangelo, 1996; Ridgley et al., 2020; Steenbergen-Hu et al., 2020). In 2018 (Fu-Yun et al., 2018), teachers report that 80% of middle school students are not adequately motivated to learn when receiving face-to-face instruction. Additionally, online instruction has increased the decline in students' intrinsic and extrinsic motivation to learn due to distractions at home, social-emotional well-being, lack of engagement, and feedback required for learning (Adedoyin & Soykan, 2020; American Psychological Association, 2020; Chen & Tseng, 2012; Dawson & McGill, 2017; Sepulveda-Escobar & Morrison, 2020; Velichová et al., 2020). However, when students are adequately motivated,

they tend to approach challenging tasks fervently and will persist through the challenge to achieve (Liu et al., 2011; Strati et al., 2017). Research also suggests that instructional context affects students' intrinsic motivation and correlates with academic achievement (Liu et al., 2011; Mofield & Parker Peters, 2018; Strati et al., 2017). This further demonstrates the importance of challenging instructional materials and the provision of student choice in the promotion of perceived autonomy and self-determination necessary to increase intrinsic motivation and academic achievement, especially during the middle school years (Blackburn, 2018; Callahan et al., 2015; Tomlinson, 2018; Vesely et al., 2007).

Problem Statement

The problem is that gifted students are not being challenged in the virtual environment. It is estimated that 15.8% children are enrolled in gifted and talented programs in Maryland (National Center for Education Statistics, 2018). Currently, most of these students spend the majority of the instructional time in general education classrooms where there exists a wide range of cognitive abilities (Tomlinson, 2015, 2018). It is the responsibility of the general educator to provide appropriate learning experiences and challenge the gifted learner without neglecting the other abilities present (Tomlinson, 2015, 2018). Within the face-to-face environment, research suggests that teachers find it difficult to differentiate their classrooms to meet the needs of struggling students, yet they have not even begun to plan to help gifted learners achieve their academic potential (Tomlinson, 2015; Godor, 2019). Additionally, with the recent pandemic, remote teaching has only increased this challenge as many students are receiving instruction virtually. Additionally, gifted students tend to test well, perform well academically, are intrinsically motivated, do not usually pose behavior problems, and teachers do not perceive their needs through academic observations alone (Bennett-Rappell & Northcote,

2016; McCoach & Siegle, 2003; Ogurlu, 2020; Rodriquez, 2016). Additionally, virtual programming has been used to accel the gifted learner, but they are not always adequately challenged using this platform (Godor, 2019; Steenbergen-Hu et al., 2020; Tomlinson, 2015, 2018; Young et al., 2019). This increases the risk for these students to become disengaged and do the minimum to succeed (Steenbergen-Hu et al., 2020; Young et al., 2019).

One research limitation that has led to this issue is the lack of teacher efficacy in promoting academic challenges in the classroom (Bennett-Rappell & Northcote, 2016; Ogurlu, 2020; Rodriquez, 2016). Many previous qualitative studies on teacher efficacy are limited because data was collected through self-reports (Heyder et al., 2018). Additionally, recent qualitative research has investigated the perception and practice of educators when teaching gifted students but does not describe their experiences in terms of rigor in the virtual environment (Young et al., 2019). However, the problem remains that gifted and talented students are not challenged in the integrated classroom and shifting to online instruction has further increased this problem (Godor, 2019; Steenbergen-Hu et al., 2020; Tomlinson, 2015, 2018; Young et al., 2019).

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to explicate the lived experiences of core academic middle school teachers with differentiating instruction and challenging the gifted learner in rural southern Maryland. Academic challenge or rigor is generally defined as learning experiences that are academically, intellectually, and personally challenging (Blackburn, 2018; "Rigor definition", 2014). Additionally, gifted students are generally characterized as students who produce evidence of intellectual, creative, artistic, or leadership achievement capability above their peers (Wrights Law, 2015). Furthermore, core

academic subjects which contribute to a well-rounded education, as defined by Every Student Succeeds Act of 2015, are generally defined as English, math, science, social studies, fine arts, foreign language, health, and physical education (ESSA, 2015). Lastly, differentiation is defined as the process of presenting and assessing the curriculum standards through integrating the instructional outcomes as coherent learning experiences that engage students connects to the world around them (Tomlinson, 2015).

The main theories that guided this research were the self-efficacy theory defined by Bandura (1986, 1997) and the achievement-motivation theory described by McClelland (1988). The Self-efficacy theory explains the differences in the number of effort students expend on learning activities and the social cognition that emphasizes the role of observational learning and social experience that are perceived differently in a virtual environment that must be considered by the teacher when developing differential lessons and activities for learning to take place (Bandura, 1986, 1997). This theory also addresses the relationship between the sense of efficacy and performance. McClelland's (1988) achievement-motivation theory addresses the need for gifted students to achieve, and for differentiation within the classroom to properly challenge these students.

Significance of the Study

This study may provide significant knowledge about the experiences of middle school core academic teachers differentiating instruction and assessment to challenge gifted students in rural southern Maryland. This knowledge may be useful for improving the educational experiences of gifted learners. The three areas in which this study is hoped to prove significant to educational research: empirically, theoretically, and practically.

Empirical Significance

The significance of this study provides an understanding of the phenomenon with an emphasis on differentiated instruction to challenge the gifted learner (Bennett-Rappell & Northcote, 2016; Ogurlu, 2020; Rodriquez, 2016). While the concept of diversity in learning abilities is not new in the educational arena, the area of differentiation for gifted learners in the virtual platform has not been thoroughly researched (Bennett-Rappell & Northcote, 2016; Rodriguez, 2016; Tomlinson 2015; Tomlinson et al., 2003; Taylor, 2016). Little research has been conducted on how gifted middle school students respond to the virtual platform, and the necessary academic rigor to prevent underachievement while engaged in online learning (Bennett-Rappell & Northcote, 2016; Cakir, 2014; Rodriquez, 2016; Tomlinson 2015; Tomlinson et al., 2003; Taylor, 2016). However, evidence suggests that gifted and talented students require a curriculum that is both rigorous and challenging despite the instructional platform (Bennett-Rappell & Northcote, 2016; Ogurlu, 2020; Rodriquez, 2016). With the transition to virtual instruction, gifted and talented students pose a greater risk for underachievement due to the lack of challenge presented in this environment (Velichová et al., 2020). Therefore, understanding the phenomena will contribute to the knowledge available. This study informs the body of research concerning teachers' sense of efficacy in working with gifted students and how differentiating virtual lessons impact their experiences. Through an understanding of the phenomenon, it is expected that gifted students, teachers, administrators, and school programs will benefit through an improvement in educational opportunities both in and out of the classroom.

Theoretical Significance

This study provides support for the application of self-efficacy theory (Bandura, 1986, 1997) in research as it relates to the education and teachers' efficacy to adequately challenge the

gifted learner (Bennett-Rappell & Northcote, 2016; Ogurlu, 2020; Rodriquez, 2016). Although virtual instruction has posed many challenges, an understanding of the factors that contribute to the classroom teachers' efficacy to adequately differentiate the curriculum to promote critical thinking and to extend student learning is important to understanding how gifted students respond to digital learning (Adelodun, 2017; Pots & Pots, 2017; Sawchuk & Sparks, 2020; Winebrenner, 2012). An understanding of both the self-efficacy theory (Bandura, 1986, 1997; Barbier et al., 2019; Merriman, 2012) and the achievement-motivation theory (Elbeheri et al., 2018; McClelland, 1988) provide a conceptual model describing how the gifted student learns and how the environment plays a role in how they respond to instruction. Additionally, differentiation is necessary within the virtual instructional model to properly challenge gifted and talented students (Adelodun, 2017; Pots & Pots, 2017; Sawchuk & Sparks, 2020; Winebrenner, 2012).

This study provides stronger support for the application of this theoretical framework to the study of the experiences of teaching gifted learners. Additionally, it is hoped that this study will provide insights into the application of the achievement-motivation theory (McClelland, 1988) and teacher efficacy (Bandura, 1986, 1997; Elbeheri et al., 2018) as it pertains to the teaching of the gifted learner to inform teacher preparation programs and provide professional development aimed at increasing academic rigor to properly challenge this population of learners.

Practical Significance

This research study provides practical significance by informing the practices of administrators and teacher preparation programs in providing pre-and in-service teachers with the support needed to identify, challenge, effectively assess gifted middle students (Matheis et al., 2015). Another potential contribution of this study is providing strategies for challenging the gifted learner (Adelodun, 2017; Pots & Pots, 2017; Sawchuk & Sparks, 2020; Winebrenner, 2012). The need to address time in the teacher day for collaboration is supported by this study and provides administrators with an understanding of the importance of shared planning times for classroom and special education teachers. Thus, this study is relevant to all participants in the education system, especially those responsible for providing gifted and talented instruction.

By capturing the shared experiences of teachers in this school district and their challenges differentiating the instruction to not only meet the needs of all students in the classroom but also excelling gifted students, school districts can begin to understand the phenomenon and find possible solutions for accelerating the gifted learner. While this study is limited to a rural school district in Maryland, other districts can learn from the challenges presented by the general educator.

Research Questions

To address the problem, it is important to explore the experiences of middle school core academic teachers who provide content knowledge to the gifted learner. One central question and two sub-questions guided this research. The following is a detailed description of the research questions.

Central Research Question

What are the shared lived experiences among select middle school, core academic, teachers when differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners in southern Maryland during virtual instruction?

The goal of this question is to elicit the experiences of participants in the phenomenon. Research suggests that there is a disconnection between practice and pedagogy among teachers when it comes to differentiating instruction to meet the diversity of needs while providing an engaging environment in which students are eager to learn across cognitive levels (Freedberg et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2011; Manuel & Freiman, 2017; Mikropoulos & Natsis, 2011; Mulrine, 2007). The high degree of diversity, wide range of skill and cognitive levels integrated into modern classrooms makes it merely impossible for educators, to meet the unique needs of individual students while promoting rigor and challenge (Tomlinson, 2015; Tournaki, 2003). Understanding the teachers' perspectives of challenging gifted and talented students in the general education classroom when instruction is differentiated through a virtual platform sheds light on how to increase engagement and rigor in the virtual classroom (Chasteen, 2017; Dawson & McGill, 2017; Potts, 2019). To ensure that gifted students are being provided equitable access to the curriculum, the experiences of teachers in providing differentiated instruction must be understood.

Sub-Question One

How do the participants describe their sense of self-efficacy to differentiate instruction to meet the cognitive demands of the gifted and talented learner virtually?

Bandura (1986) defined self-efficacy as the capacity to execute behaviors necessary to produce specific performance attainments. In this case, do teachers feel confident to develop lessons with the appropriate level of challenge to meet their cognitive demands (Smedsrud, 2018)? Unfortunately, many general educators do not know how to properly challenge gifted students and scaffold instruction for struggling students simultaneously (Taylor, 2016; Tomlinson 2015). While teachers value professional development, administrative support, and mentoring and see them as valuable resources in the fidelity of their curriculum differentiation, they need additional support to adequately challenge the gifted learner without neglecting other cognitive levels in the classroom (Taylor, 2016; Tomlinson, 2015). Even though the curriculum and instruction are differentiated to meet the needs of students, the appropriate level of challenge may not always be present, especially during remote learning (Potts, 2019). While virtual classrooms provide the means for individualized instruction, little research has been conducted on the success of distance learning as a means for challenging the gifted population (Gucciardi et al., 2020; Steenbergen-Hu et al., 2020; Potts, 2019). Investigating the sense of self-efficacy held by the participants may provide information regarding teaching effectiveness through a virtual platform which are linked to teacher experiences.

Sub-Question Two

How do participants describe their attitudes and beliefs about differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners?

Research suggests that both in-service and pre-service teachers can hold incorrect beliefs about gifted students combining positive attributes of high intellectual ability with social, emotional, or behavioral difficulties (Akgül, 2021; Klassen & Tze, 2014; Matheis et al., 2015). Additionally, misconceptions toward gifted students influence the process of identification, programming, curriculum development, design, and instructional implementation (Akgül, 2021; Klassen & Tze, 2014; Matheis et al., 2015). However, pre-service gifted education teachers with subject-specific course work in their field at an undergraduate level show higher levels of selfefficacy teaching gifted students (Matheis et al., 2015). Understanding the beliefs about the gifted and participants' efficacy to foster students with diverse intellectual abilities may provide information regarding teaching effectiveness through a virtual platform which may be linked to teacher experiences.

Definitions

- Asynchronous Lesson- An instructional method in which the curriculum is constantly modifiable and changing in an online format for students to complete independently. Teachers can use tracking tools to examine the time a student spends on the content and online course materials (Eriksson, 2012).
- 2. *Differentiation* To modify curriculum and instruction to meet the present needs in the classroom (National Association for Gifted Children, 2020)
- 3. *Differentiated Instruction* The proactive delivery of instruction that allows different learners with a variety of different needs to express learning (Tomlinson et al., 2003).
- Distant Learning- The use of online and application technology to replace traditional instruction (Abakumova, Bakaeva, Grishina, & Dyakova, 2019)
- Educational equity- The concept that involves equal educational opportunities and achievements for all students regardless of race, religion, ethnicity, gender, socioeconomic standing, or disability (Best & Winslow, 2015).
- Engagement- A measurement of emotional, cognitive, and behavioral awareness through students' responses to items about their learning experiences and includes effort, persistence, concentration, attention, class participation (Fredricks et al., 2004)
- Gifted Students Students who possess or are capable of developing the composite of traits including the evidence of intellectual, creative, artistic, or leadership achievement and applying them to any potentially valuable area of human performance (National Association for Gifted Children, 2020).

- Individualized education program (IEP)- a specialized education plan for students with disabilities that set specific goals and objectives that aim to close the educational gap (US Department of Education, 2019).
- 9. *Intelligence-* the display of certain abilities necessary to understand and adapt to the environment by using inherited talents and learned knowledge (Pili, 2019).
- Motivation- The measurement of an individual's performance on tasks implies cognition and self-efficacy, as well as aspects associated with metacognition (Elbeheri, Reid, & Everatt, 2018).
- 11. Rigor- The Pursuit of high standards within the classroom with the appropriate level of challenge so that students can achieve conceptual understanding, procedural skill, fluency, and application with equal intensity (Blackburn, 2018)
- Student Response to Instructional Practices (StRIP)- Survey that measures student response to instruction and instructional strategies for influencing engagement (DeMonbrun et al., 2017).
- 13. Self-efficacy- The capacity to execute behaviors necessary to produce specific performance attainments including the ability to exert control over one's motivation, behavior, and social environment (Bandura, 1986, 1997)
- 14. Self-regulation- the ability to sustain effort and motivation while maintaining control over negative behaviors and the thoughts that accompany those behaviors (Elbeheri, Reid, & Everatt, 2018).
- 15. Synchronous Lesson- Instruction that takes place in an online format, anywhere and anytime in a continuous process. The students are actively engaged in the online lesson with the teacher in real-time (Eriksson, 2012).

- 16. *Underachievement-* The occurrence of a gifted student underperforming or performing below capability (Barbier et al., 2019).
- 17. Virtual Learning Environment (VLE)- An online environment that is based on a certain pedagogical model and provides learners with experiences that would not be experienced in the physical classroom (Mikropoulos & Natsis, 2011).

Summary

Due to the increase in virtual education in public education, there is a need to study the experiences of core academic teachers at the middle school level to ensure the gifted and talented population is receiving equitable educational opportunities (Adelodun, 2017; Pots & Pots, 2017; Sawchuk & Sparks, 2020; Winebrenner, 2012). This population, unfortunately, is often overlooked in the classroom. According to National Association for Gifted Children (2020), this population accounts for over 897,000 students in Maryland public school classrooms, however, not all gifted learners have been identified (NATIONAL ASSOCIATION FOR GIFTED CHILDREN, 2020). The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of core academic middle school teachers with differentiating instruction to challenge the gifted learner in rural southern Maryland. The increasing use of virtual and distant learning platforms supports the purpose of this proposed study. The theoretical framework is based on Bandura's self-efficacy theory (1986, 1997) and McClelland's achievement-motivation theory (1988). These two theories explain learning experiences and interactions between the learner and the instructor while addressing the educator's efficacy in challenging gifted learners within the virtual classroom. Additionally, this theoretical framework supports the need for teachers to differentiate instruction for gifted learners and provide an adequate level of challenge

to promote critical thinking while addressing feelings of efficacy toward the task. The research reflects the experiences of teachers as they work with the gifted learner in the core content classroom virtually. Chapter Two provides the theoretical framework for this study which is based on the work of Bandura (1986, 1997) and McClelland (1988). The chapter will also provide a review of the available literature that relates to this study and addresses the gap in the literature.
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview

Nationally, many gifted students do not receive an appropriately challenging curriculum and fail to reach their potential as a result. Unfortunately, educational policies focus on closing learning gaps for struggling learners while the achievement gap has been widening (Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA), 2015; NATIONAL ASSOCIATION FOR GIFTED CHILDREN, 2020; Yaluma & Tyner, 2020). This "excellence gap" is problematic, especially due to the high demand for a high-performing and highly skilled workforce, especially in the fields of math, science, and engineering (Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA), 2015; NATIONAL ASSOCIATION FOR GIFTED CHILDREN, 2020; Yaluma & Tyner, 2020). However, federal law is clear in establishing equitable access to educational opportunities in the mainstream classroom through research-based and proven methodologies (Tomlinson, 2015; Tomlinson et al., 2003). A study of the shared experiences of these teachers will aid schools in improving best practices for the education of the gifted learner to close the excellence gap and provide teachers with strategies to provide more equitable acceedence opportunities.

The literature review in Chapter Two will explore the theoretical frameworks for this study and is based on the social cognitive theory of Bandura (1986) and the achievementmotivation theory of McCelland (1988). Social cognitive learning theory as defined by Bandura (1986) addresses the role of self-efficacy in learning and was the primary theory guiding the research as it addresses the role of teacher efficacy in working with gifted students as an integral part of their shared experiences. Achievement-motivation theory as defined by McClelland (1988) serves as a secondary framework with a focus on approaches to challenging the gifted learner. The connection between achievement-motivation theory (McClelland, 1988) and instructional strategies will be discussed along with the role of efficacy in planning and implementing instructional strategies. The review of the related literature will address the following key issues relevant to the phenomenon: (a) Understanding giftedness and identifying the gifted learner, (b) research on teacher sense of efficacy, (c) attitudes and beliefs teaching gifted students, (d) gifted instructional models, (e) the gap in the literature. The chapter closes with a summary of the review of the literature.

Theoretical Framework

The two theoretical frameworks that are woven into both quantitative and qualitative research concerning gifted and talented students are Bandura's (1986) social cognitive theory and McClelland's (1988) achievement-motivation theory. Both Bandura's (1986) and McClelland's (1988) theories emphasize students' motivational factors for learning by evaluating the importance of both social and cognitive aspects present in a virtual learning environment. Therefore, these theories provide a foundation for exploring for experiences of select middle school teachers in differentiating instruction to challenge the gifted learner. Working with highly able students is rooted in both cognitive and achievement paradigms. Bandura's (1986) selfefficacy theory explains the differences in the amount of effort students expend on learning activities and the social cognition that emphasizes the role of observational learning and social experience that are perceived differently in a virtual environment. This theory also evaluates the role of the teacher and their ability to provide the environment necessary to foster both the student's gifts and talents (Adelodun, 2017; Pots & Pots, 2017; Sawchuk & Sparks, 2020). While McClelland's (1988) achievement-motivation theory supports gifted and talented students' desire for success, factors that influence student motivation include the classroom environment, task

meaningfulness, level of challenge, academic pacing, and the student's perceptions of their abilities (Karantzas, 2019; Merritt, 2016; Taylor, 2016).

Self-Efficacy Theory

The self-efficacy theory stems from Bandura's (1986) social cognitive theory which examines self-regulation as the interaction between individual perceptions of success, engagement, the environment, and feedback (Barbier et al., 2019; Merriman, 2012). Bandura's (1997) research showed a strong correlation between self-efficacy, personal belief in the capacity to perform to achieve, self-regulated behavioral changes, and social interactions. Additionally, self-efficacy reflects goals for which individuals strive to achieve. Therefore, it is the academic motivation that provides task meaning and provides individuals both the persistence and determination to stick with difficult tasks (Bandura, 1986; Barbier et al., 2019; Merriman, 2012; Ritchotte et al., 2014; Smedsrud, 2018). One's self-efficacy plays a major role in how one approaches goals, tasks, and challenges (Bandura, 1986; Merriman, 2012; Ritchotte et al., 2014; Smedsrud, 2018). People with high self-efficacy are more likely to view difficult tasks as something to be mastered rather than something to be avoided (Bandura, 1997; Barbier et al., 2019). This confidence is an important part of gifted education for both the teacher and the student. Furthermore, Bandura (1986, 1997) defined self-efficacy as the capacity to execute behaviors necessary to produce specific performance attainments including the ability to exert control over one's motivation, behavior, and social environment.

With the recent pandemic, the lack of self-efficacy and the risk for underachievement has increased, even if the individuals historically demonstrated high self-efficacy and motivation in the face-to-face environment (Cakir, 2014; Horak & Galluzzo, 2017; Peterson & Colangelo, 1996; Ridgley et al., 2020; Steenbergen-Hu et al., 2020) To develop this motivation through distant learning, gifted students need stability, support, and the appropriate level of challenge to meet their cognitive demands (Smedsrud, 2018). Most importantly, self-efficacy reflects the need to strive towards an academic connection to task meaning, persistence, and determination, especially for the gifted student (Smedsrud, 2018). Research suggests that motivation, selfefficacy, individual stress levels, and academic self-belief are critical links to intellectual ability and student performance (Piekarska, 2020; You et al., 2016). Therefore, students must engage in meaningful learning to effectively nurture self-efficacy and academic self-belief (Smedsrud, 2018). This means if the student does not find meaning in the activity or are not challenged by it, they are most likely to disengage and are at a greater risk to achieve below their ability. Therefore, if the virtual platform is not engaging, the students do not find meaning in the instruction, or they lack self-efficacy then they will most likely underachieve (Winebrenner, 2012). For this reason, Bandura (1997) incorporates self-efficacy as an integral part of learning.

Additionally, the middle school years appear to create complex processes that relate to how students engage in the classroom environment and demonstrate achievement (Barbier et al., 2019). In middle school, the student experience shapes self-efficacy, goal valuation, environmental perception, and self-regulation; all of which affect how they view achievement and task validation (Barbier et al., 2019). Further research suggests that gifted students want to feel supported and challenged in school, even if they do not always have the tools to remain motivated (Barbier et al., 2019; Taylor, 2016). Studies also suggest that students with low selfefficacy exhibited a range of self-esteem, but are not always reflective of their capabilities, strengths, and weaknesses (Barbier et al., 2019; Taylor, 2016). More importantly, students' selfefficacy, intrinsic motivation, and academic performance increase when they perceive their teachers' motivational behaviors positively (Strati et al., 2017; You et al., 2016). This means that teacher self-efficacy plays a role in increasing student motivation, confidence, and performance. That means even if students do not perceive the challenge, but the teacher demonstrates positive motivation behaviors, then students' self-efficacy will increase (Strati et al., 2017; You et al., 2016). Additionally, if the curriculum and instruction are differentiated to meet the needs of students, the appropriate level of challenge may not always be present, especially during remote learning (Potts, 2018). Although virtual classrooms provide a platform for individualized instruction, little research has been conducted on the success of distance learning as a means for challenging the gifted population (Gucciardi et al., 2020; Steenbergen-Hu et al., 2020; Potts, 2019).

In addition to student self-efficacy, teachers need to demonstrate self-efficacy when differentiating the curriculum to meet the cognitive abilities present in the inclusive classroom (VanTassel-Baska et al., 2021). Just as students' self-efficacy varies, educators also demonstrate varying self-belief in their ability to differentiate instruction for gifted learners (VanTassel-Baska et al., 2021). Furthermore, students' self-efficacy, teacher lesson preparation, the learning environment, student readiness, the range of cognitive and ability levels present, content knowledge, and pedagogical skill also contribute to the teacher's self-efficacy (VanTassel-Baska et al., 2021). While these factors are present in both the face-to-face environment and virtual learning, educators were unprepared to teach remotely due to government closures brought about by the COVID-19 virus (Richmond et al., 2020). Adding another limiting factor to teacher self-efficacy due to current teacher education requirements only focusing on the integration of technology and not the unique aspects of pedagogy associated with teaching virtually (Richmond et al., 2020). Additionally, educators are not always properly trained and equipped to work with gifted learners. This lack of teacher

preparation causes many teachers to believe they are ineffective or deficient in differentiating both instruction and assessment to meet students' needs (VanTassel-Baska et al., 2021).

The Achievement-Motivation Theory

McClelland's achievement-motivation theory explains and predicts a student's behavior and performance based on the individual's need for achievement (Elbeheri et al., 2018). Gifted and Talented students have a higher level of intrinsic motivation compared to their peers and strive for high academic achievement (Elbeheri et al., 2018). This need for achievement is a motivator that increases their self-esteem, and research suggests that these motivators are learned (Elbeheri et al., 2018). According to this theory, intrinsic motivation is influenced by challenge, curiosity, control, fantasy, and relatedness (Liu et al., 2011). Research has also documented a disconcerting decline in students' motivation to learn at school during the middle school years (Fu-Yun et al., 2018; Ritchoette et al., 2014; Strati et al., 2017; Taylor, 2016). While gifted and talented students demonstrate both the need to achieve and self-efficacy, middle school years are a critical stage for the onset of underachievement, or achieving below capability (Emerick, 1992; Horak & Galluzzo, 2017; McClelland, 1988; Peterson & Colangelo, 1996; Ridgley et al., 2020; Steenbergen-Hu et al., 2020). Online instruction has increased the decline in students' intrinsic and extrinsic motivation to learn due to distractions at home, social-emotional well-being, lack of engagement, and feedback required for learning (Adedoyin & Soykan, 2020; American Psychological Association, 2020; Chen & Tseng, 2012; Sepulveda-Escobar & Morrison, 2020; Velichová et al., 2020). However, proper achievement motivation allows students to approach challenging tasks fervently and demonstrate perseverance through the task until achievement is obtained (Liu, et al., 2011; Strati et al., 2017). Research also suggests that instructional context affects students' intrinsic motivation and correlates with academic achievement (Liu et al., 2011;

Strati et al., 2017). Therefore, instructional materials must provide student choices, challenge, promote perceived autonomy, and develop self-determination to increase intrinsic motivation and academic achievement, especially during the middle school years (Lui et al., 2011; Strati et al., 2017; Tomlinson, et al., 2003).

Although McClelland's (1988) achievement-motivation theory supports gifted and talented students' desire for success, the virtual classroom often lacks the level of challenge necessary to prevent gifted student academic complacency and underachievement (Adelodun, 2017; Emerick, 1992; Pots & Pots, 2017; Sawchuk & Sparks, 2020). Furthermore, the virtual environment poses personal obstacles for many students including the gifted (Almukhambetova & Hernández-Torrano, 2020; Ridgley et. al., 2020). Students not only need to be motivated and engaged in the curriculum, but they also need to be provided opportunities to grow and contribute socially which can be challenging in a virtual platform due to new stresses including perceived judgment from peers and teachers (Almukhambetova & Hernández-Torrano, 2020). Understanding all the factors that may influence the level of challenge or causes of gifted and talented underachievement in the virtual classroom provides educators with insight into how to further modify the curriculum and instruction to meet individual needs (Cakir, 2014; Ridgley et. al., 2020).

Therefore, these frameworks support the investigation of the phenomenon of the experiences of core academic subject teachers working with gifted students. The grounding of the research in these two theories may provide further insight into the application of the social cognitive theory and the achievement-motivation theory in the experiences of the participants with the phenomenon. These theories may inform the practices of teacher

education programs and ongoing professional development opportunities for gifted education and in turn, improve the quality of education for high-achieving students.

Related Literature

The push for high levels of curiosity, interest in the fields of science, math, and engineering has given gifted education more recent attention through published research geared toward understanding the importance of teaching gifted and talented students (Camci-Erdogan, 2015; Smutny, 2002), However, on a national level, there are only three million identified gifted students which only accounts for 6% of the student population (Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA), 2015; NATIONAL ASSOCIATION FOR GIFTED CHILDREN, 2020; Yaluma & Tyner, 2020). Currently, past century researchers and theorists have attempted to refine and expand the definitions for both giftedness and intelligence (Carman, 2013; Taylor, 2016). The foundation of current definitions is based and built on Renzulli's (1978) research that broadened the definition and criteria for giftedness (Carman, 2013; Jolly, 2018; McBee & Makel, 2019; Merriman, 2012). He defined gifted and talented students as those "who possess or are capable of developing this composite of traits and applying them to any potentially valuable area of human performance" (National Association for Gifted Children, 2020). However, many scholars agree that this definition is not scientifically backed, and the field of psychology has attempted to broaden this term based on scientific evidence (McBee & Makel, 2019; Taylor, 2016). While empirical research will continue to scientifically understand and define giftedness and intelligence (Jolly, 2018; McBee & Makel, 2019; Merriman, 2012; Taylor, 2016), legislation has expanded the definition for giftedness to reflect the evidence in the field of education to shift the focus from identification criteria to a deeper understanding of the complexity of giftedness (National Association for Gifted Children, 2020). According to the Elementary and Secondary

Education Act of 2002 and The No Child Left Behind Act of 2002, gifted and talented students give evidence of high-performance capability. Historically, high IQ scores were a fundamental indicator of giftedness; however, recent identification includes unique abilities or talents that place these students above their peers in which students can demonstrate these capabilities intellectually, creatively, artistically, or through leadership (National Association for Gifted Children, 2020). Under IDEA these students require services or activities that are not ordinarily provided by the school where gifted programs are not established (Wrights Law, 2015). Unfortunately, under federal law schools are not mandated to provide the necessary programs or provide the necessary accommodations for these students (Zirkel, 2009). Though students who are classified as gifted have different pedagogical requirements than their peers and the curriculum must be consistent with their abilities. Yet the lack of legislation in this area is leading to a wider intelligence gap on a national scale (Horak & Galluzzo, 2017; Riley et al., 2017; National Association for Gifted Children, 2020; Tomlinson, 2018; Riley et al., 2017; Wrights Law, 2015; Zirkel, 2009).

Understanding Giftedness

However, understanding giftedness is based on three theoretical models, Renzulli's threering conception of giftedness, Gagné's (1985) differentiated model of giftedness and talent, and Gardner's theory of multiple intelligences. Each of these models are foundational for the development of the modern definition and identification of giftedness (Carman, 2013). While Renzulli's (1978) three-ring conception of giftedness identifies motivation through task commitment, above-average ability, and creativity, Gagné (1985, 1992) and Gardner (2000) describe the process by which giftedness includes talent (Martin, 2015). Gagné (1985, 1992) identified domains in which students demonstrate certain talents (Gagné, 1992), and Gardner (2000) describes how these talents are expressions of an individual's intelligence. These theories attempt to conceptualize the complexity of the gifted learner with the purpose of cognizing factors that motivate these students to achieve their potential.

Renzulli's Three-Ring Conception of Giftedness

Renzulli (1978) further determined that gifted behavior occurs through the interaction of the student's abilities, motivation, and high levels of creativity (Renzulli, 1986). The National Association for Gifted Students (2020) in their "Schoolwide Enrichment Model", stated that gifted behaviors can be discovered in "certain people, at certain times, and under certain circumstances." This demonstrates the conception of giftedness as not solely based on intelligence tests, achievement, and academic aptitude. Therefore Renzulli (1978, 1986) included areas in which gifted students could express their talents. Through the three-ring model of giftedness, Renzulli (1978, 1986), focused on the identification of gifted and talented students based on the interaction between the teacher, the learner, and the curriculum (Jolly, 2018; McBee & Makel, 2019; Merriman, 2012). While this model assists in the identification of once overlooked students, it also increases flexibility in defining students' giftedness (Jolly, 2018; McBee & Makel, 2019; Merriman, 2012; Renzulli & Reis, 2009).

Currently, Renzulli's (1986) three-ring conception of giftedness is widely used in schools and educational institutions in the United States to develop gifted programs and enrichment (Reis & Renzulli, 2009). Furthermore, his model, when used for identification, recognizes gifted and talented students as those that appear to be intrinsically motivated, exhibit highly developed interests, and demonstrate abilities in particular areas (Page, 2006). This process for identifying gifted and talented students applies to cultural models of giftedness because it acknowledges the roles of creativity, task commitment, and culturally valued activities (Page, 2006). However, while this model accounts for ability and creativity, it does not account for student interest which is vital to both motivation and success (McBee & Makel, 2019; Merriman, 2012; Page, 2006). Furthermore, Renzulli's model does not account for student exposure that inspires engagement, motivation, and the manifestation of gifts and talents (Page, 2006). On the other hand, when Renzulli's (1986) model is used in conjunction with other gifted models, educators can collect data that will support the identification of the students' untapped ability (Chaffey, 2004; Page, 2006).

Gagné's Differentiated Model of Giftedness and Talent

Extending from Renzulli's (1986) three-ring model of giftedness, Gagné (1992) argues that giftedness refers to the student's natural abilities while talent is the realization of their gifts, enhanced through intervention (Page, 2006). Unlike Runzulli's (1978) model, in 1985, Gagné developed the differentiated model of giftedness and talent in which there is a clear distinction between giftedness and talent (Gagné,1985; National Association for Gifted Children, 2020; Sternberg et al., 2010). Gagné (1985) defined giftedness as the possession and use of untrained and spontaneously expressed natural abilities called aptitudes or gifts (Gagné,1985; National Association for Gifted Children, 2020; Sternberg et al., 2010). Students who demonstrate these aptitudes in at least one domain and are above 10% of their peers are classified as gifted (Gagné,1985; National Association for Gifted Children, 2020; Sternberg et al., 2010). However, the definition of talent describes the mastery of systematically developed abilities and knowledge that places a student's achievement within the upper 10% of age-peers (Gagné,1985; National Association for Gifted Children, 2020; Sternberg et al., 2010). Gagné's (2020) model presents five aptitude domains: intellectual, creative, socio-affective, sensory-motor, and extrasensory perception. However, the differentiated model assumes that gifts and talents are not synonymous, but addresses the limitations presented in Renzulli's (1978, 1986) model (Page, 2006.)

Furthermore, Gagné's (1985) model allows for students to extend their natural abilities through exposure through several catalysts (Page, 2006.) Through both intrapersonal and environmental interventions, students' abilities are enhanced and enriched to further develop their talents (Page, 2006.). That is because, according to Gagné (1992), students' gifts and talents are not fixed, but are further developed through intervention and experience. However, their potential remains untapped when not exposed to developmental processes and catalysts (Page, 2006). It is important to understand that all students are different and may require differing degrees and/or forms of intervention to fully develop their untapped potential (Page, 2006). Therefore, the differentiation model promotes the educational development of students' gifts and talents. Thus Gagné's (1992) Theory argues the need for classroom supports to enrich student learning experiences in the classroom to further develop the students' talents.

Gardner's Theory of Multiple Intelligences

Gardner (1995, 2000) began to develop the theory of multiple intelligences to appropriately demonstrate intelligence is not found in one central construct, but humans possess multiple forms of intelligence and have the capacity to move from one form of intelligence to another. His expanse of the topic of intelligence included emotions, morality, creativity, and leadership (Gardner, 1995; 2000). While other researchers sought to define intelligence, as a construct and a capacity to be measured, Gardner sparked the interest in the topic and began to participate in defining the measurement and uses (Brualdi Timmins, 1996; Galitis, 2007; Gardner, 1995, 2000; Sternberg et al., 2010). Building on the research conducted by Gagné (1992), Gardner (2000) proposed his multiple intelligence theory which stated that individuals demonstrate intelligence in seven different areas. In his research, Gardner (2000) used neurophysiology to provide evidence that human intelligence is more complex than once believed. Through his research, he determined that humans demonstrate intelligence, and learn through multiple means including spatial, bodily-kinesthetic, musical, linguistic, logical-mathematical, interpersonal, intrapersonal, and spiritual (Galitis, 2007; Helding, 2009; Sternberg et al., 2010). Gardner's (1995, 2000) theory of multiple intelligences suggests that students do not have one processer of intelligence but seven, however, some areas are stronger than others (Kornhaber & Gardner, 1993). Therefore, students exhibit different areas of strength in which they could be gifted, yet some areas are weak (Galitis, 2007; Helding, 2009; Kornhaber & Gardner, 1993). It is important to strengthen student weaknesses and challenge them to move beyond the perceptions of themselves (Galitis, 2007).

Educators need to understand that individuals possess all seven bits of intelligence, however, some appear more dominant than others and assist student response to specific content or type of thinking (Gardner, 1991; Helding, 2009; Kornhaber & Gardner, 1993; Sternberg et al., 2010). In some instances, individuals may use more than one intelligence to understand a new concept at one time. Educators must not characterize the intellectual profiles of students; however, multiple intelligences can assist educators in improving student learning (Gardner, 1991; Helding, 2009; Kornhaber & Gardner, 1993; Sternberg et al., 2010). Additionally, students will automatically move from one intelligence to another. While there is not a test that can truly assess which intelligence is dominant, individuals must develop all seven (Gardner, 2000; Helding, 2009; Sternberg et al., 2010). Gardner's (1983, 1991) research and theory, within the field of education, provides educators with the ability to have students demonstrate their learning and cognitive abilities in multiple facets. Intelligence is a bio-psychological potential to process information and individuals' specific strengths and weaknesses that can be conceptualized by multiple abilities (Gardner, 2000). This theory specifies domains in which intellectual gifts may operate and provides a valuable approach for the identification of gifted and talented students. According to Gardner's (1983, 1991) multiple intelligence theory, the assessment of students' abilities will provide areas of intellectual strengths and weaknesses that can be addressed in the classroom (Hernández-Torrano, et al., 2014). By studying the cognitive profile of students within the framework of multiple intelligence theory researchers can identify high-ability students (Hernández-Torrano, et al., 2014).

Using the Theories in Combination

After evaluating students' strengths and weaknesses based on the cognitive profile within the framework of multiple intelligence theory, educators can assign evaluative goals and objectives based on students' weaknesses (Hernández-Torrano et al., 2014). Then incorporating Gagné's (1992) theory, appropriate interventions and experiences are designed to assist students in reaching their potential (Page, 2006). The use of the differentiation model within the classroom will allow the teacher to target goals and objectives and thus promoting the educational development of students' gifts and talents. Thus Gagné's (1992) theory argues the need for classroom supports to enrich student learning experiences in the classroom to further develop the students' talents. Using Renzulli's (1978) principles when planning will ensure task meaningfulness, creativity, and value to promote the achievement of goals and objectives (Page, 2006). In addition to the multiple intelligence theory (Gardner, 1983), Gagné's (1985)

differentiated model of giftedness and talent, and Renzulli's (1978, 1986) three-ring conception of giftedness, teachers can use Bloom's taxonomy (Bloom et al., 1956) when planning. Bloom's taxonomy (Bloom et al., 1956) plays a critical role in gifted education and ensures that gifted students are engaged in problem-solving and critical thinking that challenges their thoughts and perceptions. Understanding the role these theories have in gifted education influences teacher proficiency of challenging students using these matrices to ensure higher-level cognitive processes (Galitis, 2007). These theories and models are linked to the development of definitions for intelligence and giftedness over the past century (McBee & Makel, 2019; Taylor, 2016). While the use of these theories in combination is ideal to not only identify gifted students but also ensure they are reaching their potential.

Teacher Sense of Self-Efficacy

Teacher self-efficacy determines the initiation of teaching actions that directly affect the intensity, quality, and duration of effort (Bandura, 1997; Matheis et al., 2015). Teachers' self-efficacy beliefs enable teachers to deal with challenging educational settings effectively and competently (Matheis et al., 2015). Even though there has been a lot of research conducted concerning teacher self-efficacy and the gifted learner, teachers are still finding that they are not equipped to meet the needs of diverse learners at the middle school level (Camci-Erdogan, 2015; Dixon et al., 2014; Matheis et al., 2015). Research states teachers with a higher sense of efficacy exhibit behaviors associated with effective teaching toward gifted learners (Camci-Erdogan, 2015; Dixon et al., 2014; Matheis et al., 2015). Conversely, those with lower senses of efficacy are more reluctant to engage in differentiated instructional practices that are known to improve learning (Camci-Erdogan, 2015). Research suggests these differences among teachers' self-

efficacy directly affects students' success and attitudes toward school (Camci-Erdogan, 2015; Eagly & Chaiken, 1993; Olthouse, 2013) Teacher self-efficacy, as well as their knowledge and attitude toward gifted students, might also influence the process of identifying students as well as the design of suitable educational curriculum and programming (Akgül, 2021; Olthouse, 2013). A higher self-efficacy leads to higher teaching quality, the use of more effective or innovative methods to better meet the needs of gifted students (Matheis et al., 2015). Therefore, it is important to investigate teachers' self-efficacy beliefs and attitudes and investigate their variability.

However, to increase their self-efficacy, teachers need a higher level of occupational engagement, less stressful situations, and professional competence (Matheis et al., 2015). While teachers view professional development, administrative support, and mentoring as valuable resources in the fidelity of their curriculum differentiation, teachers also need additional support to adequately challenge the gifted learner without neglecting other cognitive levels in the classroom (Taylor, 2016; Tomlinson, 2015). Educators recognize the difficulty in providing all students with access to specific learning activities that are individualized, but struggle to challenge gifted students while scaffolding instruction for struggling students simultaneously (Taylor, 2016; Tomlinson, 2015). Keeping in mind, what works best for some students does not necessarily work for others (Dixon et al., 2014).

Although teachers understand the need to scaffold instruction for struggling learners, the elements of challenge, critical thinking, student choice, and curriculum modification are difficult to incorporate into classroom instruction daily (Taylor, 2016). Moreover, these instructional elements are not independent of each other but should be grouped to maximize content and instructional development (Taylor, 2016). For example, the use of critical thinking skills

promotes challenge. Furthermore, lesson planning can make any teacher feel ill-prepared to meet the diverse needs of their students. However, teachers who have positive attitudes toward content are inclined to design a more conducive and effective classroom environment for gifted students, and consequently, students develop positive attitudes concerning the content (Camci-Erdogan, 2015; Eagly & Chaiken, 1993; Olthouse, 2013). Therefore, it is important to understand that a teacher's self-efficacy in teaching gifted students is directly linked to their implicit theories and is likely to influence their classroom interactions (Akgül, 2021). Studies have shown that many pre-service teachers have a low self-efficacy teaching gifted students and they perceive themselves to be unprepared to provide adequate educational provision for the gifted. Additionally, teachers with low self-efficacy toward teaching gifted students believe that they do not know how to foster and handle the students successfully. Therefore, fostering the adequate inclusion of gifted students in mixed-ability classes involves the strengthening of teachers' selfefficacy (Akgül, 2021, Camci-Erdogan, 2015).

Attitudes and Beliefs Teaching Gifted Students

Opposing ideas, approaches, and policies in gifted education result in contradictory curriculum models and instruction (VanTassel-Baska, 2018). Additionally, the various definitions and identification processes of giftedness throughout the nation result in variations of how gifted programs are implemented (Callahan et al., 2015; Davis & Forbes, 2016; McIntire, 2017; NATIONAL ASSOCIATION FOR GIFTED CHILDREN, 2020). These contradictions can compound the attitudes and beliefs that classroom teachers hold regarding giftedness (Olthouse, 2013; Schroth, 2007; Szymanski & Shaff, 2013). Inconsistencies with conceptions of giftedness can lead to problems with how giftedness influences pedagogical decisions (Akgül, 2021). Also, common myths like, "gifted children will make it on their own without a special provision," is detrimental to the development of programs and professional development that will close the achievement gap (Leavitt & Geake, 2009).

Currently, unless students have an IEP, teachers are not required by law to set individual student goals and objectives to track and monitor gifted students' progress. However, some states provide students who have qualified for gifted services with an IEP (NATIONAL

ASSOCIATION FOR GIFTED CHILDREN, 2020; Zirkel, 2009). Under IDEA, gifted students who require services or activities that are not ordinarily provided by the school are entitled to receive push-in or pull-out services like students with IEPs. Unfortunately, these services only occur in schools where gifted programs are established and there is a full-time employed gifted and talented teacher (National Association For Gifted Children, 2020; Wrights Law, 2015). Under federal law, schools are not mandated to provide programs, educator support staff, or the necessary accommodations for gifted students (National Association For Gifted Children, 2020; Wrights Law, 2015; Zirkel, 2009). Instead, the general educator is responsible for accommodating the pedagogical needs of these students. However, in some instances, educators are not made aware of which students qualify for gifted and talented services and supports in order to modify the curriculum and instruction so that it is consistent with their abilities (Lui et al., 2011; Strati et al., 2017; Tomlinson, et al., 2003). In some instances, after teachers are made aware of identified learners, they are compelled to offer specific provisions to extend learning opportunities to their gifted students in the classroom (Leavitt & Geake, 2009). More cases than not, many gifted students are not receiving these extension opportunities, but are receiving the same instruction as their peers (Horak & Galluzzo, 2017; Peterson & Colangelo, 1996; Ridgley et al., 2020; Steenbergen-Hu, et al., 2020; Smutny, 2002).

Additionally, many educators, legislators, and stakeholders believe that intelligence cannot be improved, and gifted students do not require additional support to succeed (Jolly, 2018; Karantzas, 2019; Merriman, 2012; Taylor, 2016; Tomlinson, et al., 2003). These misconceptions only widen the intellectual gap and inhibit gifted and talented students from reaching their potential and developing positive academic self-efficacy. Gifted and talented students want to be challenged, but teachers do not always know how to provide the needed rigor (Dixon et al., 2014; Kanevsky, 2011). Without providing opportunities for cognitive productive struggle, students cannot truly learn rigor, determination, and perseverance (Lynch et al., 2018). Instead, teachers through differentiating their curriculum can design assignment extension opportunities and projects intentionally for gifted students to expand their learning (Han et al., 2014; Hmelo-Silver, 2004; Howard, 2002; Karademir, 2016; Licht, 2014; Leavitt & Geake, 2009).

It is also important to understand the level of challenge is based on the student's ability to understand new concepts at a faster pace coupled with the ability to retain and process the curriculum (Taylor, 2016). Gifted students often do not require repetition of instruction and learn at a faster pace compared to their peers (Karantzas, 2019). Therefore, these students require an accelerated curriculum with less reiteration of the content and time spent practicing concepts (Karantzas, 2019; Taylor, 2016). By planning lessons that include critical thinking, challenging learning activities, and opportunities to work at their own pace, educators can accommodate the unique needs of gifted and talented students in the inclusive classroom (Karantzas, 2019; O'Leary et al., 2020; Taylor, 2016). A study conducted by Kanevsky (2011) concluded positive student opinions concerning differentiation practices that include challenge and self-pacing. However, the use of self-pacing should not be supplemented all the time and educators should take into consideration that gifted students do not always require faster-paced instruction (Shore & Delcourt, 1996; Taylor, 2016; Tomlinson, 2015, 2018). Additionally, the level of challenge should be based on specific individual needs (Tomlinson et al., 2003). However, supplementing instruction with opportunities for students to self-pace, engage in challenging activities, think critically will promote student engagement and motivation (Karantzas, 2019; Taylor, 2016). Therefore, understanding the participants' definition and vocabulary to discuss giftedness and their understanding of the needs of gifted students as it pertains to developing differentiated lessons was important to investigate. It is only when teachers can make their beliefs explicit relating to pedagogical strategies can they begin to highlight their understanding of giftedness and reflect on classroom practices (Barbier et al., 2022).

Gifted Instructional Models

To appropriately differentiate the curriculum and instruction, teachers need to know not only the students who have learning disabilities but also those that are classified as gifted (Cooper et al., 2004; Heyder et al., 2018; Silverman & Gilman, 2020). Approximately 90% of the teachers currently associate high achievement with giftedness (Heyder et al., 2018). Due to this misconception, teachers exhibit difficulties identifying gifted underachievers and tend to recommend high-achieving students with average intelligence for gifted identification (Heyder et al., 2018; Silverman & Gilman, 2020). Therefore, teachers must increase their competency to identify giftedness (Heyder et al., 2018). Additionally, teachers need to know students' intelligence test scores as well as other criteria rooted in evidence-based knowledge concerning giftedness and achievement to properly identify these students (Heyder et al., 2018; Silverman & Gilman, 2020). Evidence-based criteria include Gardner's (1983, 1991, 2000) research and theory, within the field of education, which provides educators with the ability to have students demonstrate their learning and cognitive abilities in multiple facets. Gardner defined intelligence as a biopsychological potential to process information and individuals' specific strengths and weaknesses that can be conceptualized by multiple abilities (Gardner, 2000). This theory specifies domains in which intellectual gifts may operate and provides a valuable approach for the identification of gifted and talented students. According to Gardner's (2000) multiple intelligence theory, the assessment of students' abilities provides areas of intellectual strengths and weaknesses that can be addressed in the classroom (Hernández-Torrano et al., 2014). By studying the cognitive profile of students within the framework of multiple intelligence theory educators can disseminate between high-achieving and high-ability students (Hernández-Torrano et al., 2014).

Historically, assessments have provided evidence of learning progress, and are useful tools for planning, curriculum development, programming, and the identification of gifted students (Hernández-Torrano et al., 2014; Hodges et al., 2018). Currently, traditional methods of identification such as IQ and standardized achievement tests may not identify all gifted and talented students. Other assessments such as nonverbal tests, student portfolios, affective checklists, and other forms of nontraditional assessment may provide a means of identifying overlooked potential (Hodges et al., 2018). Current theories of intelligence and giftedness emphasize the need for assessments to test the multiple cognitive abilities to reach success (Gubbels et al., 2018). Therefore, the development of alternative assessment tools is an important step in recognizing the needs of gifted students, as well as, creating a diverse range of assessment instruments and methods that increase the usefulness of these instruments (Cao et al., 2017). The

development of these tools will not only increase the identification of minority gifted students but will also prevent gifted underachievement.

The modern classroom demands that students are challenged, engaged, and invested in the learning process as it should prepare them for the future (Howley et al., 2009; Gutek, 2011; Kidman, 2019). When gifted students are engaged in rigorous and challenging curricula that match their cognitive and creative abilities, they do not perceive the challenge (Horak & Galluzzo, 2017). Additionally, a student-centered curriculum model that differentiates the lessons to cater to the students' needs is not only effective but is well-received (Horak & Galluzzo, 2017). Differentiation allows educators to vary the level of challenge while providing the freedom of choice, meaning, and learning objectives (Horak & Galluzzo, 2017). Additionally, when compared to traditional instructional approaches, student-centered approaches improve students' self-efficacy, critical thinking, and problem-solving skills (Gangwar, 2017). Furthermore, gifted students found that the student-centered approaches to learning provide an enriched learning environment, flexibility, and support their learning perceptions (Horak & Galluzzo, 2017). Even though gifted students are placed in general education classrooms and are not always provided instruction that meets their needs, by using a student-centered model, teachers can differentiate the instruction to enhance the learning for gifted learners.

Using differentiation, educators have the ability and flexibility to modify the curriculum for all students to experience continuous growth and intellectual progress without neglecting the cognitive levels present in the mainstream classroom (Karantzas, 2019; Merriman, 2012; Taylor, 2016; Tomlinson et al., 2003). This instructional model provides teachers with the ability to offer different paths to understanding content, process, and products that are appropriate for student's strengths, interests, and learning styles (Dixon et al., 2014) Furthermore, research has shown that by using a student-centered approach, teachers can enrich classroom instruction by differentiating the instruction to meet their needs (Dixon et al., 2014; Haley, 2001). Differentiated instruction does require the development of lesson plans and alternative assessments that utilize a variety of planning tools, including background materials that would allow all students to access the curriculum by using their areas of cognitive strengths (Haley, 2001). However, this model requires teachers to plan learning experiences at a high level of challenge while providing the appropriate scaffolding to support the variety of learners in the classroom (Tomlinson, 2015). There are other implications of how academic achievement and motivation are increased through a student-centered environment, but most importantly, academically responsive instruction targets gifted and talented students (Tomlinson et al., 2003). According to research, current school reforms have required teachers to adjust their instruction to ensure all students have equity in access to high-quality learning, and teachers must differentiate instruction to meet the diverse needs of the students (Tomlinson, 2015; Tomlinson et al., 2003).

While there exists a wide variance of learning abilities, readiness, interests, and learning preferences found in the general education classroom, teachers feel that it is difficult to address all student needs for curriculum access (Tomlinson, 2015). Effective classroom practices need to include elements of curricular differentiation and an instructional design that is individualized for the various levels of readiness, interests, and learning preferences (Godor, 2019). However, due to legislation, teachers feel more comfortable focusing on scaffolding the instruction to meet the academic needs of the low-leveled learners, and often do not know how to address the needs of the gifted and talented students (Tomlinson et al., 2003). There must be an increase in teacher competency in differentiating instruction to challenge gifted students. Unfortunately, the lack of

challenge present in the classroom is dependent on teachers' perceptions of their ability to differentiate instruction to include rigorous and challenging lessons based on the students' learning preferences (Tomlinson et al., 2003). Additionally, there is a need to increase teacher proficiency in modifying the curriculum and instruction to address the needs of gifted students without neglecting other students in the classroom (Tomlinson, 2015).

Differentiation Framework

There needs to be a shift and adjustments made to current classroom practices to meet the gifted students' level of knowledge, understanding, and skill development (Callahan et al., 2015; Tomlinson et al., 2003). The use of effective instructional strategies and the integration of advanced curricula will foster gifted and talented students' ability to learn at a rapid pace, and develop content depth and complexity (Callahan et al., 2015). While both the schoolwide enrichment model (Reis & Renzulli, 2009; Renzulli, 1997, 2005, 2012; Renzulli & Reis, 1994, 2012) and accelerated programs enhance student learning, these services are available to all students (Callahan et al., 2015). Since the majority of gifted and talented placement falls in the general education classroom, educators must understand that gifted and talented students often do not require repetition of the content and learn at a faster pace (Karantzas, 2019). Therefore, the curriculum must be differentiated to accommodate these students and prevent boredom (Callahan et al., 2015; Karantzas, 2019; Tomlinson et al., 2003). Differentiated instruction is a research-based model that allows educators to provide the appropriate access to the curriculum for a diverse group of learners (Tomlinson, 2015, 2018; Tomlinson et al., 2003). By focusing attention on students varying needs while planning, educators can deliver high-quality instruction that promotes achievement for all learners, not just the gifted (Tomlinson, 2015).

Gifted students need to be empowered to take control of their learning through discovering the answers to the problems they face and usually perform better through indirect instruction (Horak & Galluzzo, 2017; Merriman, 2012). However, it is important to understand individual strengths and weaknesses through both formative and summative assessments to develop individual goals and objectives that must be addressed through the curriculum and instruction (Tomlinson, 2015). Therefore, educators must plan for learning experiences that have a high level of challenge while providing scaffolding to support the success of all students depending on their strengths and weaknesses (Tomlinson, 2015). Additionally, teachers should plan for lesson extensions that will further challenge gifted learners in a meaningful manner (Tomlinson, 2015). During instruction, educators should provide opportunities both for whole class, individual and small group work to make the instruction more personalized as well as address individual goals that promote academic growth (Tomlinson, 2015).

However, the time to plan differentiated lessons and strategize with co-teachers and specialists about additional support for students is limited (Collinson & Cook, 2001; Merritt, 2016). While teachers feel planning time is limited, the conceptual framework provides a lesson planning structure to maximize planning time (Merritt, 2016; Tomlinson, 2015). This framework is the foundation of instructional planning that includes clarity on the most important knowledge and skills students demonstrate at the end of the lesson (Tomlinson, 2015). By narrowing down the most important skills and concepts, educators can plan coursework that focuses students on understanding the content, challenging the depth of content knowledge, and the transferability of learning (Tomlinson, 2015).

The Gap in the Literature

In 2020 (Adedoyin & Soykan, 2020), the COVID-19 pandemic forced many schools to change their instructional practices. For many students, face-to-face instruction transformed into a virtual environment as students were forced to learn from home (Sepulveda-Escobar & Morrison, 2020; Sweetman, 2021). Teachers, who only taught in the in-person environment, were forced to create both engaging synchronous and asynchronous lessons that were equivalent to in-person experiences (Sweetman, 2021). Despite this forceful shift, educators understood that it is important to improve student learning experiences no matter the platform of instruction given (Sepulveda-Escobar & Morrison, 2020; Sweetman, 2021). However, prior to the pandemic, teachers were already challenged to meet the diverse needs presented in the integrated classroom (Howley et al., 2009; Tomlinson, 2015; Tournaki, 2003).

The virtual learning environment describes the methods in which course materials and instruction are delivered through computer-mediated communications software (Potts, 2019). Additionally, the virtual classroom environment usually features in-district e-mail, video conferencing tools, and class homepages that house discussion boards, assignments, assessments, multimedia resources, file upload areas, calendars, and a navigable interface (Potts, 2019). Through this online classroom space, curriculum and instruction can be delivered in both synchronous and asynchronous formats (Velichová et al., 2020). More importantly, teachers play an essential role in online instruction including the means of content delivery through technological means, the organization and management of teaching and learning, and the communication with learners (Velichová et al., 2020). Successful virtual instruction is learner-centered and allows for greater student engagement (Velichová et al., 2020). However, the virtual environment has its challenges including promoting student engagement and declining intrinsic and extrinsic motivation to learn due to distractions at home, social-

emotional well-being, lack of engagement, and feedback required for learning (Adedoyin & Soykan, 2020; American Psychological Association, 2020; Chen & Tseng, 2012; Sepulveda-Escobar & Morrison, 2020; Velichová et al., 2020). While students prefer frequent interactions with classmates and the teacher during online instruction, the virtual environment lacks a variety of social opportunities that promote student engagement and motivation (Velichová et al., 2020).

Therefore, the recent pandemic has forced a shift in content delivery to virtual instruction, and gifted and talented students pose a greater risk for underachievement if instruction lacks challenge and task meaningfulness (Adelodun, 2017; Pots & Pots, 2017; Sawchuk & Sparks, 2020) . It is important to understand that this change in the classroom environment caused students to achieve below their capabilities even if they have historically demonstrated high self-efficacy and motivation in the face-to-face environment (Horak & Galluzzo, 2017; Peterson & Colangelo, 1996; Ridgley et al., 2020; Steenbergen-Hu et al., 2020). Teachers need to understand their role in promoting student self-efficacy and motivation, by ensuring the classroom environment provides stability, support, and the appropriate level of challenge to meet their cognitive needs (Smedsrud, 2018). Moreover, students' self-efficacy and intrinsic motivation increase when students perceive their teachers' motivational behaviors positively and improve their performance (Strati et al., 2017; You et al., 2016). Studies show that if the teacher demonstrates positive motivation behaviors, students are more likely to demonstrate higher self-efficacy and achievement (Strati et al., 2017; You et al., 2016).

While both digital and distant learning has been around for several years, the pandemic has caused many teachers to change the method in which they deliver instruction which may cause a variance in teacher self-efficacy and positive motivation behaviors (Adedoyin & Soykan, 2020; Richmond et al., 2020; Velichová et al., 2020). Additionally, this shift exposed many instructional challenges (Adedoyin & Soykan, 2020; Richmond et al., 2020; Velichová et al., 2020). Unfortunately, teacher self-efficacy towards planning synchronous and asynchronous lessons limit the amount of instructional differentiation (Sweetman, 2021). Additionally, these educators experienced a learning curve as they developed engaging lessons that were equivalent to or improved the learning experiences taught face-to-face (Sepulveda-Escobar & Morrison, 2020; Sweetman, 2021). Before the pandemic, teachers were already challenged to meet the diverse needs presented in the integrated classroom (Howley et al., 2009; Tomlinson, 2015; Tournaki, 2003), however, the virtual learning environment provides new methods to integrate the curriculum with engaging and challenging experiences that can further enhance instruction (Sweetman, 2021).

The virtual learning environment provides ways to integrate the curriculum with engaging and challenging experiences that can improve both remote learning and in-person instruction for gifted students (Sweetman, 2021). However, the shared experiences among teachers using differentiated instruction through a remote learning platform to challenge the gifted population has not been explored. While there has been previous quantitative research that concludes and/or endorses differentiated instruction to excel all students in the face-to-face instructional environment, very little qualitative research has been conducted concerning virtual learning (Freedberg et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2011; Manuel & Freiman, 2017; Mikropoulos & Natsis, 2011; Mulrine, 2007). Building and benefiting from these existing studies and theories, it is important to understand what works in gifted education, especially in the virtual classroom environment (Callahan et al., 2015). Both the role of online distant learning and the long-term impacts of virtual learning are unknown and are of great interest to the field of education. The potential for virtual classrooms to meet the needs of gifted students has made online learning important to investigate. This transcendental phenomenology sought to explicate the lived experiences among teachers to improve instruction in the virtual inclusive classroom in terms of curricular rigor and level of challenge present. Furthermore, this information can be used by educators to either improve online gifted education or discover new opportunities for gifted learners.

The phenomenon that exists within the Maryland Public School System, regarding the transition to virtual instruction, has placed gifted and talented students at a greater risk for underachievement. This is primarily due to the lack of challenge presented in the inclusive classroom. The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to elucidate teachers' experiences challenging gifted and talented middle school students to prevent underachievement during distant learning. While federal law recognizes that gifted and talented students require services or activities that are not ordinarily provided by the school system (National Association For Gifted Children, 2015; Wright's Law, 2015), Maryland Public Schools does not recognize gifted and talented student accommodations, except for twiceexceptional students who hold an IEP, during the regular school hours. Unfortunately, under federal law schools are not mandated to provide the necessary programs or provide the necessary accommodations for these students (National Association For Gifted Children, 2020; Zirkel, 2009). Additionally, provided programming and gifted and talented enrichment services are held after school hours. These programs, including enrichment opportunities, help these students excel both socially and academically. While in school honors classes and accelerated classes are offered, they are not limited to just the gifted population. Gifted and talented students, despite being categorized as exceptional, require services not offered by the school district to fully develop social, cognitive, and leadership capabilities (No Child Left Behind Act of 2002,

Title IX, Part A, Section 9101(22), p. 544). Recognizing this, the state of Maryland has enacted COMAR, 13A.04.07 (Maryland State Department of Education, 2019). This law directs local school districts with the course necessary for identifying gifted and talented students, developing, and implementing gifted and talented programs and services essential for these students to reach their full potential. Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, schools were allowed to instate liaisons or certified gifted and talented specialists to begin working towards state compliancy under COMAR (Maryland State Department of Education, 2019). As of September 1, 2019, each school district in the state of Maryland must report their consolidation of Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) to ensure gifted and talented students are receiving the necessary services (Maryland State Department of Education, 2019). However, to be compliant with this law, schools must provide afterschool enrichment activities in the areas in which they use to identify gifted and talented students, usually mathematics and English language arts (Maryland State Department of Education, 2019).

However, students who are classified as gifted have different pedagogical needs and the curriculum must be consistent with their abilities, but these needs are not always met in the mainstream classroom (Tomlinson, 2015). More importantly, all students have the right to learn and achieve their potential, and the educational system should provide gifted students with that opportunity (Srinivasan, 2021). With the understanding that diverse learning styles exist in the classroom, teachers must create an environment that provides all students with unique opportunities for success which is often a challenge using a virtual platform (Tomlinson, 2015).

Current issues in gifted and talented education suggest that when gifted students lack engagement and challenge, they achieve below their potential. Even if gifted students possess adequate self-regulation skills and are intrinsically motivated to achieve academic success. Additionally, self-efficacy and motivation do not always indicate students are reaching their potential (Ritchotte et al., 2014). However, by differentiating the curriculum, educators can vary the level of challenge to ensure students are navigating through the learning processes and striving to reach their potential. Furthermore, the shared experiences among educators concerning advancing gifted and talented students without neglecting other students will provide the local school district insight into the current problem and develop possible solutions to provide equitable instruction for all students. Therefore, this current study demonstrates a high probability that curriculum differentiation has a positive effect on challenging gifted students using the virtual platform and will provide insight into teacher self-efficacy and the delivery of instruction using these methods.

Summary

In summary, the literature addresses what is known about the phenomenon of teaching gifted and talented students. Both Bandura's (1986, 1997) self-efficacy theory and McClelland's (1988) achievement-motivation theory have laid the foundation in gifted and talented research. Both Bandura's (1986) and McClelland's (1988) theories emphasize vital elements in the curriculum and instruction development for gifted students. Bandura's (1986) self-efficacy theory explains how teachers' self-perceptions could alter the effectiveness of the lesson. The perceived differences among teachers can directly affect the amount of effort students expend on learning activities. Additionally, McClelland's (1988) achievement-motivation Theory explains how gifted students perceive success differently in a virtual environment.

While gifted and talented individuals exhibit evidence of intellectual, creative, artistic, or leadership achievement capability that is above their peers, many states, including Maryland, do not provide push in and pull-out services during school hours, even if the gifted student was identified in elementary school (Wrights Law, 2015). IDEA (Section 1481) does recognize the need for services or enrichment opportunities that are not ordinarily provided by general education. While not all schools have developed enrichment programs, it is up to the individual teacher to ensure these students are academically challenged and are motivated in the inclusive classroom (Tomlinson, 2018). Studies suggest that when the curriculum and instruction are differentiated to meet the needs of gifted students, engagement increases (Riley et al., 2017). On the other hand, if students are not challenged and supported through a rigorous curriculum, students will lose interest in school (Young et al., 2019).

Current research has explored teacher sense of efficacy working with gifted and talented students, as well as, their attitudes and beliefs, which are linked to teacher expertise and teaching practices (Akgül, 2021, Camci-Erdogan, 2015; Olthouse, 2013). Effective strategies and practices for teaching gifted students have been supported by the research to increase achievement in integrated classrooms where gifted and talented students are present and should be considered when studying the experiences of teachers working with this population (Callahan et al., 2015; Collinson & Cook, 2001; Karantzas, 2019; Merritt, 2016; Taylor, 2016; Tomlinson, 2015).

The literature supports differentiation as a classroom model that can be used to design instruction to meet the diverse needs present in the inclusive classroom and support a learnercentered environment (Tomlinson, 2015, 2018; Tomlinson et al., 2003). However, even though this model provides a framework for planning instruction, teachers express the difficulty in providing appropriate levels of challenge, autonomy, and interest in learning activities to meet the needs of their diverse classes without accessing extra support (Ludicke et al., 2019). While the review of the literature supports differentiation within the virtual classroom to properly challenge gifted and talented students, the research is missing the voice of middle school teachers describing what they are experiencing in planning and implementing differentiated lessons and assessments for gifted students through online instruction. Currently, the shared experiences of teachers using differentiated instruction through a remote learning platform to challenge the gifted population have not been explored and the long-term impacts of virtual learning are unknown. The potential for virtual classrooms to meet the needs of gifted students has made online learning a topic of great interest in gifted education, and it is important to investigate the shared experiences among teachers and the challenges to teach gifted and talented students enrolled in the inclusive classroom through online instruction, especially in terms of curricular rigor and level of challenge present. Furthermore, this information could be used by educators to either improve online gifted education or discover new opportunities for gifted learners. This study may provide more insight into the phenomenon to help prepare teachers to increase the achievement of gifted students, strengthen school and district gifted programming, and support teacher education programs for identifying and supporting the gifted learner.

Chapter Three will provide the reader with an explanation, the foundation, and the use of phenomenological research methodology in this study. The chapter will provide an in-depth explanation of all facets of the research process.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to explicate the lived experiences of core academic middle school teachers with differentiating instruction and assessment for gifted learners in a virtual environment in rural Maryland. This chapter explains the research design and the research questions. The chapter also explains the setting, participants, and the procedures that were followed when conducting the research. The role of the researcher will be discussed, as well as, a detailed description of the data collection methods using, face-toface interviews, journal prompts, and document analysis. Chapter Three provides the reader with an understanding of the types of data that was be collected, the strategies utilized for data collection, and the analysis procedures to ensure the replication of the study. The chapter will conclude with information on the methods to ensure trustworthiness, credibility, dependability, confirmability, transferability, ethical considerations in the proposed research, and data collection resulting in a discussion of the analysis procedures and a chapter summary.

Research Design

Capturing and learning from the experiences of others not only provides insight for understanding but also allows for the researcher to approach and engage with a complex phenomenon (Farrell, 2020). Phenomenology, as a philosophy and approach to research, is centered on the human experience (Farrell, 2020 Stolz, 2020). Additionally, a transcendental phenomenological approach to research in the field of education is an underrepresented method of conducting qualitative research (Farrell, 2020; Neubauer et al., 2019). However, this qualitative approach is the best fit for describing the essence of a phenomenon and the experiences of the individuals that have experienced it (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Neubauer et al., 2019). According to Creswell and Poth (2018), the phenomenological approach describes a common meaning between individuals who share the lived experiences with a concept or phenomenon. While subjective, evidence was obtained from the participants, and each participant had an opportunity to report their own experience (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Therefore, capturing commonalities from individual experiences within a group of educators, and providing insight to further understand the essence of the experience. Therefore, to study the experiences of core academic middle school teachers with differentiating instruction and assessment for gifted and talented students through a virtual platform, this research was conducted using qualitative research. The general research design was phenomenological, and the specific design was transcendental phenomenology (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Marshall & Rossman, 2015; Maxwell, 2012; Stolz, 2020).

An educational phenomenon occurred in the spring of 2020 when Maryland teachers were mandated to teach students using a virtual platform regardless of their technological experiences due to the Covid-19 pandemic (Maryland State Department of Education, 2020). While districts provided professional development and virtual training, teachers were charting in new territory (Maryland State Department of Education, 2020). As the government was shutting down brick and mortar school buildings, virtual classrooms were open for distance learning.

While the long-term effects of this worldwide pandemic on education are yet to be determined, a need to collect teachers' experience is of high importance in the field of education. Furthermore, it is important to capture and describe the experiences of teachers within the Maryland Public School System regarding gifted and talented enrichment and online instruction. The transition to synchronous instruction due to the recent pandemic placed many gifted and talented students at risk for underachievement due to the lack of challenge presented in the online environment. Due to the nature of individual experiences including both intrinsic and extrinsic motivation, a Phenomenological approach was the best fit method for this study. Furthermore, as illustrated by Moustakas (1994), a researcher can obtain a more in-depth understanding of the phenomenon by reducing the information collected to a textural description (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Therefore, by using a qualitative research approach, the experience of differentiating lessons to challenge gifted students during the recent pandemic can be better understood. Additionally, insight into the challenges of delivering differentiated lessons through a virtual platform can be explained. By using transcendental phenomenological methods to capture gifted teachers' experiences through interviews, observations, and documentation, an indepth explanation of the phenomena is presented (Colaizzi, 1978). Additionally, the use of a transcendental phenomenological approach not only consists of identifying a phenomenon and collecting data from several individuals who have experienced it, but it also includes bracketing experiences to find common themes among the experiences (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019).

Using a transcendental phenomenological approach, this study sought to explicate teachers' lived experiences challenging and preventing gifted and talented underachievement in middle school students while providing instruction virtually in a rural southern Maryland school. Experiences were bracketed in both the same content, as well as, cross-curricular courses. Using Clark Moustakas's *Phenomenological Research Methods (1994)*, the researcher describes the shared experiences with this phenomenon and reduced the information collected through bracketing to a textural description so that the phenomena can be presented. Using this research method, the problem of gifted and talented students not being adequately challenged is explained using teachers' experiences to develop a detailed understanding of the phenomena that exist in southern Maryland (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). The methodological aspects of the study
include observation, interviews, documentation, and reports from the philosophical assumptions that differentiated lessons and/or self-pacing instruction increases student self-efficacy that could result in the prevention of gifted underachievement, especially for the southern Maryland school district.

Research Questions

To explicate the essence of the lived experiences among core academic instructors the when the curriculum and instruction are differentiated during synchronous instruction to target and challenge the gifted learner in the general education classroom, the following research questions were answered.

Central Research Question

What are the shared lived experiences among select middle school, core academic, teachers when differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners in southern Maryland during virtual instruction?

Sub-Question One

How do the participants describe their sense of self-efficacy to differentiate instruction to meet the cognitive demands of the gifted and talented learner virtually?

Sub-Question Two

How do participants describe their attitudes and beliefs about differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners?

Setting and Participants

This study was conducted in ten integrated classrooms in two rural middle schools in Southern Maryland. With this school district being in a Transient area, many families enroll in this school district with their students not being tested for services. Unfortunately, the gifted and talented students have been an overlooked demographic in this area for a while, and many students are not identified. Additionally, there is underrepresentation in many minority groups as well. While there is not an established gifted and talented program, the district has begun to offer enrichment opportunities for gifted students, but these programs are in the developing stages. These factors as well as its geographic location made this an ideal location for this study. The study took place in ten inclusive classrooms in which teachers are asked to present gifted students with differentiated instruction to engage and challenge them. The lived experience of this challenge were explored.

Site

The sites consisted of the two largest out of six middle schools in the district and represents a diverse community of students, teachers, and socioeconomic classes. While these schools consist of a diverse population, they do not qualify as Title 1 schools. The Southern Maryland School District (SMCD) is a small rural district, and serves approximately 16,000 students and 2,100 employees (Maryland State Department of Education, 2020). Due to its location to major cities, the northern portion of the school district was the site of interest due to its high mobility rate and contains the highest gifted student populations. While three other small towns feed into these schools, this area of the district consists of one small town that houses two of the districts largest middle schools enroll approximately 700 students and have 70 employees on staff (Maryland State Department of Education, 2020). Additionally, there is a wide range of demographics among the students, including those with disabilities, impoverished, privileged, and gifted. Currently, the ethnic group breakdown is 3% Asian, 9% African American, 4% Hispanic, 8% Multiracial, 1% Native American/Pacific Islander, and 79%

Caucasian students (Maryland State Department of Education, 2020). 25% of these students receive accommodations through individualized plans or 504s, and over 10% of students come from military families with more students having families with other government associations. Students who have been identified as gifted and talented only account for 17% of the school population (Maryland State Department of Education, 2020; Maryland State Department of Education, & Maryland Advisory Council on Gifted and Talented Education, 2020). In the school district, there are approximately 40 identified gifted and talented students in each middle school, except for the schools of interest that have overextended the average and serve over 100 gifted and talented students. These students are integrated into all classrooms including co-taught classrooms. At the site level, the school administration at each is comprised of one principal, one assistant principal, and a dean of students. Each school operates on a content area leadership organization where the members of the instructional leadership team and administration meet regularly to make instructional decisions. Teachers share in the decision-making through their department representation in professional learning communities (PLC).

Currently, one of the schools shares the same campus as a local high school. This allows academically advanced students to take courses above grade level and receive high school credit. Although there is not an official gifted and talented program instituted in either of the schools, the school district offers gifted and talented after-school enrichment programs and accelerated math courses. Students identified as gifted at this school took the CogAT test in the second grade. However due to the transient nature of this school MAP testing, grades, and teacher recommendations are used for identifying gifted students as well (Maryland State Department of Education, 2020). While the state of Maryland does not currently offer push-in or pull-out services for these students, a school-based liaison is present at the school to help support both the

teachers and students. However, the state is requiring that enrichment opportunities are provided by the individual schools (Maryland State Department of Education, 2020).

Table 1:

Site Demographics

Site Data								
Site Name	Student Poputlation	Employment	Student teacher ratio	Number of Identified Gifted Students (2021)	Number of Identified Gifted Students (2022)	Percent of the Student Population		
Site 1	672	37	18.2	107	149	16.00%		
Site 2	622	38	16.4	84	136	13.50%		

Demographics/Site									
Site Name	American Indian/Alaska Native	Asian	Black	Hispanic	Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander	White	Two or MoreRaces	Free/reduced Lunch	
Site 1	1	15	62	26	2	510	56	72	
Site 2	0	14	48	38	-	457	64	72	

Participants

The purposeful criterion-based sample was drawn from two middle schools in southern Maryland described in the setting section of this proposal. Purposeful sampling is a common method used in qualitative research and allows the researcher to locate participants with experiences with the phenomenon to be studied (Creswell, 2015). For this study, the participants had at least one year of experience teaching gifted students in virtual classrooms on the middle school's level; therefore, the criterion was established. The use of criterion sampling was appropriate to ensure that the participants met the criteria in their experiences (Creswell, 2015). Criterion sampling was conducted by contacting the principal to obtain permission to email a request to participate to all teachers in the school and asked them to complete a survey of their demographics, including years of teaching experience and experience working with gifted students. Purposeful criterion-based sampling is appropriate for this phenomenological qualitative research as participants will be chosen for their relevance to the research question and the analytical framework proposed by the research (Schwandt, 2015).

Table 2

Participant Demographics

Age	Gender	Race/Ethnicity	Education	Years of Experience	Years Working with Gifted Student	Currently Working with Gifted Students
36-45	Female	White	Bachelors, Master	10 to 15	3	Yes
46-55	Female	White	Bachelors, Master	20 to 25	22	Yes
46-55	Female	White	Bachelors, Masters	20 to 25	21	Yes
46-55	Male	White	Bachelors, Masters	15 to 20	16	Yes
46-55	Male	White	Bachelors, Masters, Educational Specialist	20 to 25	21	No
46-55	Female	White	Bachelors, Masters	30 to 35	32	Yes
46-55	Female	White	Bachelors, Masters	20 to 25	20	Yes
36-45	Female	White	Bachelors, Masters	10 to 15	15	Yes
46-55	Female	White	Bachelors, Masters	15 to 20	20	Yes
36-45	Male	White	Bachelors, Masters	15 to 20	18	Yes

Participant selection took place until maximum variation and data saturation were

achieved with between 5 to 25 participants (Creswell, 2013). Since the purpose of the research study is to represent the population and ensure the diversity of the sample, the sample size was between 10 participants. This was an adequate number as the recommended sampling size for phenomenological qualitative research is between 10 and 15 participants (Creswell, 2013). Additionally, having 10 participants for data collection accounted for attrition. However, ensuring that the participants have rich experiences to contribute to the study was more important (Fusch & Ness, 2015). By selecting 10 educators who taught both co-taught, general education courses, as well as advanced level courses, a better representation of all student levels was presented. However, for purposes of this study, the selection of teachers who have experience with the phenomenon using purposeful criterion-based sampling and the creation of probing research questions allowed for data saturation to be attained.

Researcher Positionality

The motivation for this research was to investigate the perceived level of challenge among gifted students in a general education setting and understand how to push these students to reach their cognitive potential. After receiving my Master's in Education, I began working in low-income schools in Alabama and Massachusetts. Serving as a member of the Instructional Leadership Team and working with the state board of education, I became passionate about differentiating instruction to meet the diverse needs of students. Working over 15 years as a classroom science teacher in both the public and private sectors, I worked with special educators to ensure the instruction is differentiated to meet the diverse needs of learners in the classroom. However, I noticed school districts were not interested in pushing students ahead, but rather closing learning gaps.

While teaching both high school and middle school science, I experienced positive results

while implementing inquiry-based learning in the classroom such as project-based learning. After realizing that all students were engaged and eager for class, I began to develop and implement differentiated lessons that promoted gifted and talented advancement without leaving the students with learning disabilities behind. This discovery created a passion not only for the gifted learner but for the discovery of research and methods that would further benefit these students during instructional time.

Additionally, working as the gifted and talented liaison, I quickly realized that my peers did not know the students identified as gifted and talented, nor did they have the awareness of gifted underachievement. To add to this problem, the state of Maryland does not offer or recognize gifted and talented services during regular school hours unless the student has an identified learning disability. At the beginning of the year, teachers are provided with vital information on how to accommodate instruction for both students with 504s and IEPs, however, they are not told which students are gifted or how to modify instruction to meet their needs. Unfortunately, teachers in my district must conduct classroom observations to receive information on other students' abilities before the institution of school liaisons. While current state test scores provide information on students' abilities per content area, they do not provide a holistic view. According to Maryland law, students are tested and identified during elementary school before third grade and then retested between third and fifth grade and between sixth and ninth grade. Additionally, teachers receive training concerning how to scaffold instruction to provide equitable access to students with IEPs, but they do not receive training on how to differentiate instruction to push gifted and talented students forward. As a leader in my school, I have worked with both gifted and talented students and their teachers to ensure curriculum and instruction are challenging and rigorous to meet their needs. I have been developing after-school

enrichment curricula that not only accelerate the gifted learner but have been adopted by my district to be implemented as a required program for GATE (Gifted and Talented Enrichment). I am passionate about gifted learners and accelerating students to reach their potential.

Interpretive Framework

Considering both my scientific background and passion for the gifted and talented population, my metatheatrical stance and research approaches are grounded in post-positivism. Post-positivism is a metatheoretical view that accounts for the researcher's theories, background, knowledge, and values that can influence what is observed and studied (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Using this approach, I was a data collection instrument and not an expert to achieve a holistic view of the shared phenomenon. I believe that using this approach, I increased my knowledge concerning the phenomenon, while taking a neutral stance when conducting observations and interviews (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Furthermore, I assumed that in this current study there is a probability that curriculum differentiation will provide the necessary challenge and reveal positive perceptions and experiences for the gifted student population (Tomlinson, 2015, 2018). It also made me aware of my potential biases that would impede on discovering the truth. Additionally, as a Christian, I will also approach this research with a Biblical worldview. A biblical worldview framework is based on the infallible Word of God, from which Christians, view reality and make sense of life and the world (Tackett, 2006). It is important to know that I believe in absolute truth, and by conducting research using a Biblical worldview, I can discover what is real and true (Tackett, 2006). It is for these reasons, I see that there is one truth, but in this qualitative study, it was important to understand how everyone's perspectives contribute to understanding this phenomenon. Therefore, it was important that as the researcher, I captured the meanings, experiences, and perceptions of each of the participants in this particular study to

understand the truth.

Philosophical Assumptions

The philosophical postulations that I bring to this study are best described through social constructionism. Through this study, I assumed that every individual I interviewed has thoughts, interpretations, and meanings (Creswell & Poth, 2018). These views of the phenomenon are critical to understanding and constructing the meaning of why this situation exists. I acknowledge that my own experiences with this phenomenon do shape my interpretation of understanding the views of others, but as a researcher, I took an unbiased approach and admit my own biases (Creswell & Poth, 2018) Through the use of both interviews and journal prompts, I captured teachers' experiences towards gifted education and their perceptions of challenging these students online using differentiated instruction. While subjective evidence was obtained from the participants, each participant had an opportunity to report their own experience (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Additionally, I relied on the thoughts and feelings of these individuals as evidence, however, due to my background, I was viewed more like a colleague to the participants instead of a researcher (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Using a Social Constructivism interpretive framework, interviews and journal prompts presented the multiple experiences of teachers to understand the central phenomenon (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Marsh, 2010).

Ontological Assumption

Although, I used a Social Constructivism interpretive framework in which multiple realities are constructed through our lived experiences and interactions with others, as a Christian I believe that there is one singular reality and that is God's truth (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Marsh, 2010). While the human understanding of truth is imperfect and often mistaken as multiple truths, God explains in his word that He is "the way the truth and the life" (John 14:6, New International Version). While in this study, the individual realities of the experience showed that there are multiple realities, but as the researcher, I believe there is one central truth. It is through understanding and piecing together the lived experiences and interactions of the individual participants, their multiple realities became a lens to explain the one central truth.

Epistemological Assumption

In this study, knowledge is subjective and obtained through the lived experiences of the participants and their interactions with the phenomenon. While knowledge is constructed between the researcher and the researched, it was my goal to create a completely unbiased study in which my experiences are not relevant to the process or the outcomes (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Therefore, the acquisition of knowledge of challenging gifted students and the use of virtual instruction is a subjective process, one that can be measured through teacher experience, and that measurement and subjective report is reliable and useful knowledge to the field of education. The knowledge gained through the shared experiences of professional educators, who are considered experts in their field, provide valuable insight for further research concerning this phenomenon (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Axiological Assumption

The measurements for challenging exceptional students and virtual instruction are subjectively inform by both Bandura's (1986) social cognitive and McClelland's (1988) achievement-motivation theories. Both are valuable to understand in the field of gifted education. Being once identified as being exceptional, a parent of a gifted student, and a teacher of remarkable students, I am unapologetic about my belief that this population of students are underrepresented in schools today and are often not challenged to reach their fullest potential. While these are biases that I recognize, I did my best to keep them from influencing the outcome of this study. In this study, I understood that it is important not to allow my predispositions to keep me from effectively seeking the truth, bracketing data of the information gathered, or communicating the results and findings.

Researcher's Role

As the researcher, my role in qualitative research is critical for the collection data and implementation of the analysis of the data (Creswell, 2015; Merriam, 2002; Miles & Huberman, 1994). Therefore, my role in this study was that of an observer-as-participant, as I was the primary instrument of data collection and analysis. Data collected from interviews, observations, and questionnaires uncovered the emerging concepts and patterns of teachers' experiences. Thus, I recognized the potential for bias on my part, which could impact the outcome of the study, that made this a very challenging balancing act of being objective and nonjudgmental in my thoughts, observations, and actions. That potential bias, though cognitive, is due to my experiences teaching and ensuring equitable instruction for gifted and talented students in my 15 years of teaching experience.

Nonetheless, this could also have aided me in my data collection, inductive analysis, and understanding of the process and phenomena being studied, as it is something that needs to be truly experienced before having the ability to write about. That is why the use of time interval observations, bracketing field notes, and memos were vital in reporting and analyzing the data. In addition, I kept a personal journal to document my thoughts and feelings through the whole process, which was used to further document the relationship I have with the data and analysis. Furthermore, using the process of member checking aided with controlling researcher bias.

Procedures

Prior to conducting this study, my proposal was defended and approval to conduct this study was obtained from the Liberty University and the Institutional Review Board. Additionally, permission to conduct research was obtained from the schools and the school district. After confirming district approval, the site was contacted to elicit participants for the study. Purposeful criterion-based sampling was utilized to obtain participants who have experience teaching gifted students in core academic classes at the middle school level for at least one year remotely. This was achieved through requesting permission to send an email invitation to all teachers at the school, which included a demographic and experience level survey through Microsoft Forms. Criterion-based sampling is essential to phenomenology as it is necessary to have participants who have experienced the phenomena (Creswell, 2015; Moustakas, 1994; Stolz, 2020).

Research protocols were followed for working with adult volunteers. Selected middle school teachers were then contacted by the researcher via e-mail and formal letter, using an approved letter of interest inviting them to participate. Teachers who exhibited an interest in the study were contacted for a second time to set up an interview at their convenience through Microsoft Teams. Prior to the interview, consent forms were obtained from the participants before they contributed in the study (see Appendix C). The consent letter explained the purpose of the study, including known risks, and explained participants were allowed to withdraw from the study at any time without any consequence from the researcher.

To maintain privacy participants' names and the school were replaced with a pseudonym names. Records were kept confidential and placed in a location only accessible to the researcher. Lastly, the informed consent was kept in a separate location from the interview transcriptions. Additionally, data was collected through interviews, documents, and journals. Data from interviews, documents, and journals were used to provide an overall picture of the phenomena. The data concerning the shared experiences provided insight to elicit an understanding of the teachers' perceptions of challenges during a virtual lesson.

Interviews were recorded and transcribed for analysis purposes. Transcriptions and recordings were kept confidential and were stored on a password-protected zip drive that is only accessible to the researcher. After the interview were complete, volunteers were asked if they have any documents that will help provide vital information to this study. They were also provided with journal prompts questions that they submitted to the researcher electronically. Journal prompts wer designed to help participants reflect on teaching students in an online format.

Documents were collected after participants engaged in the interview. While, the participants were not currently teaching virtually, lesson plans, PLC (Profession Learning Community) notes, and professional development transcripts were collected to show the levels of differentiation, entry points, and extensions in the lesson to allow for a challenge. While lesson plans were not obtained by the participants, the planning for differentiated lessons was discussed in the interviews. Additionally, teacher interviews were conducted to determine if gifted students are receiving the appropriate level of challenge. Through open-ended questions, answers were bracketed to determine teachers' perception of challenge during synchronous lessons. Additional data from documents and journals were used to provide an overall picture of the phenomena. Furthermore, the data collected was used to piece together the shared experiences of the

educators and provided insight to elicit an understanding of how to challenge the gifted learner in a virtual format.

Additionally, while classroom observations could not be conducted retrospectively, a documents analysis provided a glimpse into the overall experience, and provided insight into whether virtual instruction provides adequate levels of challenge for the gifted learner. Both documents and journal prompts were used as a comparison tool while analyzing the interview transcripts to capture the essence of the phenomena and the lived experiences.

Data analysis was continual throughout the data collection process (Miles & Huberman, 1994). As interviews were completed, a professional transcriptionist transcribed them. Ongoing analysis using open coding was conducted to allow the experiences of the interviews to remain fresh for the researcher. Themes were developed using MAXQDA qualitative data analysis software. Once all data was transcribed, investigated, and coded, final data analysis and member checking was conducted, and the results reported (Creswell, 2013). This method of analysis allowed the researcher to take descriptions of the experience and analyze them for significant phrases, develop meaning and cluster them into themes to present an exhaustive description of the phenomenon and determine commonalities of the lived experiences.

Permissions

Prior to conducting this study, approval from the Liberty University and the Institutional Review Board to conduct research was obtained (see Appendix A). Additionally, permission to conduct research was obtained from the school and the school district (See Appendix B). Research protocols were followed for working with adult volunteers. In addition, each participant signed an informed consent form was obtained prior to participating in the study (see Appendix C).

Recruitment Plan

This study sought to explicate the lived experiences of middle school teachers in a rural school district in southern Maryland. Currently, the schools selected to study have less than 40 classroom educators that prepare lessons or have prepared lessons to provide synchronous online instruction to the exceptional learner. For this study, 10 participants were selected through criterion-based sampling which accounts for, 7.5% of the population. The researcher contacted the identified middle school teachers via e-mail and formal letter, using an approved letter of interest to invite them to be a part of this study. Teachers who exhibited an interest in the study were contacted for a second time to set up an interview at their convenience via Microsoft teams. Teachers who responded, no more than fifteen teachers representing every grade level, content area, as well as the ethnic and gender diversity present in this group of teachers were selected (Creswell & Poth, 2018). By selecting 10, general classroom educators who teach gifted and talented students maximum variation sampling will occur based on these criteria (Creswell, 2015). Prior to participating, volunteers received an Informed Consent Form (Appendix F) that explained the purpose of the study, outlined their rights as participants including the right to withdraw, and informed the participants that they will be treated ethically throughout the study. Letter and consent paperwork was emailed to teachers who meet the criterion of teaching gifted students through online instruction. Given the nature of qualitative research, participants were given pseudonyms.

Data Collection Plan

For purposes of triangulation, three methods of data collection were used in this study, interviews, document collection, and journaling. The data collection procedures for this study followed the recommendations of established qualitative researchers (Erlandson et al., 1993;

Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Miles et al., 2014; Patton & McMahon, 2014). Qualitative data from other documents captured the planning phase of differentiated lessons. Since classroom observations could not be conducted in retrospect, copies of documentation provided insight into teaching practices. Documents included collaborative planning documentation, professional development transcripts and professional learning community (PLC) notes. Additionally, Interviews were conducted to capture teacher experiences of differentiating instruction using a virtual platform. While classroom observations would have given a glimpse of the overall experience, the interviews provided perceptions of the overall phenomena. Lastly, journal prompts provided the participants time to reflect on their experiences. Additionally, the use of journal prompts allowed participants to draft, edit, and submit responses which will enrich the perspectives because they were more reflective in their responses.

Individual Interviews Data Collection Approach

The first step of this study was to employ individual semi-constructive interviews (Gall et al., 2007). Before the interview began, the purpose of the study and the interview was defined, and verbal compliance was obtained. Interviewees were also be thanked for their participation in this study. Teachers participated in individual interviews based on experience. These interviews provided insight into experiences during the phenomena. All interviews were transcribed from recordings. The following questions are grounded in the literature and aided in providing a holistic picture of the virtual learning experience in terms of perceived motivation and challenge among gifted and talented students.

Individual Interview Questions

1. Please introduce yourself to me, as if we just met one another.

CRQ

2. Please tell me about your classroom role and experience.

CRQ

3. Please describe the cognitive levels in your classroom.

CRQ

- How would you describe your experiences teaching synchronous lessons online?
 SQ1
- 5. Explain your lesson planning process for the online experience?

SQ1

6. Describe your experiences, during on-line instruction, and how would you ensure all your students were reached in a lesson?

SQ1

7. How would you compare student achievement during this experience to that of a face-toface environment?

SQ2

8. Describe a time through virtual instruction in which a student is not reaching their full potential and your reactions to this scenario?

SQ2

- How would you describe a low-performing gifted student in your classroom?
 SQ2
- 10. Describe how you would challenge learners, especially gifted students, in the virtual environment.

CRQ

11. Explain how you make the virtual classroom experience more/less challenging for the gifted learner?

CRQ

12. We have covered a lot of ground in our conversation, and I so appreciate the time you've given to this. I have one final question. What else do you think would be important for me to know about your experiences?

CRQ

Questions one and two are knowledge questions (Cassell, 2015). These questions were designed as background questions to provide insight on previous classroom experiences in which differentiation may or may not have been implemented. While open-ended, these questions were intended to be relatively non-invasive, and ideally served to help develop rapport between the participants and the researcher (Cassell, 2015). These questions could be adjusted as necessary based on participant input and data collected.

Questions three and four addressed the cognitive levels within the classroom as well as planning to meet the diverse needs, especially in the virtual environment (Maslow, 1954). These questions were compared to question two to determine if classroom experience plays a role in planning a more rigorous experience for gifted students. It was also important to ask questions that assisted the participants reflection on their lessons and experience as well as the progress made in examining and evaluating student learning in the virtual platform. While differentiation is a non-directive teaching model which provides teachers with the ability to offer different paths to understanding content, process, and products, appropriate for students' strengths, interests, and learning styles, it was important to determine if it was an established teaching method (Dixon et al., 2014; Parkay et al., 2014). Additionally, educators have the unique ability to differentiate the

instruction and vary the challenge of the task. However, the focus of differentiation is not limited to challenging students intellectually (Horak & Galluzzo, 2017, Tomlinson, 2015). Therefore, these questions were designed to evaluate the planning and implementation of instruction that is differentiated.

Question five through seven invited the participants to reflect on their teaching experiences. While question five invites them to reflect on online teaching, question seven allows participants to compare the experience to the face-to-face environment. Within the instruction, it is important to provide entry points for each student to allow them to access the curriculum (Blackburn, 2018; Manuel & Freiman, 2017). Therefore, it is important to ask question six to determine if teachers are providing the rigor and challenge at the entry point of the lesson and throughout the lesson to reach gifted and talented students. According to McClelland's achievement- motivation theory, a student's behavior and performance are based on the individual's need for achievement (Elbeheri et al., 2018). Therefore, gifted students will be engaged in the lesson due to their need to achieve, and not due to interest in the subject. For this reason, it is important to capture students at the beginning, middle, and end of each lesson. Additionally, intrinsic motivation is influenced by challenge, curiosity, control, fantasy, and relatedness of the content (Freeman et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2011). However, in the virtual classroom, the lack of a challenging curriculum put gifted students at a higher risk to not excel and to tap into their potential (Adelodun, 2017; Pots & Pots, 2017; Sawchuk & Sparks, 2020). Additionally, the virtual environment poses personal obstacles for many students including the gifted (Almukhambetova & Hernández-Torrano, 2020; Ridgley et al., 2020). Students not only need to be motivated and engaged in the curriculum, but they also need to be provided opportunities to grow and contribute socially which can be challenging in a virtual platform due to new stresses including perceived judgment from peers and teachers (Almukhambetova & Hernández-Torrano, 2020; Patrick et al., 2007). Understanding all the factors that may influence the level of challenge or causes of gifted and talented underachievement in the virtual classroom provide educators with insight into how to further modify the curriculum and instruction to meet their individual needs (Maslow, 1954; Ridgley et. al., 2020).

Questions eight through eleven invites the participant to talk more in-depth about the phenomenon of perceived challenge in the classroom. These questions required the participant to open up and vulnerable, and lead to keeping the interview moving along engagingly and yielding valuable data. This is particularly important given the nature of the question that follows. The questions do increase in the degree of vulnerability as teachers are asked how they can challenge students more in the classroom and therefore strategically placed towards the end of the interview. At this time in the interview, a good rapport was established with the participant (Cassell, 2015), and while some participants did not know how to begin to answer these questions, they were willing to share more intimate details about increasing the level of challenge within the virtual classroom (Velichová et al., 2020). Additionally, many general educators do not know how to properly challenge gifted students and scaffold instruction for struggling students simultaneously (Taylor, 2016; Tomlinson, 2015). These questions evaluated teachers' efficacy in this area.

Question number twelve was designed to give the participants a final opportunity to offer valuable insight and served as the closing question (Patton, 2014). This question also provided the participant freedom to add to what has already been said and kept him or her in the role of expert on his or her own experience. This final opportunity was expected to yield a tremendous amount of valuable information.

When asking these questions, the researcher was also prepared to probe further to gain additional data about how they felt about and responded to questions concerning their experiences. These questions were designed to allow teachers to reflect on their experiences teaching remotely while attempting to engage and challenge gifted learners. These questions also invited participants to become an observer, or co-researcher (Cassell, 2015; Creswell & Poth, 2018) and evaluate their experiences. Additionally, these questions provided another way to elicit valuable data and are crafted to help to transition the participants into the role of expert (Cassell, 2015).

Individual Interview Data Analysis Plan

After reviewing and identifying literature as it related to teacher efficacy challenging gifted students in the virtual environment, instructions, guiding questions, and topics needed for the phenomenological semi-constructive research interview were selected (Moustakas, 1994). The nature of an interview provided the construct of knowledge between the researcher and the participant, therefore through individual semi-constructive interviews, the researcher obtained descriptions of the participants' experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Through the interview process, a description and understanding of the phenomena was gained. Therefore, it is important to ensure appropriate capture of the participants' experience, so interviews were recorded and transcribed with the appropriate research software. Transcriptions of the participants' interviews were checked for accuracy (Moustakas, 1994). Additionally, participants were allowed to review individual transcripts for accuracy before bracketing themes of the participants' experiences (Moustakas, 1994). Ten interviews were conducted through teleconferencing using Microsoft Teams. Conducting interviews in this manner was a convenience of the participant and allowed them to be in a less intrusive environment.

Document Analysis Data Collection Approach

Due to the nature of online education and the reflection of teaching during the pandemic, it was difficult to conduct classroom observations. Therefore, existing records provided insights into the classroom that could not be observed or noted retrospectively. This information was found in document form. Lincoln and Guba (1985) defined a document as "any written or recorded material" not prepared for the purposes of this study but created prior to the request for documents from the researcher. Documents included professional development notes or transcripts, professional collaborative planning notes and current teaching strategies provided insight into how teachers were reaching and teaching students through online education. Therefore, valuable insight into this qualitative research was provided through documents provided by the participants (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). To capture the complete planning and implementation of differentiated lessons for gifted and talented students, documents were requested from participating teachers and provided valuable information in helping understand the central phenomenon (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Individual lesson plans were desired as they provided insight to the classroom lesson as well as identify the levels of differentiation, especially for gifted students. Other data including individualized goals and objectives were requested to understand the level of differentiation and challenge. Lesson plans provide key insight into entry points, levels of differential instruction, and extension activities. However, all obtained documents such as, collaborative planning notes, professional learning community notes, professional development notes or transcripts, and teaching logs, help to better understand the phenomenon.

Document Analysis Data Analysis Plan

After uploading the data, a careful review of the documents was be conducted. This

provided a broad sense of the phenomenon. During this phase, I jotted down notes in my research notebook as ideas come to mind (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Next, I began coding each document based on the topics that arise. I then conducted an analysis of the data and bracketed themes to separate exposures to the most significant degree to reveal the participants' perspectives. The bracketing focused on the phenomena explored as I outlined bias by thoroughly explaining any perceptions to negate prejudice (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Then an assessment and analysis of all the relevant themes from documents was conducted to describe the participants' experiences and to understand the phenomena (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This process was repeated for all documents and cross-referenced using the MAXQDA software (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). After all the data was coded, a list of themes was compiled and compared to the data to get a comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon. This method allowed me to present the experience of remote learning for gifted and talented educators and accurately described the participants experiences of challenging students. Starting with participant input, I was able to identify themes, as well as input to accurately reflect experiences. Additionally, an analytic approach (connecting strategy) to data analysis was conducted. This method of analysis allowed me to take the descriptions of the experience and analyze them for significant phrases, develop meaning and cluster them into themes to present an exhaustive description of the phenomenon.

Journal Prompts Data Collection Approach

In addition to individual interviews, electronic journal prompts were used as a complement to the interview process. Many times, after the interview, individuals will reflect on the experiences, and the journal prompt allowed them to add any additional information that may have been left out during the interview. Additionally, the use of journal prompts allowed

participants to draft, edit, and submit responses which enriched the perspectives due to the reflectiveness in their responses. Each journal prompt took participants on average 1 to 3 minutes to complete. Therefore, limiting the number of prompts to ten kept this process under an thirty minutes for participants to complete. Due to the nature of teaching, many participants were not able to drop everything in their lives to complete journal prompts, therefore giving them two weeks was a good compromise between urgency and fairness.

Standardized Open-Ended Journal Prompt Questions

- 1. Describe the methods of instruction you received as a student growing up.
- 2. Describe your philosophy of teaching.
 - a. In what ways have those experiences impacted your instructional practices?
- Describe your primary method for instruction in your content classroom. (Examples if needed: guided learning, lecture notetaking, independent research, collaboration, learning centers).
- 4. Describe the instructional practices you use in working with your gifted students.
- 5. Describe any informative experiences you have had working with gifted and talented students.
- 6. Describe your level of confidence in planning instruction and assessment for gifted and talented students.
- Describe your attitudes or beliefs about differentiating instruction for gifted and talented students.
- Describe your overall experiences providing opportunities for students to work in groups or with partners.

- 9. Going forward, what further training for working with gifted and talented students you would like to receive?
- 10. Describe anything else about your experiences working with gifted and talented that you haven't already shared, and you would like to.

Question one was designed to allow the participant to focus on how their learning experience connects to the way they teach (Moustakas, 1994). Research suggests that teachers tend to teach the way they were taught despite advanced training in more effective methodologies (Davis & Forbes, 2016).

Questions two through six were designed to address the central research question regarding the participant's experiences with planning and differentiating for gifted students. Research suggests that there is often a disconnection between research and practice (Runesson Kempe, 2019,). These questions sought to elicit information regarding the strength of that assertion. These questions also addressed the challenges teachers face with creating dynamic, virtual lessons that were well received by the diverse learners within the classroom (Almukhambetova & Hernández-Torrano, 2020; Ridgley et. al., 2020).

Questions six through eight were designed to address the first sub-question regarding teacher attitudes toward teaching gifted talented students and the second sub-question regarding teacher sense of efficacy. Teacher attitudes have been linked to student achievement; therefore, the responses to these questions were important to the exploration of their lived experiences in regard to the phenomena (Akgül, 2021; Camci-Erdogan, 2015; Matheis et al., 2015). Furthermore, research suggests that teachers with higher senses of efficacy exhibit behaviors of effective teaching while lower senses of self-efficacy are associated with a reluctance to engage in differentiated instructional practices (Akgül, 2021; Dixon et al., 2014; Matheis et al., 2015).

Questions nine and ten were designed to elicit information that may not have emerged naturally in the interview. The final question was used to ensure that any additional information the participants wished to include and was not limited by the questions asked.

Journal Prompts Data Analysis Plan

After reviewing teacher responses from the journal responses, answers were compared and analyzed for a broader description and understanding of the phenomena. The use of electronic journal prompts ensured participants' answers were accurate. Each prompt then was bracketed based on themes of the participants' experiences (Moustakas, 1994).

Data Synthesis

The first step in the analysis process was to reduce the amount of information received through the interview process, document analysis, and journal prompts and determined how it related to the shared lived experiences among core academic, middle school teachers when differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners in southern Maryland during virtual instruction. However, before beginning the analysis process, my journal through this experience was evaluated and my own lived experiences were reviewed to identify personal judgments and prejudices so that they did not affect the process of analysis (Creswell, 2013). As Moustakas (1994) stated, phenomenological research attempts to eliminate everything that represents a prejudgment or presupposition. Therefore, it was important for the analysis of this study that there were no prejudgments of the outcome prior to the analysis of the data.

Using Moustakas's (1994) method for phenomenological analysis (categorizing strategy), data analysis was conducted with feedback and input from participants. Starting with participant input, I was able to identify themes, as well as input to accurately reflect their experiences. Additionally, an analytic approach (connecting strategy) to data analysis was conducted with the use of the MAXQDA software and Microsoft Excel. This method of analysis allowed me to take the descriptions of the experience and analyze them for significant phrases, develop meaning and cluster them into themes to present an exhaustive description of the phenomenon.

The use of the MAXQDA software does eliminate possible research errors that can occur when bracketing information by hand. Therefore, all documents and information were uploaded to MAXQDA software and the program sorted the data based on type (interview, documents, and journal prompts). This software also allowed me to rapidly search, retrieve, and browse all data segments for bracketing and coding purposes (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). However, after uploading the documents, a careful review of the data was conducted. This allowed me to get a broad sense of the phenomenon. During this review, interview transcriptions and journal prompts were examined with the research questions in mind. Through this process all relevant statements about the participants experiences were identified and entered on an excel spreadsheet with participant demographic information. Once all the information is entered, repetitive experiences were eliminated. Organizing transcribed interviews and journal prompts into matrixes based on the question assisted in the bracketing of the information (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). These significant statements were grouped into larger, broad units that describe the "what" and "how." A composite description of student motivation and challenge was provided. The horizontalization of data allowed for lists of the relevant quotes as well as providing equal value regarding the expressions the teachers (Creswell, 2013). These quotes and bracketed themes were grouped by the relevant topics and into units of meaning, and the use of textual descriptions, "ad verbatim" quotations, and structural descriptions were used to describe the data sets (Creswell, 2013). This information was also uploaded into the MAXQDA software to start the coding process. Both analyses were compared, and the themes generated in terms of their

characteristics and how they address the research question were presented. Finally, according to the textual and structural analysis, the essence of the phenomenon was identified.

Additionally, during this phase, I jotted notes in my research notebook as ideas come to mind (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Next, begin coding documents based on the topics that arose. I then analyzed the data and bracketed themes to separate exposures to the most significant degree to reveal the participants' perspectives. The bracketing focuses on the phenomena explored as I outlined bias by thoroughly explaining any perceptions to negate prejudice (Creswell & Poth, 2018). I then assessed and analyzed all the relevant themes from documents to explicate the essence of the participants' experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The shared perceptions will be bracketed, to eliminate any doubt or biases concerning the phenomenon or to various coincidences which may obscure the real essence of the lived experiences. This process will be repeated and then cross-referenced using the MAXQDA software (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). After all the data was coded, a list of themes was compiled and then compared back to the data to get a comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon. This method allowed me to present the experience of remote learning for gifted and talented educators and accurately explicate the essence of their lived experiences motivating and challenging students.

Trustworthiness

To ensure that all data collected is detailed to provide a full picture of teacher experiences with synchronous learning in terms of perceived challenge and motivation, transcriptions of the interviews were recorded and transcribed verbatim. In-depth and multiple interviews ensured to capture the essence of the phenomenon. To increase the trustworthiness of this study, member checks were conducted by summarizing the interviewer's information and reciting it back to the participant for accuracy. Asking participants for feedback on conclusions drawn through the research process to ensure the experience was appropriately captured and established the validity of the study as well as providing an effective way of identifying biases or misunderstandings. Finally, searching for discrepant evidence by analyzing discrepant data is part of validity testing in qualitative research (Bickman & Rog, 2009). It is important to analyze discrepant data to address the possibility of needing to change a conclusion. Discrepant data that is not analyzed become ignored, making the conclusions questionable.

Credibility

To increase the validity and credibility of this study, all data was analyzed and bracketed based on relational aspects (Creswell & Poth, 2018). According to Colaizzi (1978), it is important to validate the themes against the original transcripts and through the process determine which data is relevant and irrelevant. All irrelevant data was discarded, and therefore, restricted the information obtained in interview transcripts, documents, and journals to accurately describe the phenomenon. Additionally, prolonged engagement in the field and triangulation of the data contribute to the study's credibility so that the results of this study portray full confidence in the truth of the findings or the extent to which the findings accurately describe reality (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

Transferability

The results of the current study are specific to the population studied: middle school gifted students which have applicability in other contexts (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). This limits the study to this demographic and cannot be the basis of assumptions for other grade levels and demographics. However, the use of this study can be transferred and conducted at any level of education. In addition, these results are specific to the district examined in the field of study and

content area, but this study could be conducted in other areas but may yield different experiences. While all these limitations are common contexts that limit many informative studies in schools, this qualitative study could be conducted in other areas to provide a richer context of the shared phenomena. However, it is important to acknowledge this study can only create the conditions for transferability but cannot assure transferability. Furthermore, this study examined a specific instructional model (differentiated instruction), although it poses a limitation to the study, it was necessary to collect data from classrooms where the instructional model was implemented. However, the use of another instructional pedagogy could provide deeper insight into the shared phenomenon. While the phenological-based approach enables me to capture the voice of the educator, some themes may be difficult to capture. Using observation techniques alongside the interviews does provide an even more in-depth picture of the reported realities (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Dependability

In terms of dependability, this study discloses all information pertaining to decisionmaking conducted through the research process so that the findings are consistent and could be repeated (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Furthermore, by including peers participating in the analysis process and providing a detailed description of the research methods, increases the dependability of this study. Not only will this qualitative study be reflective, but the researcher was mindful and aware of any preconceptions that may affect this research (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Immediately following interviews, a recording field notes regarding personal feelings, biases, and insights was conducted to ensure they do not affect the outcome of this study. In addition, a conscious effort was made to follow the direction of the interviews by asking the participants for clarification when necessary. The interpretations collected through interviews, documents, and journals produced new insights, allowing for the developing confirmability of the research and application of the study (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Additionally, the use of rich, thick descriptions of themes, member-checks of the findings, and the interpretations further address this study's dependability and confirmability. Additionally, the use of a reflexive journal kept by the researcher throughout the course of the study added to the confirmability. Finally, an inquiry audit conducted at Liberty University with a thorough review of the process and the products of the research by the dissertation committee and the Qualitative Research Director will provide further credibility to this research (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Confirmability

This study was conducted with the highest degree of neutrality and will be portrayed in the research study's findings. It was the goal of this study to capture the experiences of participants and findings are based on participants' responses and not any potential bias or personal motivations of the researcher. The extent to which the findings of this present study are shaped are by the respondents and not researcher bias, motivation, or interest (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). To improve confirmability the researcher maintained a research journal to track personal biases or interests. These biases and interests have been disclosed in this study. A confirmability audit will be conducted to maintain and establish confirmability. An external auditor trying to follow through the progress of events through this study to understand exactly how and why decisions were made (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Additionally, the triangulation of theories and the use of multiple data sources through the research process to develop a comprehensive understanding of phenomena further increases the confirmability of this study (Patton, 2014). **Ethical Considerations** Before participants could take part in this study, IRB and informed consent was obtained. Participants were informed that their participation in this study was completely voluntary and that they may choose not to participate at any time. All participants will remain anonymous and will not disclose to others concerning their participation and contribution to the study. Secondly, interview protocols were followed, and information shared in the interviews remain confidential. Additionally, to fully protect the privacy of participants, school, and district pseudonyms are used so no information collected concerning this study will be traceable to an identifiable teacher. Names of teachers will not be used in the transcriptions, and no identifying characteristics will be provided. For transcriptions to be accurate and teachers to remain anonymous, recordings were reviewed in solitary and deleted. To ensure confidentiality all information collected through this study was anonymous and all data collected will be shredded once scanned into the researcher's zip drive. All electronic files will be password protected and stored in the researcher's electronic drive to which only the researcher has access. All files will be retained for three years, at which time they will be destroyed.

Summary

This chapter provides the research design and research questions for this transcendental phenomenological study. The goal of the study was to add to the body of research pertaining to challenging gifted and talented students in a virtual classroom environment and to understand the experiences of teaching and learning remotely. By exploring the experiences of core academic middle school teachers with differentiating instruction and assessment for gifted and talented students in rural southern Maryland, educators can develop methods of instructional delivery to ensure these students are adequately challenged. In addition to the research design and research questions, this chapter provides an explanation of the setting, participants, and the procedures necessary to conduct this study. Participants were selected using a criterion-based sampling from a rural district where there is not an established gifted and talented program. Schools that have gifted and talented programming provide services in the school to ensure gifted and talented students are properly challenged and motivated to learn. Selecting a district where these programs are not established gives raw insight into the teachers' experiences where supports are not provided. Additionally, the role of the researcher was addressed along with a detailed description of the types of data collected, strategies utilized for data collection, and how they were analyzed. Data from this study was obtained to capture the teachers' experiences. To understand the entire experience, data was collected through interviews, document collection, and journal prompts (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Capturing the teachers' experiences with virtual instruction including their beliefs and perceptions of the gifted student provide great insight into how teachers can ensure instruction is differentiated and contains an adequate level of challenge that will ensure student achievement. Finally, information regarding methods to ensure trustworthiness, credibility, dependability, confirmability, transferability, and ethical considerations in this research study have been disclosed.

In closing, the methodology chosen for this study, transcendental phenomenology, was appropriate to the purposes of studying the experiences of core academic middle school teachers with differentiating curriculum and instruction for gifted and talented students in rural southern Maryland through a virtual platform. This design is appropriate as the research sought to understand the experiences of the participants and requires bracketing of the researcher in the process to ensure true intentionality was achieved. The methodology of this research was established clearly for the replication to similar contexts and demographics.

CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS

Overview

Chapter Four provides the results of the data analysis. This study sought to explicate the lived experiences of core academic middle school teachers with differentiating instruction and challenging the gifted learner in rural southern Maryland. The following research questions guided this study:

RQ1: What are the shared lived experiences among select middle school, core academic, teachers when differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners in southern Maryland during virtual instruction?

SQ1: How do the participants describe their sense of self-efficacy to differentiate instruction to meet the cognitive demands of the gifted and talented learner virtually?

SQ2: How do participants describe their attitudes and beliefs about differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners?

This chapter describes their experiences after analysis of the interviews journal prompts and documentation, using the MAXQDA system to analyze, evaluate and triangulate the data, which revealed the experiences of navigating virtual teaching at the middle school level.

Participants

There were 10 participants included in the study. Each participant (a) was a licensed teacher with various middle school contents, (b) was over the age of 18, and (c) had a minimum of one year of experience teaching gifted students virtually. The criterion for participants was established to ensure the phenomenon would be addressed.

Recruitment for the study was done via initial email to all teachers in the site accompanied with an interest survey form to address the criterion and demographic information to ensure saturation was met (see Appendix G). Teachers who responded with an interest in participating were provided with a copy of the informed consent form (see Appendix F). Once informed consent was received, participants were sent an invitation to schedule an interview. Each participant was provided a pseudonym to be used for ethical considerations. During the interview, requests to complete the journal prompts as well as for documentation in the form of lesson plans, PLC notes, professional development, and other documents the participant felt were pertinent to the experience. Other documentation was obtained via email.

Descriptions of Participants

Following are individual descriptions of each of the ten participants for the study. Pseudonyms were used to protect their identity.

Kathrine. Kathrine was a Caucasian female in her 40s. She was a full-time teacher of English and Family and Consumer Sciences. She has a master's degree and is a certified in English while she has a background in both special education and family and consumer sciences. She had been teaching for 10 years with three years of experience working with gifted students, and one of those years was virtual. At the time of the study, she had gifted students in many of her classes.

Whitney. Whitney was a Caucasian female between the ages of 45-55 years of age. At the time of the study, she was a full-time special education teacher. She has a master's degree in the area of special education. She also has experience in teaching at the secondary level for the past 22 years. Linda had several years of experience co-teaching advanced courses for gifted students with one of those years being virtual instruction. She was working with gifted students in the classroom at the time of the study.

Kelly. Kelly was another female teacher in the 46-55 age range. She indicated her race as White/Caucasian. She held a bachelor's and master's degree in secondary science instruction and had taught a variety of science and health courses at the middle school level. Kelly had been teaching between 23 years and had 21 years of experience working with gifted students in the classroom. At the time of the study, Kelly had taught gifted students virtually.

Tony. Tony was a male Caucasian between the ages of 40-50. He held a physical education teaching certification during the time of the study. He taught middle school physical education for 16 years and had worked with gifted students all of those years, and had gifted students in his class at the time of the study.

Kevin. Kevin was a male, Caucasian teacher between the ages of 46-55. As a 21 year veteran teacher, Kevin, a English and History teacher, held both a bachelor's and master's degree. At the time of the study, he was working on doctoral studies in higher education. Kevin had taught a variety of subjects on the secondary level, including experience teaching gifted students. While at the time of the study, he had been 21 years' experience working with gifted students both face to face and virtually, he is the technology integration specialist and was not teaching in the classroom currently. However, he had experience in the past of more than one year; thus, he met the criterion for a participant in this study.

Lydia. Lydia was a Caucasian female between the ages of 46-55. She held a Masters in Administration and Supervision and was working toward a Doctorate in Curriculum and Supervision at the time of the study. She was a middle school social studies teacher although she has additional experience teaching elementary school. She had 32 years of experience teaching various levels and served as the gifted and talented liaison at her school. At the time of the study, she had experience working with gifted students in her classroom as well as online.
Kerri. Kerri was a Caucasian female between the ages of 46-55. She held a Bachelor of Arts degree in both Spanish and French, a master's degree in Spanish as well as other various other certifications and credentials in the field of foreign language. She was a trainer for the for English teachers in Madagascar with the United States Peace Corps, a librarian, as well as a French, Spanish and ELL teacher in both secondary and higher education. She had 20 years of experience teaching various levels in different states. At the time of the study, she was teaching elective content courses in both French and Spanish and had current experience working with gifted students in her classroom as well as online.

Lorelai. Lorelai is a female teacher in the 35-45 age range. She indicated her race as White/Caucasian. She held a master's degree in secondary mathematics instruction and had taught a variety of math courses at the elementary, middle school, high school and college levels. Lorelai had been teaching between 15 years of experience working in blended classrooms where gifted students were present classroom. At the time of the study, Lorelai had taught one year of online advanced math courses that included gifted students.

Alex. Alex was a male, Caucasian teacher between the ages of 35-45. As a 18 year veteran teacher, Alex, a Science, held both a bachelor's and master's degree. At the time of the study, he was teaching 8th grade science but had previously taught music/chorus. Alex had taught a wide range of students, including having experience teaching gifted students. While at the time of the study, he had gifted students in his classroom and had additional experience working with gifted students virtually.

Table 3

Teacher Participants

_					
_	Teacher	Years			Grade
_	Participant	Taught	Highest Degree Earned	Content Area	Level
	Katherine	10	Masters	English	6th
	Whitney	22	Masters	Special Education-All Content Areas	8th
	Kelly	23	Masters	Science	8th
	John	16	Masters	Physical Education	6th - 8th
	Kevin	21	Educational Specialist	Social Studies	8th
	Lydia	23	Masters	Social Studies	7 th -8th
	Kerri	20	Masters	Foreign Language	7th - 8th
	Clara	15	Masters	Science	8th
	Lorelai	15	Masters	Math	6th
	Alex	18	Masters	Science	8th

Results

The shared experience that emerged from the analysis was that teaching virtually was a complex emotional experience for the participants. The experience is rooted in both positive and negative attitudes toward teaching online, as well as a large range of efficacy differentiating instruction to meet the needs of gifted students. The experience was also rooted in the level of confidence in working with the online tools without training to incorporate differentiation strategies and maintain student engagement. From the analysis, three themes emerged, including

giftedness in the classroom, the challenge of teaching virtually, and attitudes and beliefs toward differentiation. There was one outlier in the data: teachers' passion for helping students.

Giftedness in the Classroom

The district, at the time of this study, was working address the structural inequity and educational inequality in gifted and advanced learner programs. Currently, students who have been identified as gifted and talented only account for 17% of the school district's student population and there is limited gifted personnel and instructional service support. Therefore, the district has considered it important for teachers to gain knowledge concerning gifted programming. One of the biggest push backs in eliciting participants is the idea that middle school educators did not teach gifted students. However, within the school district, gifted students are infiltrated within general education classes. Each middle school has a gifted and talented liaison that communicates which students are gifted with the purpose of enriching their learning experience. While at the middle schools, classes are not leveled, teachers within the district have been trained based on the tiered level of instruction, where whole group receives tiered one instruction. While teachers were thinking of tiered one instruction from the bottom up, differentiation and project-based learning does occur within tier one (Han et al., 2014). At a recent professional development, educators were encouraged to start planning with the gifted students in mind and then building in scaffolds so that everybody can access that high level of critical thinking. The school district has adhered to COMAR requirements (Maryland State Department of Education, 2019); that each local school system shall establish an equitable process for identifying gifted and talented students that encompasses all students. However, this does not include understanding who the gifted and talented students are to provide equitable instruction. In her interview Lorelai stated, "Teaching gifted and talented students has never been at the forefront of education. With multiple levels in the class, it is expected to teach to the bottom. It is always the focus of administration and supervisors to 'move the bottom' to a passing level versus moving the top, because they are already capable, so they get left out majority of the time." Eight out of the ten participants felt that the district has not properly equipped educators to lesson plan with the gifted student in mind.

Gifted Students and Accommodations

Of the ten participants, nine had gifted students in their classes at the time of the interviews, but all participants had taught gifted students online during the Covid-19 pandemic. I was able to obtain Gifted enrollment information from the district that provided breakdown of gifted student per school as well as requirements to be enrolled in the gifted program. Gifted and talented students accounted for 22% of the student population at the two sites in which this study was conducted which is 5% above the district average. Gifted and talented enrollment is based on the administration of the CogAT (Cogitative Abilities Test) national test in both 2nd and 7th grade, and students are tested in February each school year. Students that score a stanine of eight or nine (the highest scores possible) in one of the categories, verbal, nonverbal and quantitative, qualify for gifted programming. Due to the district being highly transient area, a new student between these grade levels is given the test in February when the test is administered to these grade levels. Enrollment in the gifted and talented program is not limited to CogAT testing, but also compasses scores on the MCAP (Maryland Comprehensive Assessment Program) state testing, MAP (Measurement of Academic Progress) a computerized adaptive test that measures academic growth and achievement, as well as teacher recommendations. In the district, MCAP is administered in the spring, but the results are not published to the school until the following school year. However, MAP is given quarterly in both Math and English language Arts. If

students score within the advanced range (230 or higher) and have a teacher recommendation, they can be reviewed for the gifted and talented program. According to the document data, Katherine, Whitney, Kelly, Tony, and Kerri knew the gifted students in their classes at the time of the interviewing process, while Lydia said that her school does not track the gifted students, but she knows that some are present in her classes. Lorelai, Clara, and Alex agreed to this statement. This showed a discrepancy at the site level in the identification of gifted students. One site provides teachers with the students per class that have been identified as gifted and talented, while the other site does not share this practice. In the state of Maryland, students that qualify for the gifted and talented program are not provided with IEPs. While all gifted students required some form of accommodation to extend their learning, students do not have gifted and talented educational plans like other states. The district, however, began to institute teacher professional development, post-pandemic to support teachers in the identification process. Professional development included, identifying gifted students in the classroom, understanding what giftedness is according to COMAR (Maryland State Department of Education, 2019), and how to begin differentiating, questioning, and challenging the gifted student. Katherine, Tony, Kelly, and Kerri discussed these trainings in their interviews.

The Challenge of Teaching Virtually

Most of the participants expressed the difficulty teaching online during the pandemic. The engagement aspects, relationship building, and lesson planning are themes of the brick-andmortar environment that was difficult to replicate during virtual instruction. Additionally, navigating the required technology and the experimentation of other platforms increased the demand on lesson planning. These feelings were reflected in both the participant interviews and journal prompt responses. In her interview, Kelly said, "Teaching online is more difficult than I think people realize, and it's not like holding a business meeting, but you're trying to hold the attention of 28 kids while trying to reach many different ability levels in a single time frame." She continued to explain that teaching virtually tested the teacher's ability to reach students in a nontraditional way. When asked about her experiences teaching virtually, Whitney jokingly said she experienced a flashback of terror, but she continued by saying it was challenging to make the connections necessary with students to increase their motivation.

The Challenge of Technology

During the pandemic, the district required teachers to use the learning management system called Schoology to house all curricular items within folders for students to access. Additionally, students and teachers had access to the Microsoft Office suites programs that include Office, Word, PowerPoint, Excel, Publisher, but also Microsoft OneNote. Within this technology students had the ability to work collaboratively, and teachers could provide feedback in real time. Through Microsoft Teams, teachers and students would meet during a live synchronous lesson. However, teachers were accessing other technologies to increase classroom participation and engagement. These technologies included but are not limited to Nearpod, Pear Deck, Lumio, Padlet, Jam Board, YouTube, Interactive Whiteboards, Ed Puzzle, Voice Thread and Flip Grid. Tony expressed that teaching online "was really challenging. It definitely had me thinking and constantly looking for stuff to engages them as best I can." Clara expressed in her interview that it was difficult to figure out the technology pieces, and having to rethink the way teachers present the content. As a technology integration specialist for the district, Kevin expressed the need to minimize the technological challenges of accessing the curriculum virtually. He reflected on other possible barriers to access students may have. He said, "We have to remove barriers to access by having platforms that have as few barriers as possible." He

continued, "Teaching virtually provided a freedom to explore what education can do beyond the four walls of a brick-and-mortar school that the pandemic allowed and we're going to have rethink what we do in a typical four walled classroom." While the teaching online was a challenge and constant struggle for many of the participants, Clara mentioned in her interview that it did make her rethink how she presents classroom materials and many of the strategies she used during online instruction, she still uses today in the face-to-face environment. The pandemic transformed the educational experience for all students because teachers were forced to learn new lesson delivery platforms.

The Challenge of Online Engagement

The struggle of student engagement during a synchronous lesson echoed in the participants interviews. While the participants did not know the exact reason engaging students online was so difficult, it was their belief that the high distractibility was a main factor. Kevin expressed what it was like teaching online in his interview. He said, "The level of engagement is almost impossible to replicate in an online environment. I mean, no matter how engaging you of a speaker you are, no matter what type of YouTube, podcasting personality you might have, it's still like anyone watching an entertainer on a on a screen, you're simply just consuming what that entertainer is delivering." In her interview, Katherine expressed the stress of teaching virtually. She explained, "There wasn't as much visible engagement. I did develop some techniques and tricks to get kids to participate every couple of minutes to make sure they were actually listening, but it was hard." However, she continued to explain the difficulties of teaching virtually. She said, "The hard part was keeping track of the students' progress, keeping track of the students themselves, helping them to engage. A big part was not being able to see their faces and body language. All those kinds of things just really impacted how you as a teacher engaged with the

kids." In their interviews, it was expressed that teachers were fighting against video games, movies/TV shows, and other distractions at home for their students' attention. They also expressed that it took a lot of energy to keep students on track of their learning.

Attitudes Toward Differentiation

Most of the participants expressed positive attitudes and beliefs about differentiating lessons and assessments with the goal of challenging and extending the content for the gifted and talented learner. Kelly explained her feelings towards differentiation in her interview. She said, "If you're gifted, it doesn't always mean that you need more work. You need work that is going to challenge you to think outside of the box, to step outside your comfort zone." The positive aspects are themes of differentiation as a practice already in use in the physical classroom and an overall belief that gifted students need to be challenged. These feelings were reflected in their both their interviews and journal prompt responses.

Many participants indicated that they were comfortable with differentiating lessons and assessments for all students. Whitney explained her feelings by stating, "All students are unique individuals with talents, strengths, and abilities that should be encouraged and fostered through a variety of challenges. The educational environment should be welcoming and safe where students feel comfortable asking questions, seeking new experiences, and learning to make mistakes. If the lessons in the classroom are not differentiated, the gifted student may become bored and act out. Also, the gifted student needs to experience challenge that leads to exploration and sometimes failure so that he/she learns how to handle a challenge or failure." Kerri, too, shared that she felt differentiation was an integral part of her teaching methodology when she said, "I believe differentiation is important for all levels so that each student feels that they are working appropriately to their level of learning." Kevin explained if teachers learn how

to differentiate their lessons for a gifted learner, then they could differentiate for all learners. "I still expect students to understand that whatever that content might be in any content area, but if you can communicate it to gifted students, in the sense that it's part of the content you're not expecting the rest of your class to be ready for yet, then you're differentiating in the classroom," Clara explained in her interview that she was able to differentiate her lessons through project-based learning. She said, "I did a lot of projects in virtual. I was able to scaffold who was assigned what type of project or the project question. Gifted students would receive a more challenging problem or less scaffolding, so they spent more time doing research on their own." Kelly also mentioned in her journal prompt the connection between differentiation and project-based learning.

Ambiguity of Planning Instruction for Gifted Students

While there many expressed a positive attitudes and beliefs towards differentiation, 6 out of the 10 of the participants felt that differentiating for a virtual class is difficult as it takes a lot of time. Additionally, they commented that while they have been trained to scaffold lessons for the bottom 10% of the class, they are not completely confident planning lessons with the top 10% in mind. Katherine expressed in her journal prompt, "I think our problem in education is that we either only differentiate instruction for the low kids or we think differentiated instruction for the high kids is extra work." While many of the participants agree that gifted students do not need more work, they just need to go deeper into the content. However, the need for time and the assistance of a certified gifted and talented teacher to plan lessons that meet the needs of the high achieving student is echoed in both the participants journal prompts and interviews. Additionally, teachers expressed the extent of time just needed to plan for whole group instruction through the virtual platform was a challenge. Whitney expressed that she would have to think about each element in the lesson prior to synchronous lessons. It is a common belief that teaching virtually changed the way teachers think about lesson delivery, however teachers still lack the confidence to extend the learning for the gifted population.

Need for Professional Development

The participant journal prompts echoed the need for professional development to properly differentiate and modify instruction for the gifted learner. While the district has provided four different professional development sessions geared toward the identification of gifted students, only one session provided strategies to increase rigor in the classroom. This professional development was focused on Costa's Levels of Questioning. However, Kelly said, "Professional development is a band-aid approach to properly educating these students." Participants stated that they have had numerous trainings focused on modifying instruction quickly and easily for struggling learners, but not for the gifted learner. Clara stated, "I feel like we spend a lot of time talking about scaffolding for our special education learners, but not for our gifted and talented learners." The participants agreed that the content usually comes easily for gifted learner, but they wished for professional development geared to tangible classroom strategies to increase the productive struggle in learning.

Changed Approach to Teaching Post-Pandemic

Interestingly, teachers' pre-pandemic taught the way they were instructed; teacher-led instruction with some group work. Many lessons taught during a synchronous lesson were teacher-centered and directed to the whole group, but teachers did discover new ways of delivering content instruction. Post-Pandemic teachers reported using multiple styles of presenting information as well as considering the backgrounds of students and how that may impact their interaction with the teacher and the content. Since teaching online, the participants reported moving toward a more student-centered approach to teaching and learning. In his journal prompt, Alex stated he had begun to flip his classroom, giving students a chance to explore the content first and make their own conclusions before direct instruction. Kerri stated, "I have planned so that students are more independent and self-paced in completing activities, have choice, and can work in pairs, groups or independently. I plan lessons for blended learning, providing a balance of online and regular classroom activities." The participants confirmed elements of collaboration, creativity, exploration, and independent research are weaved throughout their lessons and methods of instruction. Clara explained that her experience teaching online somewhat influenced her philosophy of teaching. She stated, "I am here to facilitate learning; put more ownership on the students for their learning." While Kerri said that teaching through the pandemic gave her "a better handle on the content and curriculum, so I I'm more aware of what types of things I could pull out that could be more interesting to them."

Outlier Data and Findings

One unexpected finding and theme that did not align with specific research questions include the teachers' passion for helping students to meet students at their level in the virtual environment. While this theme did not answer the research questions, but it did encompass participants experiences with the phenomena. This form of differentiation took place outside the regular school hours and was provided for the struggling learners, some of which were gifted.

Teachers' Passion for Helping Students

Teachers have a clear passion for helping all students, particularly those who were struggling through the virtual environment. When asked in the interview "Describe a time through virtual instruction in which a student is not reaching their full potential and your reactions to this scenario?" Teachers responded by saying encourage them, check in with the student, pull them into small groups for individualized instruction, individual student conferences, and informal assessments to gauge their level of understanding. Kevin, Kelly, and Kerri discussed times they would hold meetings with struggling students outside the school day, as well as, holding tutoring sessions online for students that were struggling. Lorelai stated in her interview, "A student never turned on their camera, never showed up to class, and would barely do any work. I would speak to them online numerous times, but their camera was off so I could never get full participation or communication from him. I was very hurt and disrespected. Administration would constantly ask what I was doing to support this student, and I felt I did everything in my power to help him. It was the student putting forth no effort." Stories like this example were given by each participant during their interviews.

Meeting Students on Their Level

Teachers agreed that virtual learning limited their connections with their students. Their classroom warm-ups became a social-emotional piece in which teachers were trying to make that connection virtually. Relationship building was a difficult piece that was expressed by Whitney, Tony, and Kerri. Whitney said that the decreased ability to build relationships virtually limited the teacher's ability to really know their students, including their interest, strengths, and weaknesses. Teachers agreed that students have different access points to the curriculum. These access points are based on experiences and prior knowledge and help students make meaningful connections to the curriculum. Kelly stated in her interview, "A poor achieving student is one that struggles in being able to make connections between new information and prior knowledge and being able to apply that information to something completely different." The most successful approach to differentiation is finding out what prior knowledge students have in the classroom prior to concept instruction. During the pandemic, building the relationships required

to prompt these access points were limited and made meeting students at their level a challenge. Kerri stated, "My first reaction is always reflecting on how have I taught what type of activities have I included and what else could I or should I be doing differently because I feel like I'm the one who's responsible for guiding the kids through the lessons and hopefully learning the materials best as they can, but at some point, realizing just the complications, the lack of connection not being in person with students made it extra challenging." Despite this challenge, teachers agreed that tried everything they could to help students achieve success, but teaching online makes it difficult to ensure that all students are being reached.

Research Question Responses

This section offers the reader concise answers to the research questions to prime them for the discussion that will follow in Chapter Five. This section supplies short and direct narrative answers to each of the research questions, using primarily the themes developed in the previous section. Participant quotes will be use to support the responses to the research questions.

Central Research Question

The research question is the basis of the entire phenomenon exploring the lived experiences of classroom middle school teachers working with gifted students. These experiences were analyzed from a point of understanding the background of the participants in their own educational experiences as students and philosophy of education. These aspects were important as research supports the impact of prior experiences affecting one's perceptions and experiences with a specific phenomenon (Davis & Forbes, 2016; Gilakjani & Sabouri, 2017). The main research question for this study was "What are the shared lived experiences among select middle school, core academic, teachers when differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners in southern Maryland during virtual instruction?" The answer to this question is best approached

through a discussion of the sub-questions. The sub-questions are as follows: How do the participants describe their sense of self-efficacy to differentiate instruction to meet the cognitive demands of the gifted and talented learner virtually? How do participants describe their attitudes and beliefs about differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners? The participants' perspective is that differentiation is important for all levels so that each student feels that they are working appropriately to their level of learning. Differentiation is not designed to give gifted students more work, but to allow them to gain a deeper understanding of the content and keep working while the rest of the class works at a different pace. While teachers believe that differentiated instruction is important, they lack the efficacy to develop lessons that are polarized. Clara stated, "Gifted students really seem to thrive when given a chance to write things out instead of just answering questions. They explain and go into detail a lot which really expands their learning. Giving them a challenging problem engages them to explore and problem solve." However, teachers feel that are not given the time, the training or support to differentiate their lessons with the gifted student in mind.

Sub-Question One

Sub-question one was: How do the participants describe their sense of self-efficacy to differentiate instruction to meet the cognitive demands of the gifted and talented learner virtually? This sub-question addressed the individual participants' sense of efficacy in working with gifted student virtually. This question was important to address one of the theories of this study, the sense of efficacy, as framed by Bandura (1997). This question was answered primarily through an analysis of the interview data and journal prompt responses. Certain factors influenced the sense of efficacy for participants and led to the developed themes. The factors affecting the sense of efficacy included established technology, the support of a co-teacher,

student engagement and relationship building, and the need for professional development. The themes that emerged were centered on the dependence of efficacy on supports available and strategies known.

Through the pandemic, many teachers began to develop new strategies and techniques to make virtual instruction easier and to increase effectiveness of lessons. Through this experience each participant had gained knowledge in their fields of expertise, worked through the complexities of technology, but also was demanded to reach their audience. There was the mechanical and practical challenge of trying to figure out which tools would best meet the needs of both the teacher and the students and deliver instruction that is within the curricula when the mode of content delivery was the computer. Using already established programs like Apex and Summit really increased the efficacy of teachers, especially during the on boarding process of virtual learning. Kevin stated, "Apex is an online platform that has an interactive component, where students would be able to read content, for instance, and be able to highlight features or underline vocabulary that also had questions that were both selected response and short answer. Students could go through lessons at their own pace and the content was aligned with both Maryland and National standards. It was a program that would not have required teachers to tap into their creativity." Kevin stated that with the help of Apex, he could start planning with the gifted in mind and then building in scaffolds so that everybody can access that high level of critical thinking and rigorous learning. Alex credited his efficacy of teaching online to the Summit program. He stated, "The way that Summit worked was that the lesson plans were prebuilt for us in a digital space and incorporated a lot of independent work. So, transitioning into that digital space was much easier." Working with Summit really gave him the confidence to explore other platforms and opportunities to support students virtually. However, not every

teacher had access to these platforms and had low efficacy delivering content while trying to figure out the technology piece. The teachers that had access to both Apex and Summit had higher efficacy.

Another factor that affected the sense of efficacy of the teachers involved was that of the support of a co-teacher. Most felt that their efficacy was higher when they collaborated with a special education teacher. Kevin shared, "Many times the strategies introduced my Special Ed colleagues were sometimes appealing to my gifted learners because it caused them to think about concepts differently and even develop skills in a more thoughtful way." According to Whitney, "There is a vantage of working with another teacher and planning. So, we would meet after hours and look at the curriculum, and we would look at our student body and we would say what would this student need to access the curriculum? Do we need to build scaffolds? It's a huge advantage having another teacher" Kelly shared the same sentiment, "My colleague and I would plan together. We would walk through the lessons. We would include one of the special Ed teachers in the process so that we were not only addressing the general education students, but we also had supports in place for the students that had IEP. We also included some enrichment activities for the students who were identified as gifted and talented, or students that were not necessarily gifted and talented but were excelling with the current academic level of work." Clara, too, credited collaboration with the special education teacher for increasing her sense of efficacy, "Having that extra person really helped. If I didn't have her, my lessons and assignments would probably not have been leveled as much."

Additionally, the levels of efficacy for many of the participants were linked to the level of relationships they were able to form with the students. The stronger the student/teacher relationship, the teacher had a higher degree of confidence that their students were learning and

that their instruction was effective. Kevin stated, "teaching starts with building relationships and designing instruction to be as engaging as possible." Whitney and Kerri agreed that the student/teacher relationship was key to tailoring the instruction. Tony, Katherine, and Kerri shared that their daily warm up was continual icebreaker just to check in with students, to see how they were doing emotionally, and just trying to make that connection virtually. They shared those students who made that connection online did better in terms of achievement. Whitney stated, "The relationship building with the students really impacted the learning in the classroom." Kevin stated, "I was committed to not letting that happen but if I'm honest with myself. There were students I simply was unable to reach. Every teacher will have students over the course of their career that just, for whatever might be happening in that students' lives, may resist any kind of overtures of a committed educator to reach them, even in the face-to-face setting. I would say that those numbers increased during online learning. Online learning allowed students to check out because they did not have the physical presence of the authority figures." Not being able to ensure the learning of students decreased the efficacy of the teacher. Through virtual learning many of the teachers indicated that they were just unable to reach all students and that had them constantly thinking and creating new ways to draw their students in, but it made them question their effectiveness as a teacher.

The final factor affecting the sense of efficacy for teachers was the level of training or professional development they received. Many participants felt that they were inadequately trained to extend the learning for the gifted population. Many teachers expressed having to find information or resources to implement strategies in the classroom to excel the gifted learner. For Kerri, "The only training I've had for gifted recently is what has been presented during staff trainings." Alex stated, "I haven't received any specific training in working with those students." He continued, "I was never really encouraged or trained on how to approach the differentiation of virtual learning, I think modifying things like I always do in the classroom prepared me to some degree. In general, I don't feel like I've gotten much training at all focusing for the gifted, modifying things for the gifted learner, whereas it's always kind of on the low end. A lot of people say, well, just give them another assignment, and I know that's not the way we want to do it. So, it's just I feel like we know so many ways to help a student approach the material, but we don't know much about the strategies we can put in place to help the student that's gifted. That's something that I feel like I've had to explore on my own." The lack of strategies for gifted students was the cause for low sense of efficacy. Kelly, too, desired training to increase her confidence; "When working with gifted and talented students I feel that I do them a great disservice due to my lack of training in how to teach students of high academic caliber. Much like special education, proper certification and experience is needed to hone this craft and I feel the same way about gifted and talented." Many of the participants desired more training and professional development concerning strategies and resources that they could use to challenge and extend the learning for the gifted population.

The factors addressed above directly led to the development of the themes. The theme most prevalent in answering this research sub-question was that of confidence in knowing what strategies are appropriate for gifted instruction and differentiation. An individual might claim a high sense of efficacy associated with one factor, but then allude to an underlying low sense of ability to support these students.

Participants who felt they knew strategies to support this population felt a higher sense of efficacy than those who did not. For example, Whitney, Clara, and Kelly explained that project-based learning is an instructional practice they used in working with your gifted students, and

they were confident in their ability to differentiate using this strategy. Through project-based learning teachers had the ability to scaffold the assignment and question (Han et al., 2014; Hmelo-Silver, 2004; Karademir, 2016). Kelly explained her experience with project-based learning as providing "a way show how they came to their conclusion, or their answer, or their method of solving a problem."

In contrast, other participants were concerned by a lack of strategies for differentiating instruction and shared lower senses of efficacy because they were not trained. However, teachers expressed a desire for researched-based strategies that they could implement into their classrooms. Kerri shared that she wishes the district would provide professional development that would train teachers on "the current strategies for lesson/activity planning for gifted students." Lorelai felt like she did not have the resources available to help her gifted students. Additionally, Whitney share that she does have the strategies for helping "students learn that when they do struggle or when they do meet a challenge or if something does not automatically come easily to them" She continued by stating she would like training on what to do in these situations.

Sub-Question Two

Sub-question two was: How do participants describe their attitudes and beliefs about differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners? This question addressed the underlying attitudes and beliefs held by participants that might affect the phenomenon. Attitudes and beliefs are an underlying element of efficacy (Zee, Helma & Koomen, 2016), and was important to an analysis of the experiences of the participants. The themes that developed regarding attitudes and beliefs are basically defined as positive and negative. Positive themes were expressed as feelings that differentiation is already a part of practice, positive student

experience, the resiliency of the challenge for students, and its importance in the classroom. Negative themes were focused on the great deal of work and time above and beyond what is normally required, staffing constraints, and lack of training. Some participants fell on either positive or negative; however, most participants were contradictory about their attitudes and beliefs. Throughout the theme development and triangulation process, there was a relationship between attitudes, efficacy, and practice.

Many participants indicated that they believed lessons and assessments should be differentiated for gifted students. Kerri felt that "Differentiation is important for all levels so that each student feels that they are working appropriately to their level of learning." Katherine, too, felt that "Our problem in education is that we either only differentiate instruction for the low achieving kids or we think differentiating instruction for the high achieving kids is extra work." Perhaps, Lorelai said it most succinctly when she remarked, "Instruction should be differentiated."

In further support of positive attitudes and beliefs, several participants shared experiences of how differentiated lessons really allowed the students to build on their funds of knowledge and challenge each other. Some of the participants agreed that instruction should be differentiated to provide for deeper learning to happen for students on the same cognitive level. Kevin's experiences in with differentiating instruction for gifted students by pairing them with one another, provided a deeper understanding of the content standard they had already mastered. He stated, "I would pair students especially when they have divergent talents to occasionally allow them to challenge each other's thinking." Kelly experienced this same phenomenon. She found a great value in purposeful grouping of her gifted students. She said, "There is a great value in partner and small group work, especially with projects. When students can collaborate with one another, they can learn/understand science concepts in a more simplistic way. Students can share ideas and, in some cases, dispel misconceptions relating to a science concept. Students also learn new skills from one another such as video editing, creation of multimedia projects, and graphic design." Kelly stated that in her experience, gifted students produce well thought out and executed projects. Clara also experienced an increased depth to students understanding of the content when assignments and assessments are differentiated. She said, "Gifted students really seem to thrive when given a chance to write things out instead of just answering questions. They explain and go into detail a lot which really expands their learning. Giving them a challenging problem engages them to explore and problem solve."

However, there were negative aspects of differentiating for gifted students. Many of the participants expressed planning differentiated lessons require too much work, and they are not given the time or instruction. From Katherine, we hear, "The problem is time to plan." She stated in her journal prompt that differentiated lessons and projects takes a lot of time to plan and it not always feasible. Kelly really felt strongly about needing the support from a certified gifted and talented teacher when it comes to planning differentiated lessons. She said, "I honestly feel that certified gifted and talented teachers should co-teach general education teachers, just as special education teachers co-teach in the general education classroom. I feel that these students would receive the much-needed services to extend their learning and push them towards a more challenging and rigorous curriculum. With that said, I also feel that there should be a separate gifted and talented curriculum." This statement came after discussing the various levels in the classroom. According to all participants, the cognitive level in the classroom ranges from students who are talented, are quick to pick up on content, to students who really struggle, have significant difficulties with reading or processing information. Planning lessons that encompass

all these levels and provides the proper access point for each level was overwhelming. As Alex said, "Much like we should differentiate the work we do with struggling students, gifted students should be approached differently." Alex also shared, "Although I've had many gifted students in my time, I don't feel like I've ever purposely modified instruction in a meaningful way to best support them. I'd love to be more comfortable doing that." However, in his journal prompts he stated, "I wouldn't say I change my instructional practices much with my gifted students as much as I take away some of the supports, I provide to my students that aren't as gifted."

One final negative theme that emerged from interviews regarding attitude was that of not being trained to properly challenge the gifted learner. According to Lorelai, "I was never truly trained, so I go off of assumption." Alex concurred saying, "I haven't received any specific training in working with those students (gifted and talented)." He continued, "I've been trained in several ways how to modify my instruction quickly and easily for struggling learners. I'd like to feel as comfortable doing the same with gifted learners." Kelly echoed this belief. She stated, "When working with gifted and talented students I feel that I do them a great disservice due to my lack of training in how to teach students of high academic caliber." Overall, there is a desire from the participants to provide gifted students with quality instruction that extends their learning.

Despite evoking some negative attitudes, the themes that emerged in response to subquestion one were predominantly positive. While lack of training was seen as a deficit that caused many difficulties on the part of the teacher to differentiate lessons, the participants held mostly positive attitudes about the experience. They were strong in their overall belief that all children can learn, teachers need to teach the kids that are present, and gifted students were no different. The answers to sub-question two regarding participants' attitudes and beliefs about differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners indicated that there is a strong dependence on many factors that affect a teacher's sense of efficacy. Some of the participants attitudes and beliefs were centered around the daunting tasks of organizing group projects, designing productive group work experiences, judiciously placing students with peers for optimal collaboration and output, and time management while considering themes of equity, workload, and academic goals. Teachers feel intimidated and insecure due to great deal of work and time differentiation requires, staffing constraints, and lack of training concerning classroom strategies geared to the gifted learner.

Table 5

Research Questions	Corresponding Themes	Participant Quotes		
RQ1 : What are the shared lived experiences among select middle school, core academic, teachers when differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners in southern Maryland during virtual instruction?	 Differentiated Instruction Planning Professional Development 	"Gifted students really seem to thrive when given a chance to write things out instead of just answering questions. They explain and go into detail a lot which really expands their learning. Giving them a challenging problem engages them to explore and problem solve." - Clara Interview	"I haven't received any specific training in working with those students. I was never really encouraged or trained on how to approach the differentiation of virtual learning; I think modifying things like I always do in the classroom prepared me to some degree. In general, I don't feel like I've gotten much training at all focusing for the gifted, modifying things for the gifted learner. That's something that I feel like I've had to explore on my own." -Alex Interview	
SQ1 : How do the participants describe their sense of self-efficacy to differentiate instruction to meet the cognitive demands of the gifted and talented learner virtually?	 Established technology Support of a co-teacher Student engagement and relationship building Need for professional development Project-based learning Differentiated instruction 	"Teaching starts with building relationships and designing instruction to be as engaging as possible." - Keven Interview	"There is a vantage of working with another teacher and planning. So, we would meet after hours and look at the curriculum, and we would look at our student body and we would say what would this student need to access the curriculum? Do we need to build scaffolds? It's a huge advantage having another teacher" -Whitney Interview	

Research Questions and Themes

SQ2 : How do participants describe their attitudes and beliefs about differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners?	 Positive themes differentiation is already a part of teaching practices positive student experience the resiliency of the challenge for students, and its importance in the classroom. 	"Differentiation is important for all levels so that each student feels that they are working appropriately to their level of learning." -Kerri Interview	"Our problem in education is that we either only differentiate instruction for the low achieving kids or we think differentiating instruction for the high achieving kids is extra work." -Katherine Interview
	 Negative themes great deal of work and time above and beyond what is normally required Staffing constraints Lack of training. 	"When working with gifted and talented students I feel that I do them a great disservice due to my lack of training in how to teach students of high academic caliber. Much like special education, proper certification and experience is needed to hone this craft and I feel the same way about gifted and talented." -Kelly Interview	"Much like we should differentiate the work we do with struggling students, gifted students should be approached differently. Although I've had many gifted students in my time, I don't feel like I've ever purposely modified instruction in a meaningful way to best support them. I'd love to be more comfortable doing that." - Alex Interview

Summary

In summary, Chapter Four presented a textual description of the participants'

demographics. The chapter also revealed the results of the data analysis to determine the sense of efficacy of the participants in teaching and differentiating for gifted students. The themes from the data analysis were presented and include giftedness in the classroom, the challenge of teaching virtually, and attitudes and beliefs toward differentiation. There was one outlier in the data: teachers' passion for helping students. The chapter closed with the analysis of the developed themes and the research questions.

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION

Overview

In Southern Maryland the gifted and talented population accounts for 17% of the student body, however it is estimated that 15.8% children are enrolled in gifted and talented programs (National Center for Education Statistics, 2018). Nevertheless, in Southern Maryland, there is not push-in and pull-out services for these students, and they receive instruction in general education classrooms where there exists a wide range of cognitive abilities (Tomlinson, 2015, 2018). This group of learners requires differentiated strategies and modifications to be academically successful (Horak & Galluzzo, 2017; Peterson & Colangelo, 1996; Ridgley et al., 2020; Steenbergen-Hu et al., 2020), and engage in a curriculum that is consistent with their abilities to meet their pedagogical needs (Tomlinson, 2015). A high degree of diversity, wide range of skill and cognitive levels integrated into modern classrooms makes it merely impossible for educators to meet the unique needs of individual students while promoting rigor and challenge (Tomlinson, 2015; Tournaki, 2003). This issue alone has caused many gifted students to frequently receive the same instruction as their peers and spend most of the instructional time not disengaged and not learning (Rodriguez, 2016). With the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020 (Adedoyin & Soykan, 2020), the on boarding of virtual instruction increased the challenge to differentiate instruction for the gifted learner (Ridgley et al., 2020; Steenbergen-Hu et al., 2020). The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to explicate the lived experiences of core academic middle school teachers with differentiating instruction and challenging the gifted learner in rural southern Maryland. The main theory that guided this research was that of social cognitive learning theory as defined by Bandura (1986, 1997). The social cognitive learning theory (Bandura, 1986; 1997) provides an understanding concerning how teachers actively shape and

are shaped by their environment. This theory reasons the influence of self-efficacy on the production of attitudes and beliefs. This theory addresses the role of self-efficacy in learning and the role of teacher efficacy in working with gifted students as an integral part of their shared experience. A second theory that contributed to the theoretical framework was the achievement-motivation theory of McCelland (1988). The connection between achievement-motivation theory (McClelland, 1988) and instructional strategies influences the role of efficacy in planning and implementing instructional strategies. This chapter presents an interpretation of the findings, including triangulation of the data, implications for policy and practice, theoretical and methodological implications, limitations and delimitations, and recommendations for future research.

Discussion

A summary of the findings begins with a summation of the demographics of the participants. Participants ranged in age from 35 to 56, with females representing 70% of the group. The participant pool was lacking in racial diversity as all identified as White/Caucasian, and ethnic diversity. Teaching experience ranged from 10 to 25 years in the classroom, and all were currently teaching or had taught gifted and talented students. All participants held a master's degree. The focus of the study was to determine how these individuals provided answers to the central research question of "What are the shared lived experiences among select middle school, core academic, teachers when differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners in southern Maryland during virtual instruction?"

Interpretation of Findings

Findings from this qualitative research reveal that teachers need support and training to increase their efficacy teaching gifted students online. The use of digital platforms such as Apex

and Summit increase teacher efficacy because the lessons are pre-planned. This gives the online instructor the desired time necessary to implement strategies required to engage and extend learning for the gifted student. However, training on these strategies is necessary to further increase teacher efficacy. Other findings supported through this research include efficiencies from distributed staffing. The lack of a gifted and talented certified teacher on site or the support of a special education teacher decreases teacher efficacy.

Online instruction that takes place outside brick-and-mortar public schools can be an effective means for providing accelerated coursework to exceptional middle school students who are intrinsically motivated, however, remote learning may not be the best option for all gifted learners. Teachers indicated that the difference is that some learners tend to be more autonomous or self-directed and take charge of their own learning, while other students struggle with the complexity of learning online. Furthermore, Teachers indicated that students are more successful when provided opportunities to socialize and learn alongside likeability peers, and when lessons incorporate personalized learning through student-centered approaches to learning that include, choice, creativity, and collaboration (Patrick et al., 2007).

Summary of Thematic Findings

Teacher self-efficacy is linked to the amount of training and support teachers are provided. Teachers that exhibited higher self-efficacy not only had support from individuals, but from learning platforms that made lesson planning for virtual instruction easier. The teachers that exhibited a higher sense of self-efficacy implemented inquiry-based lessons through the virtual platforms that were differentiated to meet individual student needs. However, despite the level of self-efficacy, teachers believe that differentiated instruction is important.

Interpretation #1: Teacher Efficacy is Linked to Training and Support. Teachers feel that they are not equipped to meet the needs of diverse learners at the middle school level through digital platforms (Camci-Erdogan, 2015; Dixon et al., 2014; Matheis et al., 2015). The use of digital platforms such as Apex and Summit did increase teacher efficacy because lesson planning was done for them. However, several participants were successful designing their own virtual lessons using strategies such as Design-Thinking or Universal Design for Learning to implement project-based learning virtually to support the gifted learner. These teachers had a higher sense of efficacy differentiating instruction exhibited behaviors associated with effective teaching for the gifted learner (Camci-Erdogan, 2015; Dixon et al., 2014; Karademir, 2016; Matheis et al., 2015). These participants also had the support of a special educated teacher on site. With the collaboration of a special education teacher, participants indicated that having tangible instructional strategies geared to supporting all learners at varying levels were more confident in their ability to design differentiated lessons. Teachers felt that through the implementation of strategies, like project-based learning, they had a better ability to scaffold assignments and the level of questioning.

Conversely, those with lower senses of efficacy are more reluctant to engage in differentiated instructional practices due to their lack of training and support from a special education teacher (Camcı-Erdogan, 2015). Research suggests these differences among teachers' self-efficacy directly affects students' success and attitudes toward school (Camcı-Erdogan, 2015). Teachers indicated a real challenge building relationships with students through the virtual platforms to meet their pedagogical needs. Teacher self-efficacy, as well as their knowledge and attitude toward gifted students, might also influence the process of designing curricula instruction to engage these learners (Akgül, 2021). A higher self-efficacy leads to higher teaching quality, and the use of more effective or innovative methods to better meet the needs of gifted students (Matheis et al., 2015).

Interpretation #2. Educators believe that Differentiation is Necessary. Educators recognize the difficulty in providing all students with access to specific learning activities that are individualized, and struggle to challenge gifted students while scaffolding instruction for struggling students simultaneously (Taylor, 2016; Tomlinson, 2015). Teachers share a common believe that differentiation is important for all learners and provides students with opportunities to access the content and demonstrate understanding in multiple modalities. Furthermore, teachers indicted that students excel when lessons incorporate personalized learning through student-centered approaches that include, choice, creativity, and collaboration especially when provided opportunities to socialize and learn alongside peers at the same proficiency level (Patrick et al., 2007). Therefore, teachers with positive attitudes and beliefs toward differentiation are inclined to design lessons that incorporate these elements (Camci-Erdogan, 2015).

Teachers recognize the need to scaffold instruction for struggling learners, but the elements of challenge, critical thinking, student choice, and curriculum modification are difficult to incorporate into daily instructional practices (Taylor, 2016). Teachers indicted that they are not provided the time and resources necessary and feel ill-prepared to meet the diverse needs of their students. Therefore, it is important to understand that a teacher's self-efficacy in teaching gifted students is directly linked to their implicit attitudes and beliefs toward differentiation and ultimately influence their classroom interactions (Akgül, 2021). Therefore, fostering the adequate inclusion of gifted students in mixed-ability classes involves the strengthening of teachers' self-efficacy (Akgül, 2021, Camci-Erdogan, 2015).

Implications for Practice

The district is committed to the fundamental principles of equity and excellence in identifying and serving Gifted and Advanced learners. To ensure continuing education for these learners, gifted and talented liaisons are located at both sites with the purpose to provided enrichment opportunities for all students and extends learning for students who are identified as having advanced academic ability. However, this study indicated that teacher efficacy was increased with the support of a special education teacher. Within the district, special education teachers support teachers with the scaffolding of lessons for students who hold individual educational plans and are not present to support the gifted learner. The district does not have certified gifted and talented teachers present at the sites to support teachers in differentiating instruction or planning lessons with the advanced academic ability in mind.

Implications for Practice

With an increased focus on making the classroom more flexible to meet the needs of all students, especially those that are identified as gifted, teachers need to make differentiate an integral part of their instructional practices. Also, to address the different learning styles of the students, it may be beneficial for schools to incorporate certified gifted and talented teachers at the site level. Though this study did not reveal a significant difference when lessons and activities were differentiated through a virtual platform, teacher efficacy developing lessons that encompassed all learners increased with the support of a co-teacher. This was noted by the analyses of Sub-Question 1. The findings related to this question indicated an increase in the participants' self-efficacy for planning with the gifted student in mind. While there may not be an immediate increase in the students' academic performance, the increase in teacher effectiveness delivering curriculum and instruction geared towards the gifted student will benefit

all learners. It should be noted that this study was implemented in two middle schools in a district in Southern Maryland. It would benefit this district, as well as others, to incorporate the presence of a certified gifted and talented teacher at all sites since teacher efficacy planning and implanting differentiated lessons with the support of another teacher increased.

Theoretical and Empirical Implications

The two theories that guided this study were the Social Cognitive Learning Theory as defined by Bandura (1986, 1997) and Motivation theory of McClelland (1988). These theories were appropriate as they both attributed the learning experiences and interactions between the learner and the instructor while addressing the educator's efficacy in challenging gifted learners within the virtual classroom. The education of the highly able students is rooted in both cognitive and achievement paradigms.

Theoretical Discussion

Although virtual instruction has posed many challenges, an understanding of the factors that contribute to the participants efficacy to adequately differentiate the curriculum to promote critical thinking and extend student learning is important to understanding how gifted students respond to digital learning (Adelodun, 2017; Pots & Pots, 2017; Sawchuk & Sparks, 2020; Winebrenner, 2012). From the data, there appears to be a strong belief among the participants in the importance of differentiating instruction for the gifted learner. Many participants agreed that the gifted learner needs to be challenged in the classroom environment. However, teacher efficacy developing differentiated virtual lessons varied depending on teacher support and online programming. Participants were also unsure of how to plan with the gifted student in mind and then scaffold for other students virtually. Much emphasis was placed by the participants on the need to differentiate to accommodate for wide range of cognitive capabilities (Tomlinson, 2015),

but did not have the time or the training to do so. Consequently, gifted students received the same instruction, assignments, and expectations as their peers in the virtual environment (Rodriguez, 2016). Therefore, teachers felt that they did not have the support or strategies necessary to develop high-quality, differentiated instruction that meets the pedagogical needs of gifted students without neglecting the range of abilities present in the classroom (Tomlinson, 2015, 2018). Many participants shared a sense of failure as they believe their lessons are a disservice to the gifted learner. While federal law does not mandate schools to provide the necessary programs or accommodations for gifted and talented students during the school day, educators agree that they are not meeting the needs of the gifted student in the integrated classroom (Zirkel, 2009). In addition, participants agree that they have not received the training necessary to challenge gifted students while scaffolding instruction to meet the needs of struggling students simultaneously through instruction (Tomlinson, 2015). This research showed a strong correlation between self-efficacy and personal belief and attituded toward differentiation. Social Cognitive Learning Theory as defined by Bandura (1986) addresses the role of self-efficacy in learning and was the primary theory guiding the research as it addressed the role of teacher efficacy in working with gifted students as an integral part of their shared experiences.

An understanding of both the self-efficacy theory (Bandura, 1997; Barbier et al., 2019; Merriman, 2012) and the Achievement-Motivation theory (Elbeheri et al., 2018; McClelland, 1988) provided a conceptual model describing how the gifted student learns and how the environment plays a role in how they respond to instruction. Bandura's social cognitive theory promotes the link between cognition and social interaction in the learning process (Bandura, 1986;1997). While the need to include differentiation models and strategies for teaching gifted and talented students is important, the ability for students to interact and build relationships within the classroom are also fundamentally important. Participants reported the challenge of engaging students online and the ability to build relationships to tailor lessons based on the students' cognitive needs. The data from both the interviews and journal prompts showed interesting conflicts in the sense of efficacy among the participants based on student engagement and connections. Participants agree that the student must be active participants in teaching and learning process coupled with a cooperative relationship with the teacher to gain a deeper understanding of the content within the virtual platform. Again, the results indicated that teachers felt like they tried multiple methods and opportunities to remediated learning which is a part of the theoretical framework. However, there was not strong evidence of this as a practice in the study. Most teachers were still reliant on teacher-centered instructional practices during online learning.

According to McClelland's Achievement Motivation Theory student's behavior and performance based on the individual's need for achievement (Elbeheri et al., 2018; Freeman et al., 2008). Gifted and Talented students have a higher level of intrinsic motivation compared to their peers and strive for high academic achievement (Elbeheri et al., 2018). Participants reported that while the overall achievement decreased virtually, while a small population of students excelled through virtual learning. These students were gifted and intrinsically motivated. Teachers indicated that the difference is that these learners tended to be more autonomous or self-directed and took charge of their own learning. However, many participants reported a decrease in achievement and engagement due to students' struggles with the complexity of learning online. The data, in this case, did not present strong evidence that the participants were able to provide differentiated lessons and activities for gifted students. The data analysis from the interviews revealed that the participants, as a whole, expressed mostly moderate levels of efficacy to differentiate lessons for all learners. However, the journal prompts revealed more insecurity, self-doubt, and a sense failure to challenge and extend the learning for high achieving students. However, the experience of teaching virtually made a way of changes to instruction and practices on the part of the teacher in the face-to-face environment. While the participants reported shifts in their approach to learning and teaching philosophy, they did not provide examples of differentiated lesson plans, tests, or student work.

In analyzing the application of Achievement-Motivation theory and socio-cognitive theory in the experiences of the participants with the phenomenon, it is clear that while there is a strong belief among the participants in the theoretical application of these concepts, the practice is still not the norm. There continues to be a need for staff development opportunities for educators working with gifted students to improve the inequities within the quality of education for high-achieving student students.

Empirical Discussion

This study supports the notion that there is a correlation between attitude and action (Matheis et al., 2015; Sytsma, 2021). Unintentionally, a teacher's personal attitudes and believes lead to the development of their instructional practices (Sytsma, 2021). Data regarding the attitudes and beliefs of the participants toward differentiating instruction for the gifted learner was extracted through the research process. What developed were the themes of positive attitudes and negative attitudes toward differentiation. These were influenced by many factors and, therefore, in this researcher's opinion, a function, of the personal beliefs of the individuals and the institutional requirements in which they operate. Positive attitudes toward differentiation for gifted students included differentiation is already an integrate part of current instructional

practice, positive personal experience with differentiation, respect for the resiliency of the of the online environment, multiple intelligence of students, and a belief that all children can learn. Therefore, the data from this study showed that teachers who have had personal experiences differentiating instruction demonstrated more positive attitudes toward leveling instruction for all students. Negative attitudes centered around a lack of training and professional development, time constraints, staffing constraints, and the idea that differentiation requires a great deal of work above and beyond what is normally required. Most participants demonstrated either positive or negative attitudes and beliefs toward differentiation; however, some participants were contradictory. The participants all shared their experiences teaching gifted students virtually which were, for the most part, positive. However, negative experiences were rooted in student engagement and the ability to reach all students. These experiences however, shaped their current teaching practices and positive attitudes towards differentiating instruction to extend the learning experience for gifted students in their classrooms.

What is interesting is that the attitudes and beliefs of the participants seemed, at times, to contradict the sense of efficacy that teachers expressed in their journal prompts and their enthusiasm displayed toward student-centered teaching practices. This would seem to indicate that the site, while moving in the right direction toward equitable opportunities for gifted students, still needs to allow for more teacher training and support.

Limitations

As with all research, certain limitations with this study exist. In this study, the primary limitations were found in the size of the sample studied, which was 10 participants. While the sample size meets the requirements for recommended phenomenological qualitative research, 10 participants is on the low end (Creswell, 2013). Eliciting participants for this study was difficult

due to the lack of communication between the site and its employees concerning gifted enrollment. Additionally, I was an employee of the district and in a position of knowledge of the district's policies for the education of gifted and talented students, which was another limiting factor. Originally, it was hoped that the study would encompass the two northernmost sites. However, this was not a viable option due to administration shifts within the district. However, time constraints related to the completion of the research required the securing of a different school within the school district. Furthermore, the study was limited in scope and focused on only one district and two school sites.

The location of the sites could be considered a limitation since the district in Southern Maryland is a transient area and the demographics for surrounding counties change drastically. The district is an easy commute to major cities in both Virginia and Maryland, with large populations of military and government families. All these areas are extremely diverse in their demographics and are not reflective of the district studied. Perhaps the biggest limitation in the study was my inability to procure documents in the form of lesson plans reflecting the differentiation and best practices for the instruction for the gifted learner.

Delimitations

To determine the essence of the phenomenon and ensure the participants had lived experiences, I made certain delimitations. First, since I sought to elicit the shared experiences of the participants, qualitative phenomenology was chosen as the methodology and transcendental phenomenology was the specific design. As my belief that there is a singular reality, qualitative research was the most effective approach and appropriate design for this study, as the focus was to inquire individual experiences in natural settings (Creswell, 2013).
The decision to employ a phenomenological design was an appropriate decision as I sought to obtain understanding of the phenomena and describe the essence of the participants' experiences (Moustakas, 1994). Additionally, I chose a transcendental phenomenology design because it allows for the suspension of personal bias through epoché or bracketing (Creswell, 2013). I had significant experience with the phenomenon of teaching gifted students at the middle school level and at the site location and, therefore, needed to set aside my own experiences to allow the experiences of the participants to be expressed.

Further delimitations were employed in the participant selection process to ensure that participants had experience with the phenomenon. Participants were required to be at least 18 years of age, hold a valid teaching license, and had to have a minimum of one-year of virtual teaching experience. In this way, the data would reveal a wealth of experiences and allow the essence of the shared experiences to emerge.

Recommendations for Future Research

In consideration of the study findings, limitations, and the delimitations placed on the study, several recommendations are made for future research. The study would benefit from a wider scope in the form of comparing districts in Maryland and encompass other middle schools. The size of the participant group could also be increased in this way. It may also be beneficial for the researcher to not be in any way affiliated with the districts and/or schools being studied to avoid the inherent risk of personal bias in the analysis of the data. A study of more diverse districts with high gifted populations would provide further insight into this phenomenon.

The study might also yield more in the way of evidence if it were analyzed more fully from document analysis of materials supplied by participants to determine the extent to which the concept of differentiation has moved beyond the theoretical agreement and actually become practice to extend the learning for high achieving students. An in-depth study of those documents that reflect differentiated practices and student achievement may yield more in the way of practical knowledge.

While qualitative methods are the best for examining the experiences of teachers, quantitative methods may be effective in examining practices and determining the extent to which teachers are actively engaged in implementing differentiated instruction. Action research projects focused on the effectiveness of differentiated strategies and practices for gifted instruction may also be beneficial to the body of knowledge on this subject.

Conclusion

Rooted in McClelland's (1988) achievement-motivation theory and Bandura's (1986; 1997) social cognitive theory, this research sought to explore the lived experiences of middle school teachers in differentiating lessons, assignments, and assessments for gifted and talented students through virtual learning. Through an analysis of the data provided by the semistructured recorded interviews, individual journal prompts and document analysis, several findings were revealed. Participants initially revealed in the interviews a moderate sense of efficacy in differentiating instruction for the gifted learner, however, was revealed to be contradictory through triangulation of the data. The use of effective instructional strategies and the integration of advanced curricula through differentitaion, fosters gifted and talented students' ability to develop content depth and complexity (Callahan et al., 2015). The results of this study suggest teachers have a high efficacy for differentiation instruction also have positive attitudes and beliefs for leveling instruction for all learners. Student-centered instructional strategies, provide an effective means for differentiating through virtual platforms. Through studentcentered learning, students become self-sufficient, creative thinkers and people who appreciate and value the subject being taught (Yancy, 2012). By keeping students at the center of the lessons, a teacher can engage and motivate students to deepen their conceptual knowledge of the content (Yancy, 2012). Therefore, when the curriculum and instruction are differentiated to meet the needs of gifted students, student engagement increases during virtual learning (Riley et al., 2017).

Overall, the data revealed that teachers were eager to support and relate to students through synchronous learning. However, there also emerged themes of stress and insecurity in relation to the teacher's ability to effectively differentiate instruction through virtual platforms with the purpose of extending the learning for gifted and talented students. Most participants reflected a desire to learn strategies and techniques to challenge the gifted learner.

In relation to the theoretical framework of the study most participants were advocates of using interactive strategies in their instructional methods to increase student engagement online. They felt that strategies like problem-based learning were beneficial to all students but did not necessarily extend the learning for the gifted learner. A few participants were not as comfortable with the use of differentiation as they felt they were not properly trained, provided strategies or supported to implement leveled lessons. There was a strong emphasis on the relationship between engagement, achievement, and retention of information of students through virtual learning. What the data did show that participants who implemented differentiated learning strategies within virtual platforms did have students that fully participated in the learning environment and excelled through online learning.

Teacher attitudes and beliefs regarding the instruction for high achieving students was positive and overall teachers believed that there was a need to differentiate instruction for all learners. Negative attitudes emerged in relation to the challenges that teaching students online decreased student engagement and motivation to learn. These negative attitudes were not explicit and were aimed at the amount of time, training, and support that was available for the increased amount of work needed to plan and implement appropriately differentiated lessons.

Effective strategies for the instruction of gifted students were present in the data, particularly those with a foundation in achievement-motivation and socio-cognitive learning theories (Callahan et al., 2015). Participants were mostly in favor of providing social contexts for learning, scaffolding of instruction, and experiential learning experiences, yet did not relate how those were adapted for the gifted learner.

In conducting this research, I realized the extent to which classroom teachers empathize with their students and desire to effectively reach all students. The passion expressed by the participants allowed me to understand that, for the participants in this study, the experience of working with students through virtual learning was both rewarding and frustrating. Participants in this study want to teach, and, for most participants, a lack of understanding of how to challenge the gifted learner which seemed to create a barrier to their ability to effectively extend the learning for these students. Institutional limitations beyond their control were also frustrating factors in their sense of efficacy. The knowledge that I have gained from conducting this research will be shared with the Coordinator of Advanced Learning and Instruction in the hopes that further training and professional development for teachers around strategies and practices for the instruction of gifted and talented students can be implemented. Additionally, insight for understanding of the need to provide adequate time to collaborate with specialists and plan for the needs of high ability students can be provided to teachers.

I have enjoyed this study immensely, and it has reinforced my perspective on the experiences of the middle school teacher working with gifted and talented students through

virtual learning. These teachers are truly dedicated and committed to reaching each student they educate. They are, however, insecure and frustrated by their own limitations and the limitations that are set by the district. It is my hope that this research will provide support to the body of knowledge to encourage policymakers and administration to understand the level of further support that teachers require to support and excel the gifted student in the public school system. It is my hope that districts will begin to move away from the traditional teacher-centered approach to learning and instruction, and towards a more student-centered approach of learning where students must be actively involved in the construction of knowledge (Liu et al., 2009). When students are allowed to take ownership of their learning, they become more engaged in their learning environment.

References

ACT. (2008). The forgotten middle: Ensuring that all students are on target for college and career readiness before high school. PsycEXTRA Dataset.

https://doi.org/10.1037/e506552010-001

Abakumova, I., Bakaeva, I., Grishina, A., & Dyakova, E. (2019). Active learning technologies in distance education of gifted students. *International Journal of Cognitive Research in Science, Engineering and Education,* 7(1), 85-94.

http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.5937/ijcrsee1901085A

- Adams, C. M., & Cross, T. L. (1999–2000). Distance learning opportunities for academically gifted students. Journal of Secondary Gifted Education, 11, 88–96
- Adedoyin, O. B., & Soykan, E. (2020). COVID-19 pandemic and online learning: The challenges and opportunities. Interactive Learning Environments, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2020.1813180
- Adelodun, G. A. (2017). Home environment and social media as correlates of academic underachievement of high ability secondary schools students in Oyo Metropolis. Ife Psychologia, 25(2), 21-31.
- Akgül, G. (2021). Teachers' metaphors and views about gifted students and their education.
 Gifted Education International, 37(3), 273–289.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0261429421988927
- Almukhambetova, A., & Hernández-Torrano, D. (2020). Gifted students' adjustment and underachievement in university: An exploration from the self-determination theory perspective. The Gifted Child Quarterly, 64(2), 117-131. doi:10.1177/0016986220905525

- American Psychological Association. (2020, May 18). COVID-19 virtual learning and education: Social and emotional learning. https://www.apa.org. https://www.apa.org/topics/covid-19/education-social-emotional
- Astin, A. (1984). Student involvement: A developmental theory for higher education. *Journal of college student personnel 12,* 297-308.

Atkinson, M. (2016). Ethnography (pp. 71-83). Routledge.

Bandura, A. (1986). The explanatory and predictive scope of self-efficacy theory. *Journal of social and clinical psychology*, 4(3), 359-373.

Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. Macmillan.

Barbier, K., Donche, V., & Verschueren, K. (2019). Academic (Under)achievement of intellectually gifted students in the transition between primary and secondary education: An individual learner perspective. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02533

Barbier, K., Struyf, E., & Donche, V. (2022). Teachers' beliefs about and educational practices with high-ability students. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2021.103566</u>Bennett-Rappell, H., & Northcote, M. (2016). Underachieving gifted students: Two case studies. *Issues in Educational Research*, 26(3), 407-430.

- Best, J., & Winslow, E. (2015). Educational equity: Challenges for educator effectiveness. Retrieved from files.eric.gov/fulltext/ED557602.pdf
- Bickman, L., & Rog, D. J. (2009). The Sage handbook of applied social research methods (2nd ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.

- Blackburn, B. R. (2018). Rigor and differentiation in the classroom: Tools and strategies. Routledge.
- Bloom, B. S., Engelhart, M. D., Furst, E. J., Hill, W. H., and Krathwohl, D. R. (1956).Taxonomy of Educational Objectives: The Classification of Educational Goals.Handbook I: Cognitive Domain. New York, NY: David McKay Company.
- Brualdi Timmins, A. C. (1996). Multiple intelligences: Gardner's theory. Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation, 5(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.7275/7251-ea02</u>
- Cakir, L. (2014). "The relationship between underachievement of gifted students and their attitudes toward school environment," in Erpa International Congress on Education, Vol. 152, ed. S. Besoluk, (Amsterdam: Elsevier Science Bv), 1034–1038. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.09.269
- Callahan, C. M., Moon, T. R., Oh, S., Azano, A. P., & Hailey, E. P. (2015). What works in gifted education. *American Educational Research Journal*, 52(1), 137-

167. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831214549448</u>

- Camci-Erdogan, S. (2015). Investigating pre-service gifted education teachers' self-efficacy toward science teaching and scientific attitudes. Eurasian Journal of Educational Research, 59, 133-148 http://dx.doi.org/10.14689/ejer.2015.59.8
- Cao, T. H., Jung, J. Y., & Lee, J. (2017). Assessment in gifted education: A review of the literature from 2005 to 2016. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 28(3), 163-203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202x17714572</u>
- Carman, C. A. (2013). Comparing Apples and Oranges: Fifteen Years of Definitions of Giftedness in Research: The Journal of Secondary Gifted Education. *Journal of Advanced Academics, 24*(1), 52-70.

http://ezproxy.liberty.edu/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.proquest.com%2Fscholarl y-journals%2Fcomparing-apples-oranges-fifteen-

years%2Fdocview%2F1432297899%2Fse-2%3Faccountid%3D12085

- Cassell, C. (2015). Conducting research interviews for business and management students. SAGE.
- Cavanagh, S. (2009, January 7). Preparation for College; The Forgotten Middle: Ensuring that All Students Are on Target for College and Career Readiness before High School. *Education Week*, 28(16), 5. https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A192306163/BIC?u=vic_liberty&sid=BIC&xid=5858524

4

- Chaffey, G. W. (2004). Low self-efficacy: An important talent mask for 'at risk' gifted children? QAGTC, 24(2), 9-14.
- Chase, S. (2005). Narrative inquiry. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (3 ed., pp. 651-680). Sage.
- Chasteen, S. (2017). How can I assess the level of student engagement in my class? Retrieved from https://www.physport.org/recommendations/Entry.cfm?ID=101222
- Chen, H., & Tseng, H. (2012). Factors that influence acceptance of web-based E-learning systems for the in-service education of junior high school teachers in Taiwan. Evaluation and Program Planning, 35(3), 398-406.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2011.11.007

Cohen, D., & Crabtree, B. (2006). Qualitative research guidelines project. https://sswm.info/sites/default/files/reference_attachments/COHEN%202006%20Semistr uctured%20Interview.pdf.

- Colaizzi, P. (1978) Psychological research as the phenomenologist views it. In Vale RS, King M (Eds) Existential-Phenomenological Alternatives for Psychology. Oxford University Press, New York NY.
- Collinson, V., & Cook, T. F. (2001). "I don't have enough time" Teachers' interpretations of time as a key to learning and school change. Journal of Educational Administration, 39(3), 266-281. https://doi.org/10.1108/09578230110392884Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2016). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. SAGE Publications.
- Cooper, C. R., Baum, S. M., & Neu, T. W. (2004). Developing Scientific Talent in Students
 With Special Needs: An Alternative Model for Identification, Curriculum, and
 Assessment: JSGE. The Journal of Secondary Gifted Education, 15(4), 162-169.
 http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.4219/jsge-2004-456
- Creswell, J. W. (2015). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research* (5th ed.). Lincoln, NE: Pearson Education.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (3rd ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Guetterman, T. C. (2019). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (6th ed.). Person.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Danielson, C. (2007). Enhancing professional practice: A framework for teaching. ASCD.
- Davis, A., & Forbes, L. (2016). Doing the impossible: Motivating middle school students. *Voices from the Middle, 23*, 14-18.

Dawson, M., & McGill, M. (2017). Measuring Student Engagement with eProve surveys. Retrieved from <u>https://www.advanc-ed.org/source/measuring-student-engagement-eprove-surveys</u>

- DeMonbrun, M., Finelli, C. J., Prince, M., Borrego, M., Shekhar, P., Henderson, C., & Waters, C.
 (2017). Creating an instrument to measure student response to instructional
 practices. *Journal of Engineering Education*, *106*(2), 273-298. doi:10.1002/jee.20162
- Dixon, F. A., Yssel, N., McConnell, J. M., & Hardin, T. (2014). Differentiated instruction, professional development, and teacher efficacy. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 37(2), 111–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0162353214529042</u>
- Eagly, A., & Chaiken, S. (1993). *The psychology of attitudes*. Harcourt brace Jovanovich college publishers.
- Eddles-Hirsch, K., Vialle, W., Rogers, K. B., & McCormick, J. (2010). "Just challenge those high-ability learners and they'll be all right!". The impact of social context and challenging instruction on the affective development of high-ability students. Journal of Advanced Academics, 22(1), 106-128. https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202x1002200105
- Elbeheri, G., Reid, G., Everatt, J. (2018). Motivating Children with Specific Learning Difficulties. London: Routledge, <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.4324/9781315559087

Emerick, L. J. (1992). Academic underachievement among the gifted: Students' perceptions of factors that reverse the pattern. Gifted Child Quarterly, 36(3), 140-146. https://doi.org/10.1177/001698629203600304

- English, A. R. (2019). John Dewey and the role of the teacher in a globalized world: Imagination, empathy, and 'third voice'. John Dewey's Democracy and Education in an Era of Globalization, 70-88. doi:10.4324/9781351112116-5
- Eriksson, G. (2012). In Wallace B., Eriksson G. (Eds.), Virtually there transforming gifted education through new technologies, trends and practices in learning, international communication and global education. London, England: SAGE Publications. doi:10.1177/0261429411424381
- Erlandson, D., Harris, E., Skipper, B., & Allen, S. (1993). Doing naturalistic inquiry: A guide to methods. Sage.
- Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA). (2015). Retrieved from https://www.ed.gov/essa?src=rn/
- Farrell, E. (2020). Researching lived experience in education: Misunderstood or missed opportunity? International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 19, 160940692094206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920942066</u>
- Fredricks, J. A., Blumenfeld, P. C., & Paris, A. H. (2004). School engagement: Potential of the concept, state of the evidence. *Review of Educational Research*, 74(1), 59-109. doi:10.3102/00346543074001059
- Freedberg, S., Bondie, R., Zusho, A., & Allison, C. (2019). Challenging students with high abilities in inclusive math and science classrooms. High Ability Studies, 30(1-2), 237-254. https://doi.org/10.1080/13598139.2019.1568185
- Freeman, K., Alston, S., & Winborne, D. (2008). Do learning communities enhance the 119 quality of students' learning and motivation in STEM? Journal of Negro Education, 77(3), 227-240.

Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/fusch1.pdf

- Fu-Yun, Y., Wan-Shan, W., & Huang, H. (2018). Promoting Middle School Students' Learning Motivation and Academic Emotions via Student-Created Feedback for Online Student-Created Multiple-Choice Questions. The Asia - Pacific Education Researcher, 27(5), 395-408. http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1007/s40299-018-0398-xGallagher, S. A., & Gallagher, J. J. (2013). Using Problem-based Learning to Explore Unseen Academic Potential. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Problem-Based Learning*, 7(1). doi:10.7771/1541-5015.1322
- Gagné, F. (1985). Giftedness and talent: reexamining a reexamination of the definitions. Gift. Child Q. 29, 103–112. doi: 10.1177/001698628502900302
- Gagné, F. (1992). On the differentiated nature of giftedness. Keynote address at Guiding the Gifted National Conference: Proceedings of the Guiding the Gifted Conference, Auckland.
- Gagné, F. (2020). Differentiating giftedness from talent: The DMGT perspective on talent development. Routledge.
- Gangwar, S. (2017). Effectiveness of project-based learning (constructivist learning approach) on students' achievement in science at secondary level. Educational Quest, 8, 737-741. doi:10.5958/2230-7311.2017.00129.5
- Gardner, H. (1983). Frames of Mind. New York: Basic Books Inc.
- Gardner, H. (1991). The unschooled mind: how children think and how schools should teach. New York: Basic Books Inc. Gardner, H., & Hatch, T. (1989). Multiple intelligences go

to school: Educational implications of the theory of multiple intelligences. Educational Researcher, 18(8), 4-9.

- Gardner, H. E. (2000). *Intelligence reframed: Multiple intelligences for the 21st century*. Basic Books.
- Gay, G. (2010). *Culturally responsive teaching: Theory, research, and practice*. Teachers College Press.
- Geertz, C. (2008). *Thick description: Toward an interpretive theory of culture* (pp. 41-51). Routledge.
- Gehlbach, H., & Roeser, R. (2002). The middle way to motivating middle school students: Avoiding false dichotomies. *Middle School Journal*, 33, 39-46.
- Galitis, I. (2007). The right tool for the job? Use of the multiple intelligences and Bloom's taxonomy grid. *Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, *16*(1), 12-18. <u>https://search-informit-com-</u>

au.ezproxy.liberty.edu/documentSummary;dn=797149496925682;res=IELHS

- Gall, M. D., Gall, J. P., & Borg, W. R. (2007). *Educational research: An introduction*. Allyn & Bacon.
- Godor, B. P. (2019). Gifted metaphors: Exploring the metaphors of teachers in gifted education and their impact on teaching the gifted. *Roeper Review*, 41(1), 51-60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02783193.2018.1553219</u>

Gubbels, J., Segers, E., & Verhoeven, L. (2018). How children's intellectual profiles relate to their cognitive, socio-emotional, and academic functioning. *High Ability Studies*, 29(2), 149-168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13598139.2018.1507902</u>

- Gucciardi, D. F., Weixian, J. C., Gibson, W., Ntoumanis, N., & Ng, L. (2020). Motivational climate in the classroom: Factorial and convergent validity evidence of the Need-Supportive Behaviors Scale with health science students. European Journal of Psychological Assessment, 36(2), 324–335. https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759/a000524
- Gutek, G. L. (2011). *Historical and philosophical foundations of education: A biographical introduction* (5th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Han, S., Capraro, R., & Capraro, M. M. (2014). How science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (stem) project-based learning (pbl) affects high, middle, and low achievers differently: The impact of student factors on achievement. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 13(5), 1089-1113. doi:10.1007/s10763-014-9526-0
- Haley, M. H. (2001). Understanding learner-centered instruction from the perspective of multiple intelligences. *Foreign Language Annals*, 34(4), 355-367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1944-</u> 9720.2001.tb02068.x
- Helding, L. (2009). Howard Gardner's theory of multiple intelligences. Journal of Singing, 66(2), 193-199.
- Hernández-Torrano, D., Ferrándiz, C., Ferrando, M., Prieto, L., & Fernández, M. C. (2014). The theory of multiple intelligences in the identification of high-ability students. *Anales de Psicología*, 30(1), 192-200. <u>https://doi.org/10.6018/analesps.30.1.148271</u>
- Heyder, A., Bergold, S., & Steinmayr, R. (2018). Teachers' knowledge about intellectual giftedness: A first look at levels and correlates. *Psychology Learning & Teaching*, *17*(1), 27-44. doi:10.1177/1475725717725493
- Hmelo-Silver, C. (2004). Problem-based learning: What and how do students learn? *Educational Psychology Review, 6*(3), 235-266.

Hodges, J., Tay, J., Maeda, Y., & Gentry, M. (2018). A meta-analysis of gifted and talented identification practices. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 62(2), 147-174. https://doi.org/10.1177/0016986217752107

Horak, A. K., & Galluzzo, G. R. (2017). Gifted middle school students' achievement and perceptions of science classroom quality during problem-based learning. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 28(1), 28-

50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202x16683424</u> Kanevsky, L. (2011). Deferential differentiation. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 55(4), 279-

299. https://doi.org/10.1177/0016986211422098

- Howard, J. (2002). Technology-enhanced project-based learning in teacher education: Addressing the goals of transfer. Journal of Technology and Teacher Education, 10(3), 343-364
- Howley, A., Rhodes, M., & Beall, J. (2009). Challenges Facing Rural Schools: Implications for Gifted Students. Journal for the Education of the Gifted, 32(4), 515–536. https://doi.org/10.1177/016235320903200404
- *Immigration Act of 1917 (Barred zone act)*. (2020, February 1). Immigration History. https://immigrationhistory.org/item/1917-barred-zone-act/
- Janak, E. (2019). A brief history of schooling in the United States: From pre-colonial times to the present. Springer.
- Jolly, J. L. (2018). A new psychology. A History Of American Gifted Education, 15-21. doi:10.4324/9781315684451-4

Jolly, J. L., & Robins, J. H. (2022). The Marland report: A defining moment in gifted education. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 45(1), 3-

3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/01623532211064366</u>

- Kanevsky, L. (2011). Deferential differentiation: What types of differentiation do students want? The Gifted Child Quarterly, 55(4), 279.
- Karademir, E. (2016). Investigation the scientific creativity of gifted students through projectbased activities. *International Journal of Research in Education and Science (IJRES)*, 2(2), 416-427.
- Karantzas, M. (2019). Gifted and talented students will succeed anyway, won't they? Agora (Melbourne, Vic.), 54(2), 49-52.
- Kidman, G. (2019, April 30). Explainer: what is inquiry-based learning and how does it help prepare children for the real world? Retrieved from https://theconversation.com/explainer-what-is-inquiry-based-learning-and-how-does-ithelp-prepare-children-for-the-real-world-115299
- Klassen, R. M., & Tze, V. M. (2014). Teachers' self-efficacy, personality, and teaching effectiveness: A meta-analysis. *Educational Research Review*, 12, 59-76. doi:10.1016/j.edurev.2014.06.001
- Kornhaber, M., & Gardner, H. (1993, March). Varieties of excellence: identifying and assessing children's talents. A series on authentic assessment and accountability. New York:
 Columbia University, Teachers College, National Center for Restructuring Education, Schools, and Teaching. (ED 363 396)

- Learning Focused. (2021, February 25). Instructional framework 101: What it is & why every school needs one. Retrieved from https://learningfocused.com/instructional-framework-101/
- Leavitt, M & Geake, J. (2009). Giftedness Perceptions and Practices of Teachers in Lithuania. Gifted and Talented International. 24, 139-148. 10.1080/15332276.2009.11673536.

Library of Congress. (n.d.). U.S. history primary source timeline. The Library of Congress. <u>https://www.loc.gov/classroom-materials/united-states-history-primary-source-timeline/rise-of-industrial-america-1876-1900/immigration-to-united-states-1851-1900/</u>

Licht, M. (2014). Controlled chaos: Project-based learning. *The Education Digest, 80*(2), 49-51. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.liberty.edu/login?url=https://search-proquestcom.ezproxy.liberty.edu/docview/1586076749?accountid=12085

Lincoln, Y., & Guba, E. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage.

- Liu, M., Horton, L., Olmanson, J., & Toprac, P. (2011). A study of learning and motivation in a new media enriched environment for middle school science. *Educational Technology Research and Development, 59*(2), 249-265. Retrieved September 20, 2020, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/41414937
- Liu, W., Wang, C., Tan, O., Ee, J., & Koh, C. (2009). Understanding students' motivation in project work: A 2 X 2 achievement goal approach. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 79(1), 87-106.
- Ludicke, P., Muir, T., & Swabey, K. (2019). Identifying and supporting young adolescent academic underachievers in year 7 and 8 classrooms. *Issues in Educational Research*, *29*(2), 458-

484. <u>http://ezproxy.liberty.edu/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.proquest.com%2Fdo</u> cview%2F2393069840%3Faccountid%3D12085

Lynch, M. (2018, September 24). Understanding the 4 main schools of philosophy: Principle of pragmatism. Retrieved from https://www.theedadvocate.org/understanding-4-main-schools-philosophy-principle-pragmatism/

Lynch, S. D., Hunt, J. H., & Lewis, K. E. (2018). Productive Struggle for All: Differentiated Instruction. *Mathematics Teaching in the Middle School*, 23(4), 194–201. <u>https://doi.org/10.5951/mathteacmiddscho.23.4.0194</u>

- Macfarlane, K., & Woolfson, L. M. (2013). Teacher Attitudes and Behavior toward the Inclusion of Children with Social, Emotional and Behavioral Difficulties in Mainstream Schools:
 An Application of the Theory of Planned Behavior. Teaching & Teacher Education, 29, 46-52.
- Manuel, D., & Freiman, V. (2017). Differentiating instruction using a virtual environment: A study of mathematical problem posing among gifted and talented learners. Global Education Review, 4(1), 78-98.
- Marsh, L. (2010). The meaning of constructivism. Tradition and Discovery, 28, 23-34.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2015). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Sage.
- Martin, A. (2015). Motivating the gifted and talented: Lessons from research and practice. *Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, 24(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.21505/ajge.2015.0016</u>

Maryland State Department of Education. (2019). *Title 13A state board of education*. Retrieved from http://marylandpublicschools.org/programs/Documents/Gifted-Talented/COMAR 13A0407 GT Education.pdf

- Maryland State Department of Education. (2020). Gifted & talented program. Retrieved from https://marylandpublicschools.org/programs/pages/gifted-talented/index.aspx
- Maryland State Department of Education, & Maryland Advisory Council on Gifted and Talented Education. (2020, October 30). Criteria for Excellence: Gifted & Talented Education. https://gtdiscover.org/maryland/

Maslow, A. (1954). The instinctoid nature of basic needs. Journal of personality.

Maxwell J. (2012). Qualitative research design: An interactive approach. Sage publications.

McBee, M. T., & Makel, M. C. (2019). The quantitative implications of definitions of giftedness. AERA Open, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858419831007

McClelland, D. C. (1988). Human motivation. Cambridge University Press.

McCoach, D. B., & Siegle, D. (2003). Factors that differentiate underachieving gifted students from high-achieving gifted students. Gift. Child Q. 47, 144–154. doi:

10.1177/001698620304700205

- McIntire, J. (2017). Developing local policies to guide and support gifted programs and services.
 In R. D. Eckert & J. H. Robins (Eds.). Designing services and programs for high-ability learners. Corwin. Merriman, L. (2012). Developing academic self-efficacy: Strategies to support gifted elementary school students [Unpublished master's thesis]. Dominican University of California.
- Merriam, S. (2002). Introduction to qualitative research. *Qualitative research in practice: Examples for discussion and analysis*, *1*(1), 1-17.
- Merritt, E. G. (2016). Time for teacher learning, planning critical for school reform. Phi Delta Kappan, 98(4), 31-36. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031721716681774

Miles, M., & Huberman, A. (1994). Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook. sage.

- Mikropoulos, T. A., & Natsis, A. (2011). Educational virtual environments: A ten-year review of empirical research (1999–2009). *Computers & Education*, 56(3), 769-780. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2010.10.020</u>
- Moberg, S., Muta, E., Korenaga, K., Kuorelahti, M., & Savolainen, H. (2020). Struggling for inclusive education in Japan and Finland: teachers' attitudes towards inclusive education. European Journal of Special Needs Education, 35(1), 100-114.
- Mofield, E. L., & Parker Peters, M. (2018). Mindset misconception? Comparing mindsets, perfectionism, and attitudes of achievement in gifted, advanced, and typical students.
 Gifted Child Quarterly, 62(4), 327-349. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0016986218758440</u>
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Sage.
- Mulrine, C. F. (2007). Creating a virtual learning environment for gifted and talented learners. Gifted Child Today, 30(2), 37-40. https://doi.org/10.4219/gct-2007-30
- Nagpal, R. (2018). Exploring attitudes of teachers' towards inclusive education in relation to their professional attributes. International Journal of Research in Social Sciences, 8(4), 836-852.
- National Association for Gifted Children (NAGC). (2010). Pre-K-Grade 12 standards. Retrieved from http://www.nagc.org/index.aspx?id=546

National Association for Gifted Children. (2020). *What is giftedness?* <u>https://www.nagc.org/resources-publications/resources/what-giftedness</u>No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, 20 U.S.C. § 6319 (2008).

National Center for Education Statistics. (2018, June). Percentage of public school students enrolled in gifted and talented programs, by sex, race/ethnicity, and state: Selected years, 2004 through 2013-14. National Center for Education Statistics (NCES), a part of the U.S. Department of Education.

https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d17/tables/dt17_204.90.asp

Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. Perspectives on Medical Education, 8(2), 90-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2</u>

No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, P.L. 107-110, 20 U.S.C. § 6319 (2002).

- O'Leary, E. S., Shapiro, C., Toma, S., Sayson, H. W., Levis-Fitzgerald, M., Johnson, T., & Sork, V. L. (2020). Creating inclusive classrooms by engaging STEM faculty in culturally responsive teaching workshops. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 7(1). doi:10.1186/s40594-020-00230-7
- Ogurlu, U. (2020). Are gifted students perfectionistic? A meta-analysis. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 43(3), 227-251. doi:10.1177/0162353220933006
- Olthouse, J. M. (2013). Improving rural teachers' attitudes towards acceleration. Gifted Education International, 31(2), 154-161. https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177/0261429413507177
- Page, A. (2006). Three models for understanding gifted education. Kairaranga, 7(2), 11-15.
- Parkay, F., Anctil, E., & Hass, G. (2014). *Curriculum leadership: Readings for developing quality educational programs* (Tenth ed.). New York: Pearson.
- Patrick, H., Ryan, A., & Kaplan, A. (2007). Early adolescents' perceptions of the classroom social environment, motivational beliefs, and engagement. Journal of Educational Psychology, 99(1), 83-98.
- Patton, M. (2014). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods: Integrating theory and practice*. Sage Publications.

- Patton, W., & McMahon, M. (2014). Career development and systems theory: Connecting theory and practice (3rd ed.). Sense Publishers. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6209-635-6</u>
- Peterson, J. S., & Colangelo, N. (1996). Gifted achievers and underachievers: A comparison of patterns found in school files. Journal of Counseling & Development, 74, 399-406.
- Piekarska, J. (2020). Determinants of perceived stress in adolescence: The role of personality traits, emotional abilities, trait emotional intelligence, self-efficacy, and self-esteem.
 Advances in Cognitive Psychology, 16(4), 309-320. https://doi.org/10.5709/acp-0305-z
- Pili, G. (2019). Toward a philosophical definition of intelligence. The International Journal of Intelligence, Security, and Public Affairs, 21(2), 162-190.

https://doi.org/10.1080/23800992.2019.1649113

- Polkinghorne, D. (1995). Narrative configuration in qualitative analysis. In J. A. Hatch & R. Wisniewski (Eds.), *Life history and narrative* (pp. 5-23). Falmer.
- Potts, J. A. (2019). Profoundly gifted students' perceptions of virtual classrooms. The Gifted Child Quarterly, 63(1), 58-80. doi:10.1177/0016986218801075
- Potts, J. A., & Potts, S. (2017). Is your gifted child ready for online learning? Gifted Child Today, 40(4), 226-231. https://doi.org/10.1177/1076217517722182
- Purcell, J. H., Burns, D. E., Tomlinson, C. A., Imbeau, M. B., & Martin, J. L. (2002). Bridging the gap: A tool and technique to analyze and evaluate gifted education curricular units. Gifted Child Quarterly, 46, 306–321. doi:10.1177/001698620204600407

Race to the top. (n.d.). The White House.

https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/issues/education/k-12/race-to-the-top

- Reis, S. M., & Renzulli, J. S. (2009). Myth 1: The gifted and talented constitute one single homogeneous group and giftedness is a way of being that stays in the person over time and experiences. The Gifted Child Quarterly, 53(4), 233-235.
- Renzulli, J. S. (1978). What makes giftedness?: Re-examining a definition. Phi Delta Kappan, 60(3), 180-184, 261.
- Renzulli, J. S. (1986). The three ring conception of giftedness: A developmental model for creative productivity. In R. J. Sternberg & J. E. Davidson (Eds.), Conceptions of giftedness (pp. 53-92). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Renzulli, J. S. (1997). The total talent portfolio: Looking at the best in every student. Gifted Education International, 12(2), 59-63.
- Renzulli, J. S. (2005). Applying gifted education pedagogy to total talent development for all students. Theory Into Practice, 44(2), 80-89.
- Renzulli, J. S. (2012). Reexamining the role of gifted education and talent development for the 21st century: A four-part theoretical approach. The Gifted Child Quarterly, 56(3), 150.
- Renzulli, J. S., & Reis, S. M. (1994). Research related to the schoolwide enrichment model. Gifted Child Quarterly, 38(1), 7-20.
- Renzulli, J. S., & Reis, S. M. (2012). A virtual learning application of the schoolwide enrichment model and high-end learning theory. Gifted Education International, 28(1), 19-40. doi: 10.1177/0261429411424382
- Richmond, G., Bartell, T., Cho, C., Gallagher, A., He, Y., Petchauer, E., & Curiel, L. C. (2020).Home/School: Research imperatives, learning settings, and the COVID-19 pandemic.Journal of Teacher Education, 71(5), 503-504.

Ridgley, L. M., DaVia Rubenstein, L., & Callan, G. L. (2020). Gifted underachievement within a self-regulated learning framework: Proposing a task-dependent model to guide early identification and intervention. Psychology in the Schools, 57(9), 1365-1384.
doi:10.1002/pits.22408

Rigor definition. (2014, December 29). https://www.edglossary.org/rigor/

- Riley, T., Webber, M., & Sylva, K. (2017). Real engagement in active problem solving for Maori boys: A case study in a New Zealand secondary school. Gifted and Talented International, 32(2), 75-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15332276.2018.1522240</u>
- Rossman, G., & Rallis, S. (2016). *An introduction to qualitative research: Learning in the field.* Sage.
- Ritchotte, J. A., Matthews, M. S., & Flowers, C. P. (2014). The validity of the achievementorientation model for gifted middle school students. Gifted Child Quarterly, 58(3), 183-198. https://doi.org/10.1177/0016986214534890
- Rodriguez, C. (2016). *Student behavioral engagement of fifth-grade gifted students in a general education class* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from <u>http://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/etd</u>
- Runesson Kempe, U. (2019). Teachers and researchers in collaboration. A possibility to overcome the research-practice gap? European Journal of Education, 54(2), 250-260. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12336
- Sawchuk, S., & Sparks, S. D. (2020, December 2). Kids Are Behind in Math Because of COVID-19. Here's What Research Says Could Help. *Education Week*, 40(15),
 3. https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A644695968/BIC?u=vic_liberty&sid=BIC&xid=14334 357

Schroth, S. T. (2007). Teacher beliefs regarding gifted and talented students survey. *PsycTESTS Dataset*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/t14668-000</u>

Schwandt, T. A. (2015). The SAGE dictionary of qualitative inquiry. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.

- Sepulveda-Escobar, P., & Morrison, A. (2020). Online teaching placement during the COVID-19 pandemic in Chile: Challenges and opportunities. European Journal of Teacher Education, 43(4), 587-607. https://doi.org/10.1080/02619768.2020.1820981
- Silverman, L. K., & Gilman, B. J. (2020). Best practices in gifted identification and assessment: Lessons from the WISC-V. Psychology in the Schools, 57(10), 1569-1581. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22361
- Shore, B. M., & Delcourt, M. A. B. (1996). Effective curricular and program practices in gifted education and the interface with general education. Journal for the Education of the Gifted, 20(2), 138-154.
- Smedsrud, J. (2018). Mathematically gifted accelerated students participating in an ability Group: A qualitative interview study. *Frontiers in*

Psychology, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01359</u>

Smutny, J. (2002). Underserved gifted population. Cresskill, NJ: Hampton Press.

Srinivasan, L. E. (2021, May 10). What changes to the U.S. education system are needed to support long-term success for all Americans? Carnegie Corporation of New York. <u>https://www.carnegie.org/our-work/article/what-changes-us-education-system-areneeded-support-long-term-success-all-americans/</u>

Steenbergen-Hu, S., Olszewski-Kubilius, P., & Calvert, E. (2020). The effectiveness of current interventions to reverse the underachievement of gifted students: Findings of a meta-

analysis and systematic review. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 64(2), 132-165.

doi:10.1177/0016986220908601

- Sternberg, R. J., & Davidson, J. E. (2005). Conceptions of giftedness. Cambridge University Press.
- Sternberg, R., Jarvin, L., & Grigorenko, E. (2010). Explorations in Giftedness. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/CBO9780511778049
- Stolz, S. A. (2020). Phenomenology and phenomenography in educational research: A critique. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 52(10), 1077-1096.doi:10.1080/00131857.2020.1724088
- Strati, A. D., Schmidt, J. A., & Maier, K. S. (2017). Perceived challenge, teacher support, and teacher obstruction as predictors of student engagement. Journal of Educational Psychology, 109(1), 131-147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000108</u>
- Sweetman, D. S. (2021). Making virtual learning engaging and interactive. Faseb Bioadvances, 3(1), 11-19. doi:10.1096/fba.2020-00084
- Szymanski, Toni and Shaff, Thomas (2013) "Teacher Perspectives Regarding Gifted Diverse Students," Gifted Children: 6 (1). http://docs.lib.purdue.edu/giftedchildren/vol6/iss1/1
- Tackett, D. (2006, January 1). What's a Christian Worldview? Retrieved from https://www.focusonthefamily.com/faith/whats-a-christian-worldview/
- Taylor, T. (2016). Gifted Students: Perceptions and Practices of Regular Class Teachers. Retrieved from <u>https://ro.ecu.edu.au/theses/1933</u>
- Thomas, E., & Magilvy, J. K. (2011). Qualitative rigor or research validity in qualitative research. *Journal for specialists in pediatric nursing : JSPN*, 16(2), 151–155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00283.x</u>

- Tomlinson, C. A. (2015). Teaching for excellence in academically diverse classrooms. Society, 52(3), 203-209. <u>http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1007/s12115-015-9888-0</u>
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2018). Complex Instruction: A Model for Reaching Up—and Out. Gifted Child Today, 41(1), 7–12. https://doi.org/10.1177/1076217517735355

Tomlinson, C. A., Brighton, C., Hertberg, H., Callahan, C. M., Moon, T. R., Brimijoin, K., & Reynolds, T. (2003). Differentiating instruction in response to student readiness, interest, and learning profile in academically diverse classrooms: A review of literature. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 27(2-3), 119-145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/016235320302700203</u>

- Tournaki, N. (2003). Effect of student characteristics on teachers' predictions of student success. *Journal of Educational Research*, *96*(5), 310-319.
- United States. Office of Education. (1966). Profile of ESEA: The Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 (PL 89-10).
- US Department of Education. (2019). Individualized education plan (IEP). Retrieved from http://idea.ed.gov/explore/view/p/%2Croot%2Cdynamic%2CTopicalArea%2C1%2C
- van Manen, M. (2016). *Phenomenology of practice: Meaning-giving methods in phenomenological research and writing*. Routledge.
- VanTassel-Baska, J. (2018). American Policy in Gifted Education. Gifted Child Today, 41(2), 98–103. https://doi.org/10.1177/1076217517753020
- VanTassel-Baska, J., Hubbard, G. F., & Robbins, J. I. (2021). Differentiation of instruction for gifted learners: Collated evaluative studies of teacher classroom practices. Handbook of Giftedness and Talent Development in the Asia-Pacific, 945-979. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-3041-4 45

- Velichová, Ľ., Orbánová, D., & Kúbeková, A. (2020). The COVID-19 pandemic: Unique opportunity to develop online learning. TEM Journal, 9(4), 1633-1639. https://doi.org/10.18421/tem94-40
- Vesely, P., Bloom, L., & Sherlock, J. (2007). Key elements of building online community:
 Comparing faculty and student perceptions. Journal for Online Learning and Teaching,
 3(3). <u>https://jolt.merlot.org/vol3no3/vesely.htm</u>
- Winebrenner, S. (2012). *Teaching gifted kids in today's classroom: Strategies and techniques* every teacher can use (Revised & updated) (3rd ed.). Free Spirit Publishing.

Wolter, D. (2016). The opportunity gap in literacy. Educational Leadership, 74(30-33).

- Wrights Law. (2015). *Gifted and talented* | *The Wrightslaw way*. Wrightslaw Special Education Law and Advocacy. <u>https://www.wrightslaw.com/blog/tag/gifted-and-talented/</u>
- Yaluma, C. B., & Tyner, A. (2020). Are U.S. schools closing the "Gifted gap"? analyzing elementary and middle schools' gifted participation and representation trends (2012–2016). Journal of Advanced Academics, 32(1), 28-53. doi:10.1177/1932202X20937633
- Yancy, Y. G. (2012). The effects of project-based learning activities on intrinsic motivation and skill acquisition of rural middle school math students (Order No. 3514801). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1021723749). Retrieved from http://ezproxy.liberty.edu/login?url=https://search-proquestcom.ezproxy.liberty.edu/docview/1021723749?accountid=12085
- You, S., Dang, M., & Lim, S. A. (2016). Effects of student perceptions of teachers' motivational behavior on reading, English, and mathematics achievement: The mediating role of domain specific self-efficacy and intrinsic motivation. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 45(2), 221-240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-015-9326-x</u>

Young, J. L., Young, J. R., & Ford, D. Y. (2019). Culturally relevant STEM out-of-school time: A rationale to support gifted girls of color. *Roeper Review*, 41(1), 8-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02783193.2018.1553215</u>

Zirkel, P. A. (2009, May). Its the law. Retrieved from

https://www.naesp.org/sites/default/files/resources/2/Principal/2009/M-J_p57.pdf

Appendix A

IRB Approval

LIBERTY UNIVERSITY.

November 16, 2022

Amanda Price Grania Holman

Re: IRB Exemption - IRB-FY22-23-90 CHALLENGING THE GIFTED LEARNER VIRTUALLY: A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY

Dear Amanda Price, Grania Holman,

The Liberty University Institutional Review Board (IRB) has reviewed your application in accordance with the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) and Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations and finds your study to be exempt from further IRB review. This means you may begin your research with the data safeguarding methods mentioned in your approved application, and no further IRB oversight is required.

Your study falls under the following exemption category, which identifies specific situations in which human participants research is exempt from the policy set forth in 45 CFR 46:104(d):

Category 2.(iii). Research that only includes interactions involving educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures, or observation of public behavior (including visual or a uditory recording) if at least one of the following criteria is met: The information obtained is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects can readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects, and an IRB conducts a limited IRB review to make the determination required by §46.111(a)(7).

Your stamped consent form(s) and final versions of your study documents can be found under the Attachments tab within the Submission Details section of your study on Cayuse IRB. Your stamped consent form(s) should be copied and used to gain the consent of your research participants. If you plan to provide your consent information electronically, the contents of the attached consent document(s) should be made available without alteration.

Please note that this exemption only applies to your current research application, and any modifications to your protocol must be reported to the Liberty University IRB for verification of continued exemption status. You may report these changes by completing a modification submission through your Cayuse IRB account.

If you have any questions about this exemption or need assistance in determining whether possible modifications to your protocol would change your exemption status, please email us at inb@liberty.edu.

Sincerely, G. Michele Baker, MA, CIP Administrative Chair of Institutional Research Research Ethics Office

Appendix B

District and Site Approval

September 13, 2022

Dear Ms. Price,

This is a formal letter indicating that your request for research has been approved with the following stipulations:

- All information, requests, and coordination of the project should be directed to me, Director of Information Technology.
- Any changes to your research design must be communicated to me for review and consideration of approval.
- No information that is collected from you or other staff should be identifiable in nature.
- Results of the study must be kept confidential.
- When requesting participation from staff members, it must be clear that the study is voluntary.
- A summary of your results will be sent to me and Coordinator of Advanced Learning, upon completion of your research.

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me.

Sincerely,

Permission Response

January 11, 2023

Dear Mrs. Price:

After careful review of your research proposal entitled Challenging the gifted learner virtually: A phenomenological study, I have decided to grant you permission to contact our faculty and invite them to participate in your study.

Check the following boxes, as applicable:

I will provide our membership list to Amanda Price, and Amanda Price may use the list to contact potential participants to invite them to participate in her research study.

I grant permission for Amanda Price to contact potential participants to invite them to participate in her research study.

I will not provide potential participant information to Amanda Price, but we agree to provide her study information to potential participants on her behalf.

Sincefely,

January 11, 2023

Dear Mrs. Price:

After careful review of your research proposal entitled Challenging the gifted learner virtually: A phenomenological study, I have decided to grant you permission to contact our faculty and invite them to participate in your study.

Check the following boxes, as applicable:

I will provide our membership list to Amanda Price, and Amanda Price may use the list to contact potential participants to invite them to participate in her research study.

grant permission for Amanda Price to contact potential participants to invite them to participate in her research study.

J will not provide potential participant information to Amanda Price, but we agree to provide her study information to potential participants on her behalf.

Sincerely.

Appendix C

Permission Request Letter



Liberty University

School of Education

Qualitative Study Permission Request

November 20, 2022

Dear Principal,

As a graduate student in the School of Education at Liberty University, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a doctoral degree. The title of my research project is Challenging the gifted learner virtually: A phenomenological study. The purpose of my research is to explicate the lived experiences of core academic middle school teachers with differentiating instruction and challenging the gifted learner in rural southern Maryland.

I am writing to request your permission to conduct my research at your school. Additionally, I would like to contact members of staff at your school to invite them to participate in my research study. The data will be used to describe themes related to the shared experiences among teachers that include both positive and negative experiences differentiating instruction and challenging the gifted learner virtually. The results of this study may inform the body of knowledge regarding the education of gifted learners and address acceleration practices to improve challenging this population in the classroom and achieve academic success. Participants will be asked to complete an online screening to see if they qualify to participate in this study prior to being presented with informed consent information. Taking part in this study is completely voluntary, and participants are welcome to discontinue participation at any time.

Thank you for considering my request. If you choose to grant permission, please provide a signed statement on official letterhead indicating your approval. A permission letter document is attached for your convenience.

Sincerely,

Amanda J. Price

Doctor of Philosophy in Education Candidate
Appendix D

Informed Consent

CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH

CHALLENGING THE GIFTED LEARNER VIRTUALLY: *A Phenomenological Study* What are the shared lived experiences among select middle school, core academic, teachers when differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners in southern Maryland during virtual instruction?

Principal Investigator: Amanda J. Price, Doctor of Philosophy in Education Candidate, Liberty University

Invitation to be Part of a Research Study

You are invited to participate in a research study. To participate, you must have at least one year of experience teaching gifted students in virtual classrooms on the middle school level. Taking part in this research project is voluntary.

Please take time to read this entire form and ask questions before deciding whether to take part in this research.

What is the study about and why is it being done?

The purpose of the study is to explicate teachers' lived experiences challenging gifted and talented middle school students while providing instruction virtually in rural southern Maryland schools. This study will include both positive and negative experiences differentiating instruction and challenging the gifted learner through virtual instruction. The results of this study may inform the body of knowledge regarding the education of gifted learners and address acceleration practices to improve challenging this population in the classroom and achieving academic success.

What will happen if you take part in this study?

If you agree to be in this study, I will ask you to do the following things:

- 1. Participate in a semi-structured interview: The interviews will last between 30 to 60 minutes and will take place via Teams at the participants' convenience. Interviews will be recorded for transcription and analysis purposes only.
- 2. Participate in journal prompts: **Electronic** journal prompts will be used as a complement to the interview process. Participants will receive an email with questions to answer on their own time and return to the researcher for analysis. Journal prompts will take between 15 and 45 minutes of the participant's time.
- 3. Provide documents including but not limited to lesson plans, professional development notes, and professional collaborative planning notes. These documents can provide insight into how teachers were reaching and teaching students through online education. The time to locate these documents may vary per participant. Collecting and sending documents to the researcher should not take more than 30 minutes of the participant's time.

How could you or others benefit from this study?

Participants should not expect to receive a direct benefit from taking part in this study; however, participants may gain a more in-depth understanding of the phenomenon of perceived academic challenges among gifted and talented students through their participation. Your participation, however, will be of considerable benefit for educational purposes, and benefits to the educational field include adding to the body of knowledge of how to challenge gifted and talented students in the classroom.

What risks might you experience from being in this study?

This study is not intended to provoke any physical or emotional discomfort. The risks involved in this study are minimal, which means they are equal to the risks you would encounter in everyday life. However, you may choose to share sensitive and confidential information during the interview. All efforts will be made to ensure confidentiality.

How will personal information be protected?

Any information that is obtained in connection with this study and that can be identified with you will remain confidential and will be disclosed only with your permission or as required by law. Confidentiality will be maintained by using a pseudonym instead of your name when transcribing the interview. The records of this study will be kept private. Published reports will not include any information that will make it possible to identify a subject. Research records will be stored securely, and only the researcher will have access to the records. Data collected from you may be shared for use in future research studies or with other researchers. If data collected from you is shared, any information that could identify you, if applicable, will be removed before the data is shared. Additionally:

- Interviews will be conducted via teams where others will not easily overhear the conversation and the names of participants will remain confidential
- Data will be stored on a password-locked computer and may be used in future presentations. After three years, all electronic records will be deleted.
- Interviews will be recorded and transcribed. Recordings will be stored on a passwordlocked computer for three years and then erased. Only the researcher will have access to these recordings.

How will you be compensated for being part of the study?

Participants will not be compensated for participating in this study.

Is study participation voluntary?

Participation in this study is voluntary. Your decision concerning participation will not affect your current or future relations with Liberty University or Public School District. If you decide to participate, you are free to not answer any question or withdraw at any time without affecting those relationships.

What should you do if you decide to withdraw from the study?

If you choose to withdraw from the study, please contact the researcher at the email address/phone number included in the next paragraph. Should you choose to withdraw, data collected from you will be destroyed immediately and will not be included in this study.

Whom do you contact if you have questions or concerns about the study?

The researcher conducting this study is Amanda J. Price. You may ask any questions you have now. If you have questions later, **you are encouraged** to contact her. You may also contact the researcher's faculty sponsor, Dr. Grania Holman.

Whom do you contact if you have questions about your rights as a research participant?

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study and would like to talk to someone other than the researcher, **you are encouraged** to contact the Institutional Review Board, 1971 University Blvd., Green Hall Ste. 2845, Lynchburg, VA 24515.

Disclaimer: The Institutional Review Board (IRB) is tasked with ensuring that human subjects research will be conducted in an ethical manner as defined and required by federal regulations. The topics covered and viewpoints expressed or alluded to by student and faculty researchers are those of the researchers and do not necessarily reflect the official policies or positions of Liberty University.

Your Consent

By signing this document, you are agreeing to be in this study. Make sure you understand what the study is about before you sign. You will be given a copy of this document for your records. The researcher will keep a copy with the study records. If you have any questions about the study after you sign this document, you can contact the study team using the information provided above.

I have read and understood the above information. I have asked questions and have received answers. I consent to participate in the study.

The researcher has my permission to video-record me as part of my participation in this study.

Printed Subject Name

Signature & Date

Appendix E

Recruitment Email

Dear Recipient:

As a graduate student in the School of Education at Liberty University, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a doctoral degree. The purpose of my research is to explicate the shared experiences of teaching gifted and talented students virtually, and I am writing to invite eligible participants to join my study.

Participants must have at least one year of experience teaching gifted students in virtual classrooms on the middle school level. Participants, if willing, will be asked to participate in an interview (30 to 60 minutes), submit responses to questions digitally (15 to 45 minutes) and submit any documents that would be significant to the study (no more than 30 minutes). Participation will be completely confidential, and while names and other identifying information may be requested as part of this study, personal, identifying information will be kept private.

To participate, please click here <u>https://forms.office.com/r/aJLsTta43z</u> and complete the survey. After the completion of the survey, I will reach out to eligible individuals to schedule an interview at their convenience. Please contact me for more information

Sincerely,

Amanda J. Price Doctor of Philosophy in Education Candidate, Liberty University

Appendix F

Screening Survey

CHALLENGING THE GIFTED LEARNER VIRTUALLY

A Phenomenological Study: Do gifted students feel challenged and motivated when the curriculum and instruction is differentiated through virtual instruction?

Principal Investigator: Amanda J. Price, Doctor of Philosophy in Education Candidate, Liberty University

* Required* Please provide your given first and last name.
* Please provide your email.
Do you have at least 1 year of experience teaching gifted students virtually? *
Did you teach virtually during the 2020 pandemic? *
No
Have you taught online advanced courses for gifted students? *
What current grade level do you teach? *
7 th
8 th
□ None of the
Above

5. What subject(s) did you teach virtually? *

English	
Math	
Science	
Social studies	
Foreign Languages	
Other	

- 6. During virtual learning, for which school were you teaching? *
 - O Site 1 Middle School
 - Site 2 Middle School
 - Virtual Academy
 - Other

7. How long have you been a certified teacher? *

- 1 to 3 years
- 3 to 10 years
- 10 to 20 years
- 20 plus years
- I am not certified/I do not have a teaching certificate

Appendix G

Figures and Tables

Table 1: Site Demographics

Site Data							
Site Name	Student Poputlation	Employment	Student teacher ratio	Number of Identified Gifted Students (2021)	Number of Identified Gifted Students (2022)	Percent of the Student Population	
Site 1	672	37	18.2	107	149	16.00%	
Site 2	622	38	16.4	84	136	13.50%	

	Demographics/Site								
Site Name	American Indian/Alaska Native	Asian	Black	Hispanic	Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander	White	Two or MoreRaces	Free/reduced Lunch	
Site 1	1	15	62	26	2	510	56	72	
Site 2	0	14	48	38	-	457	64	72	

Table 2: Participant Demographics

Age	Gender	Race/Ethnicity	Education	Years of Experience	Years Working with Gifted Student	Currently Working with Gifted Students
36-45	Female	White	Bachelors, Master	10 to 15	3	Yes
46-55	Female	White	Bachelors, Master	20 to 25	22	Yes
46-55	Female	White	Bachelors, Masters	20 to 25	21	Yes
46-55	Male	White	Bachelors, Masters	15 to 20	16	Yes
46-55	Male	White	Bachelors, Masters, Educational Specialist	20 to 25	21	No
46-55	Female	White	Bachelors, Masters	30 to 35	32	Yes
46-55	Female	White	Bachelors, Masters	20 to 25	20	Yes
36-45	Female	White	Bachelors, Masters	10 to 15	15	Yes
46-55	Female	White	Bachelors, Masters	15 to 20	20	Yes
36-45	Male	White	Bachelors, Masters	15 to 20	18	Yes

Table 3: Open-Ended Interview Questions

- 1. Please introduce yourself to me, as if we just met one another.
- 2. Please tell me about your classroom role and experience.
- 3. Please describe the cognitive levels in your classroom.
- 4. How would you describe your experiences teaching synchronous lessons online?
- 5. Explain your lesson planning process for the online experience?
- 6. Describe your experiences, during on-line instruction, and how would you ensure all your students were reached in a lesson?
- 7. How would you compare student achievement during this experience to that of a face-to-face environment?
- 8. Describe a time through virtual instruction in which a student is not reaching their full potential and your reactions to this scenario?
- 9. How would you describe a low-performing gifted student in your classroom?
- 10. Describe how you would challenge learners, especially gifted students, in the virtual environment.

- 11. Explain how you make the virtual classroom experience more/less challenging for the gifted learner?
- 12. We have covered a lot of ground in our conversation, and I so appreciate the time you've given to this. I have one final question. What else do you think would be important for me to know about your experiences?

Table 4: Open-Ended Journal Prompt Questions

- 1. Describe the methods of instruction you received as a student growing up.
- 2. Describe your philosophy of teaching. In what ways have those experiences impacted your instructional practices?
- 3. Describe your primary method for instruction in your content classroom. (Examples if needed: guided learning, lecture note-taking, independent research, collaboration, learning centers).
- 4. Describe the instructional practices you use in working with your gifted students.
- 5. Describe any informative experiences you have had working with gifted and talented students.
- Describe your level of confidence in planning instruction and assessment for gifted and talented students.
- Describe your attitudes or beliefs about differentiating instruction for gifted and talented students.
- Describe your overall experiences providing opportunities for students to work in groups or with partners.
- 9. Going forward, what further training for working with gifted and talented students you would like to receive?

10. Describe anything else about your experiences working with gifted and talented that you haven't already shared, and you would like to.

Teacher Participant	Years Taught	Highest Degree Earned	Content Area	Grade Level
Katherine	10	Masters	English	6th
Whitney	22	Masters	Special Education-All Content Areas	8th
Kelly	23	Masters	Science	8th
John	16	Masters	Physical Education	6th - 8th
Kevin	21	Educational Specialist	Social Studies	8th
Lydia	23	Masters	Social Studies	7 th -8th
Kerri	20	Masters	Foreign Language	7th - 8th
Clara	15	Masters	Science	8th
Lorelai	15	Masters	Math	6th
Alex	18	Masters	Science	8th

Table 5: Participants Teaching Experience

Table 6: Theme Development

Document name	Approach to Teaching	Giftedness in the Classroom	Challenge of Engagement	Attitudes towards Differentiation	Challenge of Teaching Virtually	Online Teaching Experience	Number of codes
Alex interview	1	1	1	1	1	1	6
Lorelai Individual Interview	0	1	0	1	1	1	4
Lydia Interview	0	0	1	1	1	1	4
Kerri Interview	0	1	1	0	1	1	4
Tony Interview	0	1	1	1	1	1	5
Katherine Interview	0	1	1	1	1	1	5
Whitney Interview	0	1	1	1	1	1	5
Kevin Interview	0	1	1	1	1	1	5
Kelly Interview	0	1	1	1	1	1	5
Clara Interview	0	0	1	1	0	1	3

 Table 7: Research Questions and Themes

Research Questions	Corresponding Themes	Participant Quotes			
RQ1 : What are the shared lived experiences among select middle school, core academic, teachers when differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners in southern Maryland during virtual instruction?	 Differentiated Instruction Planning Professional Development 	"Gifted students really seem to thrive when given a chance to write things out instead of just answering questions. They explain and go into detail a lot which really expands their learning. Giving them a challenging problem engages them to explore and problem solve." - Clara Interview	"I haven't received any specific training in working with those students. I was never really encouraged or trained on how to approach the differentiation of virtual learning; I think modifying things like I always do in the classroom prepared me to some degree. In general, I don't feel like I've gotten much training at all focusing for the gifted learner. That's something that I feel like I've had to explore on my own." -Alex Interview		
SQ1 : How do the participants describe their sense of self-efficacy to differentiate instruction to meet the cognitive demands of the gifted and talented learner virtually?	 Established technology Support of a co-teacher Student engagement and relationship building Need for professional development Project-based learning Differentiated instruction 	"Teaching starts with building relationships and designing instruction to be as engaging as possible." - Keven Interview	"There is a vantage of working with another teacher and planning. So, we would meet after hours and look at the curriculum, and we would look at our student body and we would say what would this student need to access the curriculum? Do we need to build scaffolds? It's a huge advantage having another teacher" -Whitney Interview		
SQ2 : How do participants describe their attitudes and beliefs about differentiating instruction and challenging gifted learners?	 Positive themes differentiation is already a part of teaching practices positive student experience the resiliency of the challenge for students, and its importance in the classroom. 	"Differentiation is important for all levels so that each student feels that they are working appropriately to their level of learning." -Kerri Interview	"Our problem in education is that we either only differentiate instruction for the low achieving kids or we think differentiating instruction for the high achieving kids is extra work." -Katherine Interview		
	 Negative themes great deal of work and time above and beyond what is normally required Staffing constraints Lack of training. 	"When working with gifted and talented students I feel that I do them a great disservice due to my lack of training in how to teach students of high academic caliber. Much like special education, proper certification and experience is needed to hone this craft and I feel the same way about gifted and talented." -Kelly Interview	"Much like we should differentiate the work we do with struggling students, gifted students should be approached differently. Although I've had many gifted students in my time, I don't feel like I've ever purposely modified instruction in a meaningful way to best support them. I'd love to be more comfortable doing that." - Alex Interview		

Figure 1: Code Configurations



Code Configurations

Figure 2: Code Percentages







Figure 4: Code Co-occurrence Model

Code Co-occurrence Model (Code Intersection)





